

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS



WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS



WHO guidelines for the pharmacological and radiotherapeutic management of cancer pain in adults and adolescents

ISBN 978-92-4-155039-0

© World Health Organization 2018

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. WHO guidelines for the pharmacological and radiotherapeutic management of cancer pain in adults and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design and layout: designisgood.info

Printed in Switzerland

CONTENTS

AC	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS
AE	BREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS
ЕX	ECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Introduction G Aims of the guidelines G Scope of the guidelines G Guidelines process and decision-making 10
RE	ECOMMENDATIONS 12
	INTRODUCTION 14
2.	
3.	SCOPE OF THE GUIDELINES 18
	METHODS USED IN THE GUIDELINES
	CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT - GUIDING PRINCIPLES
	5.1. The goal of optimum management of pain is to reduce pain to levels which allow an acceptable quality of life
	5.2. Global assessment of the person should guide treatment, recognizing that individuals experience and express pain differently.
	5.3. Safety of patients, carers, health-care providers, communities and society must be assured.
	5.4. A pain management plan includes pharmacological treatments and may include psychosocial and spiritual care. 22
	5.5. Analgesics, including opioids, must be accessible: both available and affordable. 22
	5.6. Administration of analgesic medicine should be given "by mouth", "by the clock", "for the individual" and with "attention to detail"
	5.7. Cancer pain management should be integrated as part of cancer care
6.	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN
	ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS 25
	6.1. Initiation of pain relief
	6.2. Maintenance of pain relief
	6.2.1. Choice of opioid
	6.2.2. Treatment of breakthrough pain 32 6.2.3. Switching or rotating opioid medicines 32
	6.2.4. Choosing between immediate-release morphine and slow-release morphine 33
	6.2.5. Route of administration of opioids
	6.3. Cessation of opioid use
	6.4. Adjuvant medicines for cancer pain management 37
	6.4.1. Steroids

6.4.2. Antidepressants	39
6.4.3. Anticonvulsants	40
6.5. Management of bone pain	41
6.5.1. Bisphosphonates	41
6.5.2. Monoclonal antibodies	44 45
6.5.3. Comparison of bisphosphonates or monoclonal antibodies 6.5.4. Single-fraction radiotherapy compared with high-fractionated radiotherapy	45 46
6.5.5. Radioisotopes for bone pain	48
7. RESEARCH AGENDA	50
Interests declared by persons involved in guideline development	51
Funding sources	51
REFERENCES	52
ANNEX 1: EVALUATION OF PAIN	70
 Brief pain inventory Critical Care Pain Observation Tool 	71 74
3. Pain Assessment in Advanced Dementia	74
4. Integrated Palliative Outcomes Scale	75
References	79
ANNEX 2: SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND GUIDELINE METHODS	81
1. Evidence retrieval and appraisal: methods	81
Search strategy	81
Assessment of study quality and methods of review synthesis	81
2. Evidence to recommendations: methods	84
Group processes used for consensus and disagreement resolution	84
Assessment of the direction and quality of evidence	84
Methods for assessment of values and preferences, acceptability, feasibility and	0.5
equity How resources were considered	85 85
Discussion of recommendation strength and evidence quality	85
References	86
ANNEX 3: SYSTEMATIC REVIEW EVIDENCE PROFILES AND	
EVIDENCE-TO-DECISION TABLES	89
ANNEX 4: BACKGROUND TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF	
THE GUIDELINES AND DETAILS OF PERSONNEL	90
PICO Questions answered by systematic review	90
Peer review	91
Review and plan for updating these guidelines	91
Plans for dissemination and impact evaluation	92
Derivative products	92
Implementation, adaptation and evaluation	93
Contributors to this publication	93
Systematic review team	93
Network meta-analysis team	94
GRADE methodologist	94

External observers	
WHO Guideline Steering Group	94
Characteristics and declarations of interests of the Guideline Development Group	
Characteristics and declarations of interests of the External Review Group	
How competing interests were managed	104
ANNEX 5: OPIOID ANALGESICS AND INTERNATIONAL	
CONVENTIONS	105
United Nations drug conventions and their governance system	105
The Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs and opioid analgesics	
Drug misuse versus patient need	
Competent national authorities under the international drug control treaties	108
The Convention's requirements for national estimates of medical need for	400
opioids	
The importance of reliable estimates	
Domestic manufacture of strong opioid analgesics	
The import/export system for strong opioids	
Requirements for import/export authorizations or certificates	112
The reporting system following exportation, importation and consumption of opioids	113
Distribution of strong opioids	
Usual requirements for prescribing and dispensing opioids	
World Health Assembly Resolution 67.19 (2014) on Strengthening of	110
palliative care as a component of comprehensive care throughout the life course	114
References	115
	115
ANNEX 6: PHARMACOLOGICAL PROFILES AND OPIOID	447
CONVERSION TABLES	
I. Pharmacological profiles	
1. Acetylsalicylic acid	
2. Codeine phosphate	
3. Fentanyl	
4. Hydromorphone	
5. lbuprofen	
6. Methadone	
7. Morphine	
8. Naloxone	
9. Oxycodone	
10. Paracetamol	
II. Typical starting doses	
III. Opioid conversion tables	
IV. Opioid cessation	
References	136
ANNEX 7: NETWORK META-ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE COMPARING	
ANALGESICS FOR CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT INITIATION &	
MAINTENANCE AND FOR BREAKTHROUGH CANCER PAIN	137
ANNEX 8: GLOSSARY	138

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These guidelines were prepared by the WHO Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention; the Department of Essential Medicines and Health Products; the Department of Service Delivery and Safety; the Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse; and the Eastern Mediterranean Regional Office, Department of Noncommunicable Disease Management. These departments were represented on the WHO Steering Group for the Medical Management of Cancer Pain in Adults and Adolescents Guidelines.

Responsible technical officer: Dr Cherian Varghese

WHO Steering Group members: Marie-Charlotte Bouesseau, Nicolas Clark, Andre Ilbawi, Taskeen Khan, Nicola Magrini and Slim Slama.

The WHO Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention would like to thank the members of the Guideline Development Group (GDG) for the commitment, enthusiasm and expertise that they contributed.

GDG members: Gauhar Afshan, Zipporah Ali, Chioma Asuzu, Eduardo Bruera, Jim Cleary¹, Malcolm Dobbin, Kathy Foley, Harmala Gupta, Eric Krakauer², Philip Larkin, Diederik Lohman, Sebastien Moine, Hibah Osman, Lukas Radbruch, MR Rajagopal, Paul Sebastian, Nandi Siegfried, Catherine Stannard, Jane Turner, Verna Vanderpuye, Verna Walker-Edwards.

The Department is grateful for the contributions of the guideline External Review Group for peer reviewing the guidelines.

ERG members: Samy Alsirafy, Roger Chou, Michel Daher, Beena Devi, Julia Downing, Andy Gray, Parmanand Jain, Brian Kelly, Emmanuel Luyirika, Geoff Mitchell, Anil Paleri, Tania Pastrana, Nguyen Thi Phuong Cham, Maggie Watson.

Special appreciation and gratitude are extended to Dr Nandi Siegfried, the guideline methodologist and GDG meetings' co-chair, the Systematic Review team from Brown University, led by Dr Ethan Balk, and the Network Meta-Analysis team from University of Bern, led by Dr Georgia Salanti, and Dr Eduardo Bruera, the co-chair of the GDG meetings. All went the extra mile to ensure the high quality and timeliness of the reviews and guidelines.

¹ Jim Cleary, representing the University of Wisconsin-Madison Pain and Policies Studies Group was an observer at the first scoping meeting. He was then appointed to the GDG as a member.

² Eric Krakauer first joined the guideline development process as a member of the WHO Steering Committee, and following his departure from WHO joined the GDG as a member.

Systematic Review team members: Ethan M Balk (Lead), Gaelen P Adam, Mengyang Di, Hannah J Kimmel, Matthew Olean, Jessica K Roydhouse, Bryant Smith, Andrew R Zullo.

Network Meta-analysis team members: Georgia Salanti (Lead), Orestis Efthimiou, Adriani Nikolakopoulou.

The WHO Guidelines Review Committee Secretariat led by Dr Susan L Norris supported the GDG throughout the guideline development process.

Joel Tarel, Angela Baffoe and Sophie Schmitt provided administrative support and designisgood.info for the design and layout of the document.

These guidelines were produced under the leadership of Dr Etienne Krug, Director, WHO Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention. The responsible technical officers for these guidelines were Dr Belinda Loring until 2016 July and Dr Cherian Varghese, with additional coordination and writing by Mr Lee Sharkey, Dr Eric Krakauer and Dr Taskeen Khan.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AFR	African Region	min	minute(s)	
AMR	Region of the Americas	mL	millilitre	
BPI	Brief Pain Inventory	NCD	noncommunicable disease	
CND	Commission on Narcotic Drugs	NGO	nongovernmental organization	
CPOT	Critical Pain Observation	NMA	network meta-analysis	
	Tool	NSAID	non-steroidal anti-	
CR	controlled release		inflammatory drug	
DOI	Declaration of Interests	NSAIM	non-steroidal anti-	
ECG	electrocardiograph		inflammatory medicine	
EMR	Eastern Mediterranean Region	PACSLAC	Pain Assessment Checklist for Seniors with Limited Ability to Communicate	
ER	extended-release	PAINAID	Pain Assessment in	
ERG	External Review Group		Advanced Dementia	
g	gram	PICO	population, intervention,	
GDG	Guideline Development		comparator and outcome	
	Group	PO	by mouth	
055		FO	by mouth	
GFR	glomerular filtration rate	PR	per rectum	
GFR GRADE	Grading of		,	
	8	PR	per rectum	
	Grading of Recommendations	PR p.r.n.	per rectum as needed	
	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development	PR p.r.n. q1h	per rectum as needed every hour	
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours	
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s)	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours	
GRADE h/hr HR	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours	
GRADE h/hr HR	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours	
GRADE h/hr HR INCB INN	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational Nonproprietary Name	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h RCT	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours randomized controlled trial	
GRADE h/hr HR INCB	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h RCT RR	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours randomized controlled trial relative risk	
GRADE h/hr HR INCB INN IPOS	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational Nonproprietary Name Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h RCT RR SC	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours randomized controlled trial relative risk subcutaneous	
GRADE h/hr HR INCB INN	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational Nonproprietary Name Integrated Palliative care	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h RCT RR SC SEAR	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours randomized controlled trial relative risk subcutaneous South-East Asia Region	
GRADE h/hr HR INCB INN IPOS kg L	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational Nonproprietary Name Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale kilogram litre	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h RCT RR SC SEAR SRE	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours randomized controlled trial relative risk subcutaneous South-East Asia Region skeletal-related event	
GRADE h/hr HR INCB INN IPOS kg	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation hour(s) hazard ratio International Narcotics Control Board linternational Nonproprietary Name Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale kilogram	PR p.r.n. q1h q4h q6h q8h q12h RCT RR SC SEAR SRE TD	per rectum as needed every hour every 4 hours every 6 hours every 8 hours every 12 hours randomized controlled trial relative risk subcutaneous South-East Asia Region skeletal-related event transdermal	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

Cancers are among the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide, responsible for 18.1 million new cases and 9.6 million deaths in 2018, significantly increasing the burden on patients, families, communities and the health system (1). Pain is experienced by 55% of patients undergoing anti-cancer treatment and by 66% of patients who have advanced, metastatic, or terminal disease (2).

The goal of cancer pain management is to relieve pain to a level that allows for an acceptable quality of life. The World Health Organization (WHO) *Guidelines for the pharmacologic and radiotherapeutic management of cancer pain in adults and adolescents* are intended to provide evidence-based guidance to health-care providers on appropriate approaches to initiating and managing cancer pain in adolescents and adults, including older persons. The guidelines can act as the basis for national guidelines and for the inclusion of cancer pain management and care in primary health care programmes, using a person-centred and integrated approach.

AIMS OF THE GUIDELINES

The aims of these guidelines are:

To provide management guidance to health-care providers (i.e. the end-users of these guidelines: physicians, nurses, pharmacists and caregivers) on the adequate relief of pain associated with cancer or its treatment in adults and adolescents.

To assist policy-makers, programme managers and public health personnel to create and facilitate appropriately balanced policies on opioids and prescribing regulations for effective and safe cancer pain management.

SCOPE OF THE GUIDELINES

The scope of these guidelines includes medical and radiotherapeutic management of cancer pain. Anaesthetic, psychological, social, spiritual, physiotherapeutic and surgical modes of cancer pain management are integral to comprehensive cancer pain management, and are discussed in this document, but are outside the scope of these guidelines.

The clinical guidelines and recommendations in this document are organized into three focal areas:

- Analgesia of cancer pain: This addresses the choice of analgesic medicine when initiating pain relief and the choice of opioid for maintenance of pain relief, including optimization of rescue medication, route of administration, and opioid rotation and cessation.
- Adjuvant medicines for cancer pain: This includes the use of steroids, antidepressants and anticonvulsants as adjuvant medicines.
- Management of pain related to bone metastases: This incorporates the use of bisphosphonates and radiotherapy to manage bone metastases.

Following publication of the guidelines, a series of subsidiary products will be developed that will address service delivery aspects of implementation, including World Health Organization (WHO) guidance on cancer pain assessment.

GUIDELINES PROCESS AND DECISION-MAKING

The process followed in the development of these guidelines is outlined in the WHO *Handbook for guideline development* and involved: 1) recruitment of the Guideline Development Group (GDG), 2) Declaration of Interests (DOI) by GDG members and peer reviewers, 3) identification, appraisal and synthesis of available evidence, 4) formulation of recommendations with inputs from a wide range of stakeholders, and 5) preparation of documents and plans for dissemination.

The GDG is an international group of experts representing the various WHO regions. A series of systematic reviews was conducted across multiple databases for each critical question and GRADE evidence profiles were prepared.

The recommendations were formulated by the GDG, and WHO provided technical and administrative support. The quality of the supporting evidence was graded as high, moderate, low and very low using GRADE methodology. The GDG considered the relevance of the recommendations for patients with cancer pain, taking account of the balance of benefit and harm of each intervention, the values and preferences of patients, costs and resource use, and other relevant practical issues for health-care providers in low- and middle-income countries.

Recommendations were made for individual interventions, but the GDG recognizes that these interventions are best implemented as part of an integrated care plan which includes comprehensive pain assessment prior to initiating pain relief and ongoing monitoring of pain with adjustments made to dosage and choice of medicine as necessary.

RECOMMENDATIONS

ANALGESIA FOR CANCER PAIN **INITIATION OF** Recommendation **PAIN RELIEF** In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to cancer, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), paracetamol, and opioids should be used at the stage of initiation of pain management, either alone or in combination, depending on clinical assessment and pain severity in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control. (Strong recommendation; low-quality evidence) Remarks Patients should be started on an analgesic with a strength appropriate to their assessed pain severity. Mild analgesics (paracetamol, NSAIDs) should not be given alone for initiation of management of moderate or severe pain. Patients may be started on a combination of paracetamol and/or NSAIDs with an opioid, such as oral morphine, if indicated by pain severity as measured on a validated numeric or visual analogue pain rating scale. **MAINTENANCE OF** Recommendation **PAIN RELIEF WITH** In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with **OPIOIDS** pain related to cancer, any opioid may be considered for maintenance of pain relief (alone or in combination with NSAIDs and/or paracetamol), depending on clinical assessment and pain severity, in order to achieve sustained, effective and safe pain control. (Strong recommendation; low-quality evidence) Remarks The correct dose of opioid is the dose that relieves the patient's pain to an acceptable level. Patient responses to opioid medicines vary by patient and vary by medicine. Recommendation Regularly-dosed immediate-release oral morphine, or regularly-dosed slow-release morphine, should be used to maintain effective and safe pain relief whenever oral dosing is possible. With either formulation, immediate-release oral morphine should be used as rescue medicine. (Strong

recommendation; moderate-quality evidence)

	Remarks		
	Immediate-release oral morphine must be available and accessible to all patients who need it. Slow-release morphine should be made available whenever possible as an addition to, but not instead of, immediate-release oral morphine. Best Practice statement		
	When oral or transdermal routes are not possible for administration of opioids, the subcutaneous route is preferred over intramuscular injection, as this route is less painful for the patient.		
CESSATION	Best Practice statement		
OF OPIOIDS	If a patient has developed physical dependence on opioids over the course of the management of their pain, opioid dosages should be decreased gradually to avoid withdrawal symptoms.		
ADJUVANT MEDICINES F	OR CANCER PAIN		
STEROIDS	Recommendation		
	In adults (including older persons) and adolescents, with pain related to cancer, adjuvant steroids may be given to achieve pain control when indicated. (Strong recommendation; moderate-quality evidence)		
	Remarks		
	In general, steroids should be prescribed for as short a period as possible.		
	Optimum dosing of steroid for cancer pain depends on many clinical factors including location and type of pain, presence of or risk for infection, stage of illness, presence of diabetes mellitus, and goals of care, among others.		
	When treating cancer pain or complications due at least in part to oedema surrounding a tumour, steroids with the least mineralocorticoid effect are preferable.		
MANAGEMENT OF PAIN F	RELATED TO BONE METASTASES		
BISPHOSPHONATES	Recommendation		
	In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with bone metastases, a bisphosphonate should be used to prevent and treat bone pain. (Strong recommendation; moderate-quality evidence)		

RADIOTHERAPY	Recommendation		
	In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to bone metastases, single-dose radiotherapy should be used when radiotherapy is indicated and available. (Strong recommendation; high-quality evidence)		
	Remarks		
	This recommendation applies to people who already have painful bone metastases; it does not apply to people whose bone metastases are not painful.		

The GDG acknowledged that other established practices exist for treatment of cancer pain, but evidence of efficacy is limited. Regarding such practices, the clinician may consider an individual trial of therapy and cease the medicine if no improvement in pain occurs. Ideally, eligible patients should be enrolled in a clinical trial wherever possible to expand the evidence base. This pertains to antidepressants, anticonvulsants, opioid rotation and clinical regimens currently in established practice, but for which evidence of efficacy for cancer pain is lacking.

1. INTRODUCTION

Cancers are among the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide, responsible for 18.1 million new cases and 9.6 million deaths in 2018 (1).

Pain is experienced by 55% of patients undergoing anti-cancer treatment and by 66% of patients who have advanced, metastatic or terminal disease (2). There are several physiological mechanisms by which cancer causes pain. Pain is an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or is described in terms of such damage (3). Cancer and pain can also cause psychological suffering in the form of anxiety, depression, fear or a sense of hopelessness, and anxiety and depression can in turn exacerbate pain.

The goal of pain management is to relieve pain to a level that allows for an acceptable quality of life. These guidelines focus on pain caused by the direct effect of cancer – such as extension into soft tissues, visceral involvement, bone involvement, nerve compression or injury, raised intracranial pressure, or a combination of these (**Table 1**). Other types of pain related to cancer can be due to side-effects of treatment such as those caused by nerve injury during surgery, chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, muscle spasm, lymphoedema, constipation or pressure ulcers. These types of pain are beyond the scope of these guidelines.

Patients with cancer may require pain relief at all stages of their disease, and not only at the end of life. Better results in terms of symptom management can be achieved when palliative care is introduced early in the course of illness, through a peoplecentred approach concurrently with disease-modifying therapies (4). As a result of early diagnosis and improved cancer treatment, cancer patients are living longer. Nevertheless, in many settings, patients often present with cancer that is so advanced that any disease-modifying treatment may not be effective or feasible. For these patients, the preferred treatment option is palliative care and pain relief when needed.

The mainstay of cancer pain therapy is pharmacological interventions, but radiotherapeutic, anaesthetic, neurosurgical, psychological, physiotherapeutic, spiritual and social interventions all play essential roles in adequate cancer pain management.

Pain relief and palliative care are an imperative of universal health coverage, yet recent estimates state that 25.5 million people died in 2015 with serious health-related suffering (5). Expert opinion and data from country experiences from several lowincome countries, where treatment coverage is often low or non-existent, suggest that approximately 80% of people dying from cancer experience moderate or severe pain lasting on average for 90 days (5). Thus, cancer pain is a major cause of unnecessary suffering.

ТҮРЕ		NEURAL MECHANISM	EXAMPLE	
	Visceral		Stimulation of pain receptors on normal sensory nerve endings	Hepatic capsule stretch
Nociceptive	Somatic			Bone metastases
	Nerve compression		Stimulation of nervi nervorum	Sciatica due to vertebral metastasis with compression of L4, L5 or S1 nerve root
	F Nerve injury	Peripheral	Lowered firing threshold of sensory nerves (deafferentiation pain)	Tumour infiltration or destruction of brachial plexus
Neuropathic		Central	Injury to central nervous system	Spinal cord compression by tumour
		Mixed	Peripheral and central injury	Central sensitization due to unrelieved peripheral neuropathic pain
	Sympathetically maintained		Dysfunction of sympathetic system	Chronic regional pain syndrome following fracture or other trauma

Table 1. Cancer pain may be classified according to neural mechanisms

Everyone has a right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, and states have an obligation to take steps towards "the creation of conditions which would assure to all medical service and medical attention in the event of sickness" (6). This includes palliative care and access to adequate pain management. International drug control conventions state that "the medical use of narcotic drugs continues to be indispensable for the relief of pain and suffering and that adequate provision must be made to ensure the availability of narcotic drugs for such purposes" (7). Palliative care and pain relief is an essential health service component of Universal Health Care (8).

Despite being an issue of human rights and states' legal obligations, many people do not receive the pain relief they need. In 2006, it was estimated that 5.5 billion people (83% of the world's population) lived in countries with low or non-existent access to adequate pain management (9). Opioids are essential treatment for moderate to severe cancer pain. Even though oral morphine is on the World Health Organization (WHO) *Model list of essential medicines* as well as on the list of basic essential noncommunicable disease (NCD) medicines for primary health care (10), in 2015 only 43% of countries

reported that it was generally available in primary care facilities in the public health sector (11). There was a strong income gradient for this trend, with 77% of high-income countries reporting the general availability of oral morphine compared with 15% and 13% of low- and lower-middle-income countries respectively (11). Effective guidance is necessary to alleviate this preventable cancer pain pandemic.

While patients in most countries suffer from inadequate or no access to opioid analgesic medicines, an epidemic of opioid overdoses in the United States has been observed in the last two decades (12,13). Inappropriate marketing of prescription opioids by pharmaceutical companies (14) and inappropriate prescription by medical practitioners with little attention to the development of opioid-use disorders and the risk of opioid-induced respiratory depression are postulated to have contributed to the epidemic (15).

Global treatment guidelines for cancer pain – informed by the issues outlined above – are required to ensure that active pain from cancer can be adequately managed while ensuring patient and nonpatient safety. Country experiences have shown that balancing these goals is possible with appropriate measures and guidance (16).

Former WHO cancer pain guidelines, namely Cancer pain relief (1986) (17), Cancer pain relief with a guide to opioid availability (1996) (18) and Cancer pain relief and palliative care in children (1998) (19) made seminal recommendations that set global standards for cancer pain management. Yet, there are several reasons why an update is required namely:

- The 1986 and 1996 guidelines were developed on the basis of reports of a WHO expert committee. Current WHO guidelines are evidence-based using standardized, quality-assured methods for evidence appraisal and decision-making.
- Clinical practice continues to evolve. The WHO analgesic ladder, introduced in 1986 and disseminated worldwide, remains recognized as a useful educational tool but not as a strict protocol for cancer pain treatment (20). The three-step ladder was proposed in 1986 on the basis of the premise that doctors and health-care professionals should learn how to use a few drugs well. There are now new pain assessments, interventions and new delivery methods that were unavailable in 1996 (21,22,23), and new tools have been developed for pain assessment (Annex 1).
- There is also a need to provide guidance that is suitable for the realities of low- and middle-income countries. This is especially important for instructions on the use of opioid analgesics, as accessibility and knowledge of their use remains poor in many low- and middle-income settings.
- There is an ever-growing epidemiological imperative for new, up-to-date guidelines. Global cancer incidence is rising, populations are ageing, and improvement of clinical practice must meet the challenge. The provision of new guidance on cancer pain management aims to improve global clinical practice and to facilitate the removal of barriers to adequate pain relief for all who need it.

2. OBJECTIVES AND TARGET AUDIENCE OF THESE GUIDELINES

The intended audience for these guidelines includes: health-care providers, physicians, nurses, pharmacists, and caregivers, policy and programme managers, public health officials and academics. The objectives of these guidelines are:

- 1. To provide management guidance to health-care providers (i.e. the end-users of these guidelines: physicians, nurses, pharmacists and caregivers) on the adequate relief of pain associated with cancer or its treatment in adults and adolescents.
- 2. To assist policy-makers, programme managers and public health personnel to create and facilitate appropriately balanced policies on opioids and prescribing regulations for effective and safe cancer pain management.

These guidelines constitute a part of WHO's efforts to promote training, improved knowledge and confidence about appropriate pain relief among health-care providers and public health officials. Through the dissemination and use of the guidelines, it is hoped that access to effective and safe pain relief will increase and that millions of adults and adolescents suffering from cancer pain (the people affected by this guideline) will receive the care to which they have a right. If used in the context of palliative care, guidelines for the management of cancer pain in adults and adolescents will contribute to the achievement of Universal Health Coverage.

3. SCOPE OF THE GUIDELINES

Pharmacological and radiotherapeutic interventions are the mainstay of cancer pain treatment. These guidelines focus on the medical management of cancer pain and make recommendations on the pharmacological and radiotherapeutic methods of cancer pain management. Anaesthetic, psychological, social, spiritual, physiotherapeutic and surgical modes of cancer pain management are integral to comprehensive cancer pain management and are discussed in this document but are outside the scope of these guidelines.

These guidelines cover the management of cancer pain in adults (including older persons aged 60 years and over) and adolescents (aged 10–19 years) whose cancer pain management is delivered within the health system at any level, from specialized cancer centres to primary care centres in the community and patients' homes. The recommendations apply to the full range of income settings.

4. METHODS USED IN THE GUIDELINES

Full methods of the guideline development process, including the systematic review methods, are provided in **Annex 2**.

In summary, the GDG met on 28–29 July 2016 to outline the scope of the guideline questions and then met again on 20–21 November 2017 to deliberate and determine the recommendations made in response to 13 key clinical questions. The questions included issues such as the optimal choice of medicines for initiating and maintaining cancer pain relief, management of breakthrough pain, use of adjuvant medicines including steroids, anticonvulsants and anti-epileptics for cancer pain relief and optimal management of bone pain. See **Annex 4** for the full details of the clinical questions.

Systematic reviews were completed for each question by independent review teams in advance of the meeting and shared with the GDG prior to the meeting. This included a network meta-analysis (NMA) comparing different groups and classes of analgesic medicines for managing cancer pain.

Outcomes were rated by GDG members, according to the importance of each outcome from the perspective of the person living with cancer pain, as "not important" (1-3), "important" (4-6) or "critical" (7-9). Outcomes rated as critical were included in final GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) evidence profile tables which were presented to the GDG for determining the balance between benefits and potential harms. The steps undertaken for the retrieval of evidence, assessment and synthesis are summarized in **Annex 2**.

For making recommendations on interventions, GRADE methodology as defined in the WHO *Handbook for guideline development* was used to provide a rating of the overall quality of evidence arising from each systematic review (categorized as very low, low, moderate or high).

Values and preferences of the intervention were considered from the perspectives of patients. These perspectives were discussed by the GDG members, all of whom had broad professional experience of the field.

When considering the use of resources, the GDG was presented with the pricing of drugs where this was available and brought their knowledge of medication prices from around the world to the considerations. No formal cost-effectiveness studies were conducted, but the GDG considered the longer-term benefits of each recommendation in terms of possible reductions in hospitalization and morbidity.

The GDG proffered observations and their own experiences regarding the acceptability of interventions to health-care workers and the feasibility of implementation of recommended interventions, especially in regions were resources are scarce or absent. Similarly, the effect of provision of an intervention on equity was carefully considered through discussion within the GDG. No formal surveys of patients or health-care providers were conducted.

Based on the agreed quality of the evidence and with consideration given to the values and preferences of patients, the acceptability and feasibility of the intervention within the health-care system, the potential impact on equity and the resource implications, the GDG decided on the direction of the recommendation (either in favour or against an intervention) and whether to make *strong* or *conditional* recommendations using a benefit-risk assessment of each intervention. In the absence of any evidence on a particular review question, the GDG chose to make no recommendation.

For several questions where evidence was scant or lacking, the GDG recognized that established practices exist but did not formulate recommendations for or against the practices. For two such questions, best practice statements were formulated instead in view of the potential benefit and lack of any observed harms from current practices. For those questions where harms or lack of effect were less certain, specifically in patients with cancer pain, the GDG advocated that clinicians conduct an individual trial of therapy in their patients and assess the response accordingly. Ideally, and wherever possible, clinicians are encouraged to enrol eligible patients into a clinical trial to establish efficacy and build the evidence base.

Conflicts of interest were managed by requesting all GDG members to complete a WHO Conflicts of Interest (COI) form in advance of the meeting and to declare these before the entire GDG. Relevant declared interests of GDG members are reported in **Annex 4**. None of the declared interests were considered by WHO to be conflictual. WHO policies on COI were fully applied throughout.

5. CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT – GUIDING PRINCIPLES

The GDG and stakeholders who developed the guidelines determined that all recommendations arising from the meeting would be underpinned by the following overarching principles of effective health systems and best clinical practice:

5.1. THE GOAL OF OPTIMUM MANAGEMENT OF PAIN IS TO REDUCE PAIN TO LEVELS WHICH ALLOW AN ACCEPTABLE QUALITY OF LIFE

While as much as possible should be done clinically to relieve a patient's pain from cancer, it may not be possible to eliminate pain completely in all patients. The goal of pain management, therefore, is to reduce pain to a level that allows for a quality of life that is acceptable to the patient. The benefit of pain relief must be balanced against the risk of adverse effects and overdose that may result in respiratory depression.

A diagnosis of "refractory pain" should not be made too early as apparently "refractory pain" may simply be due to a lack of access to state-of-the-art pain treatment. Invasive interventions for pain, such as nerve blocks, may be unnecessary when pain management guidelines are followed.

5.2. GLOBAL ASSESSMENT OF THE PERSON SHOULD GUIDE TREATMENT, RECOGNIZING THAT INDIVIDUALS EXPERIENCE AND EXPRESS PAIN DIFFERENTLY

The first step in cancer pain management should always be assessment of the patient. The assessment should be as comprehensive as possible consistent with the patient's comfort and should include a detailed history, physical examination, assessment of psychological circumstances, an assessment of pain severity using an appropriate pain measurement tool and indicated diagnostic procedures. Early identification of patients with potential cancer pain should be performed proactively in all care settings, and especially in primary care (24). Assessment and re-assessment at regular intervals are key to ensuring that treatment is appropriate and safe, as well as minimizing and addressing side-effects over the course of a patient's care plan (25).

Annex 1 provides examples of pain assessment scales for specific populations.

5.3. SAFETY OF PATIENTS, CARERS, HEALTH-CARE PROVIDERS, COMMUNITIES AND SOCIETY MUST BE ASSURED

Provision of analgesia for cancer pain management can carry risks to the safety of patients, their families and society more broadly. Consequently, proper and effective stewardship of opioid analgesics in the cancer treatment setting is essential to ensure the safety of patients and to reduce the risk of diversion of medicine into society. The safety of health-care providers may also be at risk if they are coerced into diversionary activities, threatened for access to medicines, or at risk of abuse themselves.

Patient assessment should pay close attention to patients' psychological history, their patterns of opioid consumption, and any history of substance use, to identify risk factors for improper use and signs of substance use disorders that should influence clinical decision-making.

The presence of opioids in households presents a risk of misuse or unintentional overdose by children, adolescents and other household members. Safe, secure storage of opioid analgesics should be optimized at household level and provision made for the safe disposal or return of unused opioid medicines to a pharmacy at the end of life or when no longer needed.

5.4. A PAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN INCLUDES PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENTS AND MAY INCLUDE PSYCHOSOCIAL AND SPIRITUAL CARE

Pain is an outcome of a person's biological, psychological, social, cultural and spiritual circumstances. Therefore, while pharmacological interventions are the mainstay of cancer pain management, psychosocial care is also an essential component of a comprehensive care plan. Health-care teams should include this aspect of care when devising patient care plans, enabling supportive and culturally appropriate counselling for patients and their families. Care plans should allow for spiritual counselling appropriate to the beliefs of the patient and family. Cancer patients may experience depression, fear and anxiety. Very anxious or depressed patients should receive appropriate therapy for their psychological needs, which may be pharmacological or otherwise, in addition to an analgesic. If the psychological as well as physiological aspects of pain are not treated, the pain may remain intractable.

5.5. ANALGESICS, INCLUDING OPIOIDS, MUST BE ACCESSIBLE: BOTH AVAILABLE AND AFFORDABLE

Opioid analgesics are essential for the adequate treatment of moderate and severe cancer pain. Yet access and availability are poor in most low- and middle-income

countries. Barriers to adequate pain relief include: regulatory and legal barriers, attitude and knowledge barriers, and economic and procurement impediments (26). Addressing all of these barriers will be necessary in a country to increase access to adequate pain relief. In many settings, cancer pain management will be impossible unless policy changes enable access to adequate pain relief medicines. These issues are comprehensively addressed in *Ensuring balance in national policies on controlled substances* (2011) (27). Clinical and policy guidelines should be complementary in order to increase overall access to controlled pain relief medicines. **Annex 5** presents international conventions on the availability of opioid analgesics.

5.6. ADMINISTRATION OF ANALGESIC MEDICINE SHOULD BE GIVEN "BY MOUTH", "BY THE CLOCK", "FOR THE INDIVIDUAL" AND WITH "ATTENTION TO DETAIL"

By mouth:

Whenever possible, analgesics should be given by mouth.

By the clock:

Doses of analgesic should be given at the appropriate fixed intervals of time. The dose should be increased gradually until the patient is comfortable. The next dose should be given before the effect of the previous dose has worn off.

For the individual:

Management of an individual patient's pain requires careful assessment as described in item 2 above, plus differential diagnosis of the type of pain (e.g. nociceptive somatic pain or nociceptive visceral pain or neuropathic pain), the site of origin of the pain and a decision about optimum treatment. The correct dose is the dose that relieves the patient's pain to a level acceptable to the patient.

Previous WHO guidance included a pain management ladder which has been widely used in the cancer care community (See http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/painladder/en/). However, a pain management ladder is only a general guide to pain management (**Annex 1**).

With respect to opioids, patients' responses may vary by patient and by medicine. At times, adverse effects or patient choice may preclude escalation. It is therefore useful if multiple opioid medicines are accessible since each has slightly different properties. It is essential that oral immediate-release and injectable morphine is always accessible.

With attention to detail:

The first and last doses of the day should be linked to the patient's waking time and bedtime. Ideally, the patient's analgesic medicine regimen should be written out in full for patients and their families to work from and should include the names of the medicines, reasons for use, dosage and dosing intervals. Patients should be warned about possible adverse effects of each of the medicines they are being given.

5.7. CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT SHOULD BE INTEGRATED AS PART OF CANCER CARE

Cancer pain management should be integrated into cancer treatment plans throughout the care continuum, including when a patient's disease is not terminal, as necessary. Treatment should begin by giving the patient an understandable explanation of the causes of the pain. Anti-cancer treatment and pharmacotherapy for cancer pain relief should be given concurrently if the patient is in pain.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

The following pages present the recommendations and underlying rationale of the expert GDG.

For ease of reference, the recommendations included in these guidelines refer to classes of medicines outlined in **Table 2**.

Table 3 presents the cost of some essential pain medicines in countries of different income levels, while **Annex 6** contains the pharmacological principles of cancer pain management.

MEDICINE GROUP	MEDICINE CLASS	EXAMPLE MEDICINES	
	Paracetamol	Paracetamol oral tablets and liquid. Rectal suppositories, injectable	
Non-opioids	NSAIDs	Ibuprofen oral tablets and liquid Ketorolac oral tablets and injectable Acetylsalicylic acid oral tablets and rectal suppositories	
	Weak opioids	Codeine oral tablets and liquid and injectable	
Opioids	Strong opioids	Morphine oral tablet and liquid and injectable Hydromorphone oral tablets and liquid and injectable Oxycodone oral tablets and liquid Fentanyl injectable, transdermal patch, transmucosal lozenge	
		Methadone oral tablet, liquid, injectable	

Table 2. Groups and classes of medicines for cancer pain management and specific examples

MEDICINE GROUP	MEDICINE CLASS	EXAMPLE MEDICINES
Adjuvants	Steroids	Dexamethasone oral tablet and injectable Methylprednisolone oral tablets and injectable Prednisolone oral tablets
	Antidepressants	Amitriptyline oral tablets Venlafaxine oral tablets
	Anticonvulsants	Carbamazepine oral tablets and injectable
	Bisphosphonates	Zoledronate injectable

Table 3. Cost to hospitals in 2015 of selected essential medicines for pain management in US dollars in countries of various income levels

MEDICINE	LOW-INCOME COUNTRY (RWANDA)	LOWER-MIDDLE- INCOME COUNTRY (VIET NAM)	HIGHER- MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRY (MEXICO)
Morphine 10 mg immediate- release oral	0.13	0.09	0.11
Morphine injectable 10 mg ampule	1.17	0.13	7.73
Dexamethasone injectable 4 mg ampule	0.13	0.04	0.27
Amitriptyline 25 mg tablet	0.01	0.01	0.03
Paracetamol 500 mg tablet	0.01	0.02	>0.01

Source: Knaul et al. 2018 (5).

6.1. INITIATION OF PAIN RELIEF

This section presents the recommendations, supporting evidence and rationale for the key clinical questions to determine the optimal medicines to use when initiating analgesia in patients with cancer pain (see **Annex 4** for details of the questions). During the scoping meeting, the GDG determined that there was uncertainty as to

whether initiation of analgesia should include non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), paracetamol or opioids, either alone or in combination. The intention was to conduct a NMA to allow for direct and indirect comparisons, but too few trials were eligible and an NMA was not possible.

Recommendation

In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to cancer, NSAIDs, paracetamol and opioids generally should be used at the stage of initiation of pain management, either alone or in combination depending on clinical assessment and pain severity, in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control. (*Strong recommendation; low-quality evidence*)

Remarks

Patients should be started on a type and strength of analgesic appropriate to their type and severity of pain.

Mild analgesics (paracetamol, NSAIDs) should not be given alone for initiation of management of moderate or severe pain. Patients may be started on a combination of paracetamol and/or NSAIDs with an opioid, such as oral morphine, if indicated by pain severity as measured on a validated numeric or visual analogue pain rating scale.

Considerations

Paracetamol, NSAIDs, morphine, and other opioids have been regarded as mainstays of cancer pain treatment for decades and remain so today (28-30). Paracetamol, ibuprofen and several opioids are included in the WHO *Model list of essential medicines for pain and palliative care.* Since there is known clinical variation in patients' responses to specific analgesic medicines, a range of opioid analgesics should ideally be accessible to adult, adolescent and older patients with cancer pain.

Co-formulations of combined opioid and non-opioid analgesics are discouraged because of the loss of ability to titrate each analgesic independently and the risk of exposure to high, potentially toxic doses of the non-opioid analgesics such as paracetamol or ibuprofen.

Summary of the evidence

Evidence was derived from pair-wise comparisons from five trials, although none clearly distinguished between patients at pain management initiation and those on maintenance treatment. Inclusion was based on the fact that all five trials included people with cancer pain who were naïve to strong opioids (or were beginning opioid treatment). The studies evaluated buprenorphine, fentanyl, morphine, and oxycodone with a single trial comparing weak opioid + NSAID to NSAIDs.

Two of the five trials compared classes of medicine to evaluate relief of pain, providing very low strength of evidence that strong opioids relieve pain more frequently than weak opioids (RR = 1.80; 95% Cl 1.42, 2.29), and favouring combination weak opioids + NSAID to relieve pain more frequently than NSAIDs alone (RR = 1.36; 95% Cl 0.98, 1.87) (*31,32*). One of the trials also evaluated the degree of pain relief, providing very low strength of evidence to favour strong opioids over weak opioids, suggesting no difference (estimated net difference = -3.3; 95% Cl -87, 60 on a scale of 0 to 100 [worst] (*31*).

Three eligible randomized controlled trials (RCTs) evaluated outcomes other than pain relief among persons with cancer who were initiating pain management (33-35). These three trials together provided moderate strength of evidence of similar rates of confusion with either morphine or oxycodone (RR = 0.85; 95% Cl 0.50, 1.44), nominally favouring morphine. One trial compared all four opioids, providing low strength of evidence of similar rates of confusion with all four medicines (36–47%) (35). No studies reported specifically on quality of life. No trial listed or reported on respiratory depression among the study participants.

Rationale

The RCT evidence on the selection of one particular type of analgesic over others for pain relief was of low quality, but the GDG noted that this uncertainty was related to selection of analgesic and not to uncertainty about whether to use analgesics or not to obtain pain relief. Moderate quality evidence for adverse effects indicated that there was little difference between analgesics. The GDG observed that, although patients valued the pain relief delivered by analgesia, they may have concerns about initiating opioids in particular and that values and preference related to type of analgesia were likely to vary across countries, cultures, clinicians, families and patients. With respect to opioid administration, the GDG noted that acceptability to health-care workers and feasibility of provision were likely to be highly variable regionally, although there was agreement that health-care workers aimed to relieve the pain experienced by their patients and would value greater analgesic options. The GDG also bore in mind the risk of unintended consequences. The GDG noted that balanced regulations on strong opioid medicines, which balance the necessity of their availability to patients who need them with the necessity of tackling their misuse, are possible. Recommendations on how to achieve this balance are presented in other WHO documents (27).

The GDG observed that a recommendation to provide greater access to analgesia at initiation of pain management may be resource-intensive and changes may be required to the regulatory environment in some countries to facilitate this. However, given that the majority of the global population currently does not have access to adequate analgesia, with this inequity likely to increase with the expanding burden of cancer in low- and middle-income countries, the GDG determined to make a strong recommendation in favour of provision of a selection of analgesics for pain management initiation despite the low quality of evidence.

6.2. MAINTENANCE OF PAIN RELIEF

This section presents the recommendations, supporting evidence and rationale for each of five key clinical questions related to maintaining pain relief following initiating effective relief of pain in patients with cancer pain.

The questions were: 1) Which is the most effective opioid for maintaining pain relief? 2) Which is the most effective opioid for treating breakthrough pain? 3) What is the evidence for the practice of opioid rotation or opioid switching as compared with continuing use of one opioid? 4) What is the evidence for the benefit of administering modified-release morphine regularly as compared with immediate-release morphine on a 4-hourly or on an "as required" basis? 5) Is there benefit for using the subcutaneous, transdermal or transmucosal routes as compared with the intramuscular and intravenous routes when the oral route for opioids is inappropriate? See **Annex 4** for a list of detailed questions.

6.2.1. CHOICE OF OPIOID

Recommendation

In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to cancer, any opioid may be considered for maintenance of pain relief, depending on clinical assessment and pain severity, in order to sustain effective and safe pain control. (*Strong recommendation; low-quality evidence*)

Remarks

The correct dose of opioid is the dose that relieves the patient's pain to an acceptable level. Patient responses to opioid medicines vary by patient and vary by medicine.

Considerations

The choice of analgesic medicine, dosage and timing should be guided by the specific pharmacokinetics of each opioid medicine, the contraindications and the adverse effects in different patients; the dose or medicine that successfully relieves pain for one patient will not necessarily do so for others. Therefore, while it is imperative that oral immediate-release and injectable morphine are accessible to everyone, it may be optimal if a range of opioid medicines is accessible to patients, since the medicine that is most appropriate for one patient will not necessarily be appropriate for another.

Summary of the evidence

Thirty-eight eligible RCTs evaluated outcomes of interest among people with cancer who were being managed for their cancer pain (36–73). However, few trials clearly distinguished between patients at pain management initiation and those on maintenance treatment, and classification was dependent on the reviewers' judgement.

Direct and indirect evidence from 13 trials included in the NMA provided high-quality evidence that a combination of strong opioid and NSAID reduces pain (measured on a continuous scale) better than alternative analgesics (see **Annex 7** NMA **League Table 1** and **League Table 2**) (51,52,61,74,65-73). Direct and indirect evidence from six trials reporting on pain relief as a dichotomous response provided low quality evidence that there may be no differences between analgesics for relief of pain (41,63,64,70,75,76).

Direct evidence for outcomes other than pain relief was obtained from 26 trials comparing different analgesic treatments (36-49,51-62). The trials evaluated 14 classes of analgesics with 12 studies conducted in older persons.

Direct evidence from five trials evaluated duration of maintenance of pain reduction. There is low strength of evidence of no significant differences between the interventions (codeine, codeine + ibuprofen, diclofenac, morphine extended release every 12 hours, ketorolac, morphine CR, and morphine immediate-release). Four trials evaluated speed of pain relief, providing low strength of evidence of no significant difference between codeine, codeine + ibuprofen, diclofenac, ketorolac, morphine slow-release, morphine immediate-release, and oxycodone slow-release. The studies evaluated different outcomes which ranged from minutes to days.

One trial found no significant difference in quality of life, as measured by the EORTC QTQ-C30, between celecoxib and placebo (very low strength of evidence). There was a difference of 2 on a scale of 0 to 100 [best], but no further data were reported.

Seventeen trials reported on sedation, using various definitions within studies, including sedation, somnolence, drowsiness and tiredness. There was no difference between fentanyl and slow-release morphine for sedation (RR = 0.88; 95% CI 0.52, 1.48). One of the trials explicitly discussed respiratory depression (in fact "respiratory failure") as an adverse event, with a single occurrence reported among 62 persons taking tapentadol, but none with morphine slow-release. The studies did not report data to allow for evaluation of subgroup differences.

Overall, the evidence indicates that a combination of high-potency opioid combined with an NSAID is better than alternative analgesics for maintenance of pain relief, with no evidence of inconsistency in the data. However, the choice of opioid analgesic may make little or no difference in speed of pain relief, duration of maintenance of pain reduction, or functional outcomes.

Rationale

The evidence does not indicate that there is an obviously-best opioid for maintenance of pain relief. The systematic review reveals some differences between the medicines with regard to adverse effects, which may influence patient and clinical preference. The GDG acknowledged that many differences between opioid medicines are often overstated. The GDG believed that there was minor variability in the patient values and preferences for one opioid over another although individual responses to adverse effects may influence patient choice. The GDG agreed that provision of all analgesic options was likely to be acceptable to key stakeholders such as clinicians and policymakers but recognized that, for choice of initiation analgesia, there is likely to be variability in the acceptability of opioids in many settings worldwide. The GDG also bore in mind the risk of unintended consequences with diversion being a concern. However, the GDG noted that balanced regulations of these strong analgesics, which balance the necessity of their availability to patients who need them for pain management with the necessity of tackling their misuse, are possible. Recommendations on how to achieve this balance are presented in other WHO documents (27).

The GDG recognized that, while increasing the availability of opioids would require an increase in resources including additional training for health-care workers, good pain control leads to an improvement in patient functional status and appropriate palliative care may be cost effective. The cost of medicines would be an important factor in decisions to make certain medicines available. In low-resource settings, cheaper medicines are preferred as the clinical differences between those and the more expensive medicines are small. Provision of opioids should also improve equity globally with regard to these medicines. For these reasons, the GDG determined that the recommendation would be strong.

6.2.2. TREATMENT OF BREAKTHROUGH PAIN

Breakthrough pain in cancer refers to a transitory flare of pain in the setting of chronic pain managed with pain medicines around the clock (77).

Best Practice statement

Breakthrough pain should be treated with a rescue medicine, which should be an opioid such as morphine in its immediate-release formulation.

Considerations

The regularity of administration should be appropriate to the medicine. In addition to regular administration, patients should have access to a rescue medicine. A rescue dose that is 50–100% of the regular 4-hourly dose may be considered. In the absence

of evidence, the choice of specific medicine may depend on affordability and ease of administration. As in recommendation 6.2.4, it should be an immediate-release opioid, not a slow-release opioid.

Summary of the evidence

A single small RCT (n = 68) compared analgesics specifically for management of breakthrough pain in an older population with multiple cancer types (42). The trial provided low strength of evidence that the choice between sustained-release and immediate-release morphine may make no difference to prevent breakthrough pain or to reduce pain. The trial did not report on pain relief speed, pain relief maintenance, quality of life, functional outcomes or respiratory depression. The trial provided very low strength of evidence regarding differences between sustained-release and immediate-release morphine to avoid confusion. In the crossover study, two patients developed confusion while taking immediate-release morphine, but the confusion was not attributed to the opioids.

Rationale

The GDG agreed that they could not justify making a recommendation on the basis of only one eligible low-quality RCT that looked at too few of the options that were clinically available. The GDG also noted a high degree of uncertainty regarding patient values and preferences, acceptability and feasibility. However, the GDG highlighted that the cost of certain formulations, such as transmucosal fentanyl, was likely to be prohibitively expensive for some low- and middle-income settings, and that cheaper medicines such as immediate-release oral morphine should be made available as a priority if they are not already available. Given the urgent need for guidance to manage breakthrough pain for both patients and clinicians, the GDG decided to make a best practice statement that breakthrough pain should always be relieved with rescue medicine based on clinical experience and patient need.

This best practice statement was congruent with the recommendation on choice of immediate-release or slow-release morphine (see **Section 6.2.4**) and was therefore incorporated into the recommendation and does not appear as a standalone Best Practice statement.

6.2.3. SWITCHING OR ROTATING OPIOID MEDICINES

Patients receiving increasing doses of an opioid for inadequately controlled cancer pain may develop adverse effects before achieving an acceptable level of analgesia. It has been proposed that opioid switching might improve the balance between analgesia and adverse effects (78,79).

No recommendation

In the absence of evidence, WHO makes no recommendation for or against the practice of opioid switching or rotation.

Considerations

In the absence of any evidence, practitioners may wish to consider an individual trial of therapy and to switch to another opioid for those patients who do not achieve adequate analgesia or have side-effects that are severe, unmanageable, or both.

Ideally, clinicians should identify active clinical trials testing the efficacy of opioid rotation in patients with cancer pain and, wherever possible, encourage eligible patients to enrol into such trials.

Summary of the evidence

No RCTs were identified that evaluated switching or rotating opioids in patients with cancer pain.

6.2.4. CHOOSING BETWEEN IMMEDIATE-RELEASE MORPHINE AND SLOW-RELEASE MORPHINE

Recommendation

Regularly-dosed immediate-release oral morphine, or regularly-dosed slow-release morphine, should be used to maintain effective and safe pain relief. With either formulation, immediate-release oral morphine should be used as rescue medicine. (*Strong recommendation; moderate-quality evidence*)

Remarks

Immediate-release oral morphine must be available and accessible to all patients who need it. The availability of slow-release morphine is optional as an addition to, but not instead of, the availability of immediate-release oral morphine.

Considerations

Patients sometimes place high value on the availability of both formulations; therefore having both options available is preferred if resources allow. If a health system must choose between one formulation or the other, immediate-release oral morphine should be chosen as it can be used as both maintenance and rescue medicine whereas slowrelease morphine cannot be used for rescue.

Summary of the evidence

Ten eligible RCTs compared modified-release morphine (morphine SR) versus immediate-release morphine (*37,42,49,80–87*). Participants had a variety of cancer types in almost all trials. Study participants generally had moderate or severe pain (or the level of pain severity was not explicitly described). The trials evaluated a variety of formulations of morphine slow-release (MS Contin[®], Oramorph SR[®], Skenan[®], MST Continus[®], Kapanol[®] or defined formulations). One trial used ketobemidone for breakthrough pain; the others used morphine immediate-release. All studies (at least implicitly) prescribed the morphine immediate-release to be taken according to a fixed schedule.

There is moderate strength of evidence of no difference in pain relief between slowrelease and immediate-release morphine. Pooled data from four trials (n = 222) reporting on pain relief showed no difference between Drug A and Drug B (RR = 0.99; 95% CI 0.95, 1.03). A meta-analysis of four other trials found similar pain scores among participants measured on a continuous scale.

One small trial provided low strength of evidence of no difference in pain relief speed (time to achieving stable pain control, difference between arms -0.4 days; 95% CI -1.1, 0.3). The same trial showed very low strength of evidence of no difference for quality of life, with a difference between arms of 9 points (on a transformed scale of 1 to 100 [best]) with 95% CI -6 to 24). No eligible studies evaluated pain reduction maintenance or functional outcomes. Two studies provided low-quality evidence of no difference between immediate-release and slow-release morphine in sedation scores. Only two trials explicitly reported on respiratory depression as a potential adverse event. They provided low strength of evidence, finding no events in a small overall sample of patients (n = 126). None of the RCTs evaluated subgroups of interest.

Rationale

The choice of slow-release and immediate-release morphine probably makes little or no difference to pain relief and may make no difference to pain relief speed, maintenance of pain relief and sedation. Respiratory distress events may be rare with both formulations. The GDG agreed that there was no clear benefit of one formulation over another. The GDG observed that some patients may prefer slow-release morphine because of the lower pill burden, more sustained analgesia and less waking at night, and that there was likely to be major variability among patients with regard to the choice of formulation. In other patients there may be stigma against certain formulations. Slow-release morphine is typically more expensive than immediate-release morphine. It was not clear which formulation was more cost effective and the GDG noted that the variability in resource requirements was likely to be minor. The GDG remarked that today patients in many countries might have access to only slow-release morphine and that this is inadequate to maintain treatment of breakthrough pain. In other settings,
patients may have access to immediate-release morphine, but only in the injectable form which is not appropriate to the outpatient setting. Given that provision of both formulations was highly likely to be acceptable to health-care workers and feasible to implement, the GDG made a strong recommendation with the proviso that the priority medicine is immediate-release oral morphine, with other formulations as acceptable *additional* options.

6.2.5. ROUTE OF ADMINISTRATION OF OPIOIDS

Oral administration of opioids is usually preferable, whenever possible, to avoid the discomfort, inconvenience and expense of parenteral administration. However, cancer patients often become unable to take oral medicines at some point in the course of their illness because of, for example, dysphagia, bowel obstruction or vomiting (18). Consequently, other routes of opioid administration are often needed.

Best Practice statement

When oral or transdermal routes are not possible, the subcutaneous route is preferred over intramuscular injection as the subcutaneous route is less painful for the patient.

Summary of the evidence

A single small crossover trial compared non-invasive routes versus injected routes for opioids in 20 adults with multiple types of cancer who were selected for the trial because of substantial side-effects related to oral or rectal opioids (88). There was very low strength of evidence to suggest a difference in degree of pain relief between subcutaneous and intravenous hydromorphone (difference = 3.0; 95% CI -15, 21 on a 0 to 100 [worst] scale). The trial did not report on critical or important adverse events. The trial found that sedation, measured by visual analogue scale, improved in both arms with opioid treatment.

Rationale

The GDG could not make a new recommendation on the basis of the very low quality and limited amount of evidence. However, there was consensus that oral or transdermal routes are preferred. When it is possible to administer medicines via either the oral route or the transdermal route, the GDG agreed that the subcutaneous route is preferred over intramuscular injection, as this route is less painful for the patient. A Best Practice statement was therefore formulated.

6.3. CESSATION OF OPIOID USE

If the cause of cancer pain is effectively addressed by anti-cancer treatment (e.g. surgery or chemotherapy), it follows that the use of opioids is no longer necessary and an opportunity exists to decrease or stop opioid use. The GDG developed a clinical question regarding the optimal tapering regimens of interventions to effectively and safely cease use of opioids specifically in patients who have received opioids for cancer pain (see **Annex 4** for detailed questions).

Best Practice statement

If patients have developed physical dependence on opioids over the course of the management of their pain, opioid dosages should be decreased gradually to avoid withdrawal symptoms.

Summary of the evidence

No eligible studies were found that address this question.

Rationale

The GDG could not make a new recommendation in the absence of evidence. The GDG chose to provide a table outlining a general guide to opioid cessation (see **Annex 6**) and to make a Best Practice Statement regarding opioid cessation when a patient has developed physical dependence on opioids.

After an abrupt reduction in pain (such as after a nerve block or neuro-ablative procedure), clinicians may consider reducing the dose of opioid until it can be stopped. Following radiotherapy or other anti-cancer treatments, pain relief may be much slower and take days to weeks. If the pain-relieving procedure has been successful, clinicians may consider slowly reducing the dose of opioid, titrated against the patient's response, until it can be stopped completely if the pain does not recur. Close and regular assessment is needed. If pain recurs, clinicians should take care to suspend dose reduction temporarily and/or to increase the dosage again if necessary until adequate pain relief is achieved.

Efficacy data are available from clinical trials of opioid cessation in persons with opioid dependence undergoing managed withdrawal (89,90). However, it is not clear whether patients with cancer pain will respond to the evidence-based regimens in the same way as persons without cancer and whether optional substitution therapy is desirable in this group of patients. This uncertainty notwithstanding, practitioners looking after patients with cancer may wish to consult and liaise with a specialist in substance use disorders to develop and implement an individualized opioid cessation plan for patients who no longer require opioid analgesia.

6.4. ADJUVANT MEDICINES FOR CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT

Adjuvant analgesics used in conjunction with opioids have been found to be beneficial in the management of many cancer pain syndromes; however, they are currently underutilized. Adjuvant medicines may be necessary to enhance pain relief – such as corticosteroids in nerve compression – or to treat concomitant psychological disturbances such as insomnia, anxiety and depression (sedatives and antidepressants) (17).

6.4.1. STEROIDS

Steroids are among the most commonly used adjuvant medicines for management of cancer pain of several types: metastatic bone pain, neuropathic pain and visceral pain (84,91).

Recommendation

In adults (including older persons) and adolescents, with pain related to cancer, adjuvant steroids should be given to achieve pain control when indicated. (*Strong recommendation; moderate-quality evidence*)

Remarks

- In general, steroids should be prescribed for as short a period as possible.
- Optimum dosing of steroids for cancer pain depends on many clinical factors, including location and type of pain, presence of or risk for infection, stage of illness, presence of diabetes mellitus and the goals of care, among others.
- When treating cancer pain or complications caused at least in part by oedema surrounding a tumour, steroids with the least mineralocorticoid effect are preferable.

Considerations

Appropriate doses of steroids differ depending on the indication and medicine. Following an initiation dose, the dose should be reduced over time and the optimal maintenance dose should be determined by the analgesic requirement of the patient.

Care should be taken with regard to patient selection for the prescription of steroids because some patients may have contraindications.

Summary of the evidence

Seven eligible trials compared steroids to placebo (see **Annex 3**, Evidence Profile 5.1) in patients with a variety of cancers (92–98). The studies evaluated methylprednisolone (four trials), dexamethasone (two trials) and prednisolone (one trial).

Five trials provided moderate strength of evidence that pain relief was greater in patients taking steroids than in those taking placebo. The summary net difference in pain scores between arms was -9.9 (on a 0 to 100 [worst] scale), 95% CI -16.0 to -3.8, favouring steroids. Over half the weight for this summary estimate came from the only trial that found a statistically significant finding, which also reported the greatest reduction in pain scores with steroids and was published in 1985.

None of the trials reported pain relief speed or duration of pain relief maintenance. Three studies provided very low strength of evidence that patients taking steroids had improved quality of life compared with placebo with a summary net difference (on a 0 to 100 [best] scale) of 12.6 (95% CI 6.2, 19.0). One small trial provided very low strength of evidence regarding gastrointestinal bleeds, being the only study to report this adverse event explicitly. No gastrointestinal bleeds occurred among 31 patients in this crossover study. Two small studies reported on psychiatric adverse events: one trial provided very low strength of evidence (RR = 1.00; 95% CI 0.06, 15.2), while the other trial provided very low strength of evidence regarding both anxiety and "psychic change" (undefined) in favour of steroids (both RR = 0.59; 95% CI 0.11, 3.20). No study reported on delirium or psychosis.

No trials compared the effects of different steroids against other steroids.

Rationale

Moderate quality of evidence indicates that steroids probably improve pain relief and may improve quality of life but it is uncertain whether, in this population, steroids increase risks of gastrointestinal bleeds or psychiatric adverse events. The GDG remarked that patients – especially young patients – are sometimes reluctant to take the medicines because of their known common side-effects. Older patients are also sometimes reluctant on account of diabetes and other comorbidities. The GDG deemed this option acceptable to clinicians, who frequently appreciate the speed of onset of steroids' beneficial effects. The resource requirements are small and the option is feasible. The GDG did not believe the therapy would have much impact on equity. The GDG noted that, while some side-effects and adverse events from steroids can be serious, the balance of effects is in favour of their use when indicated; the GDG therefore made a strong recommendation. However, the GDG observed that the absence of evidence comparing different steroids did not support a recommendation in favour of any single specific steroid over another.

6.4.2. ANTIDEPRESSANTS

Cancer-related neuropathic pain is common and can be caused either by the disease or by cancer treatment. Two classes of antidepressants, tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and selective serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), are commonly used as adjuvant medicines to treat neuropathic pain.

No recommendation

WHO makes no recommendation for or against the use of antidepressants to treat cancer-related neuropathic pain.

Considerations

In the absence of high-quality evidence specific to treating tumour-related neuropathic pain, the GDG noted the efficacy data from antidepressant use in non-cancer neuropathic syndromes and suggested that practitioners may wish to consider an individual trial of therapy with an antidepressant for patients with cancer-related neuropathic pain that is not relieved adequately by a combination of an opioid and either paracetamol or NSAIDs, or both. Care should be taken to evaluate the effectiveness after adequate titration, and treatment should be stopped if not beneficial. Ideally, eligible patients should be enrolled in a clinical trial to establish efficacy in cancer pain and practitioners are encouraged to seek out such trials and facilitate enrolment of eligible patients.

Summary of the evidence

One eligible trial compared amitriptyline to placebo in 60 people with severe neuropathic cancer pain (cancer types and ages not reported) (99). There was low quality of evidence that amitriptyline is more effective than placebo in reducing pain in people with cancer-related neuropathic pain; the net difference in Visual Analogue Scale score (transformed 0 to 100 [worst] scale) was -4.7 (95% CI -9.2, -0.2). The trial did not report data on complete pain relief, pain relief speed, pain reduction maintenance, quality of life, functional outcomes or adverse events.

No eligible trials were found that compared different antidepressants to others.

Rationale

While decades of clinical practice have shown antidepressants to be effective in neuropathic pain syndromes (100), the GDG did not feel sufficiently confident that the evidence indicates their effectiveness in tumour-related neuropathic pain. The GDG therefore opted to make no recommendation because of lack of evidence. The group also noted that some patients might have strong aversions to the use of antidepressants

due to stigma and that possible anticholinergic side-effects, such as dry mouth, constipation or sedation, may be an additional burden.

No eligible trials were found that compared different antidepressants with each other. The GDG could not make a recommendation for one antidepressant in preference to others because of the absence of evidence.

6.4.3. ANTICONVULSANTS

Cancer-related neuropathic pain is common and can be caused either by the disease or by cancer treatment. Anticonvulsants are commonly used as adjuvant medicines to treat neuropathic pain. Certain anti-epileptics have been reported to be effective for treatment of neuropathic pain (see Fallon, 2013 (100) for review), including gabapentin, pregabalin, carbamazepine and valproate.

Recommendation

WHO makes no recommendation for or against the use of anti-epileptics/anticonvulsants for the treatment of cancer-related neuropathic pain.

Considerations

In the absence of clear evidence in favour of anti-epileptics, the GDG suggested that practitioners may wish to consider an individual trial of therapy and prescribe an anti-epileptic for those patients who do not achieve adequate analgesia or have side-effects that are severe, unmanageable, or both.

Ideally, clinicians should identify active clinical trials testing the efficacy of anticonvulsants in patients with cancer pain and, wherever possible, should encourage eligible patients to enrol into such trials.

Summary of the evidence

The results of the systematic review were not presented. The evidence retrieved for the systematic review for this question was discounted following a revelation of fraud. While gabapentin has been widely prescribed, in 2017 it was rejected for inclusion in the WHO *Model list of essential medicines* on account of fraudulent evidence (101–104).

Rationale

The fraudulent data called into question the systematic review data for this question, resulting in no recommendation being made. The fraudulent data are specific to gabapentin but the review analyses included gabapentin and other anti-epileptics and the GDG felt that a new review would be necessary prior to further evaluation, interpretation and decision-making regarding anti-epileptics in general. This will require assessment in future updates of the guidelines.

6.5. MANAGEMENT OF BONE PAIN

Some cancer pains are best treated with a combination of drug and non-drug measures. For instance, radiation therapy, if available, should be considered in patients with metastatic bone pain, or pressure pain from localized cancer (17). The *Clinical practice guidelines on management of cancer pain* of the European Society of Medical Oncology recommend radiotherapy (105). All patients with pain from bone metastases which is proving difficult to control by pharmacological therapy should be evaluated by a clinical oncologist for consideration of external beam radiotherapy or radioisotope treatment.

6.5.1. BISPHOSPHONATES

Bisphosphonates inhibit osteoclast activity, and their use in cancer patients prevents the increased bone resorption common in metastatic bone disease. Thus they can reduce complications or skeletal-related events (SREs) and reduce bone pain and analgesic requirements (106,107). Examples include clodronate, ibandronate, pamidronate, risendronate, etidronate and zoledronate.

Recommendation

In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with bone metastases, a bisphosphonate should be used to prevent and treat bone pain. (*Strong recommendation; moderate-quality evidence*)

Considerations

Clinicians should take into account the variable adverse renal effects of bisphosphonates before prescribing.

Summary of the evidence

Bisphosphonates compared to placebo

Forty eligible trials compared bisphosphonates to placebo (108-147).

Most trial participants had either breast or prostate cancer. Thirteen studies evaluated clodronate, nine zolendronate, five each ibandronate and pamidronate, and one each etidronate and risendronate. Studies were not explicit about what other drugs (including for pain relief) patients were on, but an informed assumption was made that the bisphosphonates were used as adjuvant therapies to treat or to prevent bone pain from metastases.

There is moderate strength of evidence of greater pain relief with use of bisphosphonates compared with placebo among patients with painful bone metastases. Seven trials evaluated categorical pain relief; however, four evaluated improvements in pain (e.g. reductions of at least 2 points on a 5-point pain scale) (*116,126,136,144*) and three evaluated complete pain relief (*113,123,134*). Although favouring use of bisphosphonates, no statistically significant differences in complete relief of pain (RR = 1.61; 95% CI 0.89, 2.93) or pain improvement (RR = 1.24; 95% CI 0.90, 1.71) were found. Fourteen trials evaluated pain on continuous scales (which were each converted to a 100-point scale, with 100 equivalent to worst pain) (*110,112,114–116,124,125,128,131,132,135,138,140,146*). The studies, overall, indicated statistically significant improvement in pain, with an overall net difference of -11.8 (95% CI -17.6, -6.1).

No study evaluated speed of pain relief. A single trial provided low strength of evidence suggesting no significant difference in duration of pain relief between risendronate and placebo in people with prostate cancer.

Five studies provide varying strength of evidence that bisphosphonates do not affect quality of life compared with placebo (111,112,116,119,132). The studies evaluated clodronate (three studies), ibandronate (one study) and zolendronate (one study). The five studies provided very low strength of evidence of no significant difference in changes in quality-of-life scores measured on a variety of scales (summary net difference on a 0 to 100 [best] scale = 8; 95% CI -6, 22). One study provided moderate strength of evidence of reduced and delayed deterioration in quality of life with clodronate (RR = 0.81; 95% CI 0.67, 0.99 and HR = 0.71; 95% CI 0.56, 0.92) (111).

Twenty-five trials evaluated the various SREs (108,109,112,117–122,124,127,129,130,132,133, 135,137,138,141–143,145–148). Overall, the trials provided moderate strength of evidence that bisphosphonates reduce the risk of SREs. The six studies that reported hazard ratios for time to first SRE (any) in comparisons of zolendronate (four studies) or ibandronate (two studies) found a statistically significant benefit of bisphosphonates over placebo (HR = 0.71; 95% CI 0.61, 0.84) (109,117,119,133,137,146). Eighteen trials found a reduction in risk of any SRE, yielding a summary RR = 0.81 (95% CI 0.76, 0.86) (108,109,117–122,124,127,133,135,137–139,145–147). Four trials explicitly reported on the risk of osteonecrosis of the jaw (109,125,132,142). Across the studies, there were no occurrences of this adverse event with either bisphosphonates (n = 460) or placebo (n = 450).

Choice of bisphosphonates

Seven eligible studies compared different bisphosphonates in patients with various cancers with bone metastases – mostly breast, prostate and non-small cell lung cancer (148–154). The evidence is relatively sparse, with only seven studies evaluating four

bisphosphonates (clodronate, ibandronate, pamidronate and zoledronate). Study participants were generally older, with study mean ages ranging from 53 to 73 years of age.

With only two or three studies evaluating pain control, there is low strength of evidence of no differences in relief of pain or mean changes in pain scores across the different bisphosphonates. From one study, pain relief on ibandronate (6%) was less common than on other bisphosphonates (15–26% in one or two studies for each medicine). Changes in pain (as a continuous measure from 0 to 100 [worst]) were similar for each of the four bisphosphonates (-3.3 to -5.0).

Two studies provided very low strength of evidence regarding duration of pain relief. One study found no difference in average duration of pain relief in patients with a variety of cancers (about half of them lung cancer) between ibandronate (5.5 months) and pamidronate (5.2 months) (151). One study reported that in patients with prostate cancer those taking clodronate had longer duration of pain relief (13 months) than those taking zolendronate (9 months, P = 0.03) (152).

Six studies provided very low strength of evidence regarding SREs. Broadly similar percentages of people had any SRE across bisphosphonates (18–26%, with no data on pamidronate). Within studies, fracture rates were mostly similar between bisphosphonates, except in one study of people with breast cancer in which 16% of those taking clodronate had fractures compared with 7% taking pamidronate (P = 0.03). Three studies found no significant differences in rates of spinal cord compression across bisphosphonates. Two studies found no significant differences in rates of bone radiotherapy across bisphosphonates and three studies found no significant differences in rates of bone surgery across bisphosphonates.

Three studies reported on rates of hypercalcaemia across bisphosphonates. Two of these found no differences in the incidence of hypercalcaemia between ibandronate (10.7%) and zolendronate (9.3%), and between clodronate (2.9%) and zolendronate (1.4%) respectively. The third trial reported that the hypercalcaemia rate in the zolendronate group (28%) was lower compared with ibandronate (45%) (RR = 0.64; 95% Cl 0.39, 1.03) and compared with pamidronate (50%) (RR = 0.57; 95% Cl 0.35, 0.91).

Three studies reported rare rates of osteonecrosis of the jaw for clodronate (1.5%), ibandronate (0.7%), and zolendronate (1.2%), providing low strength of evidence. No studies reported on quality of life.

Rationale

The GDG agreed that the balance of effect fell strongly in favour of prescribing bisphosphonates to appropriate populations when compared with placebo. Osteonecrosis of the mandible, considered a serious adverse event, was deemed sufficiently rare (no cases were observed in the eligible trials; n = 910) that the expected benefits outweighed the risks of harm. Clinicians might differ in their preferences for the use of certain bisphosphonates, since there is evidence of differences in renal adverse effects and therefore the degree to which renal pathologies are be contraindications (155).

The GDG believed that most patients would prefer bisphosphonates over placebo. However, the GDG recognized that bisphosphonates are also expensive, and often prohibitively so. The use of bisphosphonates in populations of older women with osteoporosis and in breast cancer patients with bone metastases has been deemed cost saving or cost effective (depending on population) in a number of high-income countries (156-158). It remains to be seen whether these savings would apply to lowerincome settings.

Most of the RCTs were conducted with intermittent intravenous administration. Consideration was given to the issue that administration of the bisphosphonates should be intravenous, but this was not deemed to be a sufficiently significant barrier to administration that the strength of the recommendation should be attenuated. The GDG therefore made a strong recommendation in favour of bisphosphonates.

The GDG did not think patients would have major reasons to prefer one bisphosphonate over another and considered that there would be only minor variability.

When these considerations are combined, the GDG felt that equity could be affected in either direction. Taking into account the inconclusive evidence and other considerations, the GDG agreed that it could not make a recommendation for one bisphosphonate over another.

6.5.2. MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

Monoclonal antibodies to various targets, including osteoclasts and nerve growth factor, have been studied for management of bone pain due to cancer.

No recommendation

WHO makes no recommendation for or against the use of monoclonal antibodies to prevent and treat bone pain.

Summary of the evidence

Monoclonals compared to placebo

A single small trial compared monoclonals to placebo (see **Annex 3**, Evidence Profile 5.2.3). The study evaluated tanezumab in 59 adults with prostate cancer, breast cancer, renal cell carcinoma or multiple myeloma with painful bone metastases (ages 32 to 77 years; mean age 56 years) (159). The trial provided very low strength of evidence of no difference in average or worst pain between groups (between-group differences -2.6

[95% CI -11.8, 6.6] and -0.1 [95% CI -9.3, 9.1] respectively), and in the percentage of people who achieved pain relief (by at least 50%) (RR = 1.38; 95% CI 0.55, 3.49). The trial did not report on speed of pain relief, duration of pain relief maintenance, quality of life or functional outcomes. The trial provided very low strength of evidence regarding SREs, reporting only that 1 of 29 (3.4%) patients in the tanezumab arm had a femur fracture but, implicitly, none of the 30 people on placebo had a fracture (although one had undefined metastatic disease progression). No study reported on osteonecrosis of the jaw.

Choice of monoclonals

No eligible trials were found comparing specific monoclonal antibodies with other monoclonal antibodies for preventing and treating bone pain.

Rationale

The GDG could not make a recommendation for or against monoclonal antibodies compared with placebo on the basis of one eligible trial.

The GDG also made no recommendation for or against the use of particular monoclonal antibodies in preference to other monoclonal antibodies to prevent and treat bone pain.

6.5.3. COMPARISON OF BISPHOSPHONATES OR MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

No recommendation

WHO makes no recommendation for or against the comparative advantage of monoclonal antibodies over bisphosphonates to prevent and treat bone pain.

Summary of the evidence

Nine eligible trials compared monoclonal antibodies and bisphosphonates (159-168). All evaluated the monoclonal denosumab and six evaluated zolendronate. Pamidronate and a variety of bisphosphonates (based on local practice) were also evaluated. Studies included patients with metastatic bone lesions, mostly from breast or prostate cancer, but also non-small cell lung cancer, multiple myeloma and other cancers. Three trials with identical protocols (163-165) except for cancer inclusion criteria were separately conducted and reported and were also combined and reported in a summary article (168). Patient ages varied widely across studies. Studies were not explicit about what other medicines (including those for pain relief) patients were taking, but an informed assumption was made that the monoclonals and bisphosphonates were used as adjuvant therapies to treat or to prevent bone pain from metastases.

A single large trial of people with either breast cancer or multiple myeloma compared denosumab and zoledronate and provided low strength of evidence for no difference in pain relief (RR = 0.89; 95% CI 0.67, 1.10) and in time until pain relief (speed) (HR = 1.02; 95% CI 0.91, 1.15), and very low strength of evidence for no difference in quality of life (RR = 1.08; 95% CI 0.95, 1.23) (174). No trial evaluated pain reduction maintenance.

Across six trials, there was high-quality evidence that rates of any SRE (RR = 0.86; 95% CI 0.81, 0.91) and fracture (RR = 0.88; 95% CI 0.78, 0.96), bone radiation therapy (RR = 0.80; 95% CI 0.73, 0.88) and hypercalcaemia (RR = 0.58; 95% CI 0.34, 0.81) were statistically significantly more common among those treated with bisphosphonates. Two trials provided low strength of evidence for functional outcomes. Three trials provide high strength of evidence that the risk of osteonecrosis of the jaw is higher with denosumab than with bisphosphonates, with a summary RR = 1.40 (95% CI 0.92, 2.13).

Rationale

The systematic review of evidence suggests that monoclonals reduce the risk of SREs and may improve functional outcomes more than bisphosphonates do, but that they increase the risk of osteonecrosis of the jaw. The choice of monoclonals or bisphosphonates may make little or no difference to bone pain or time to pain relief. Monoclonal antibody regimens involve a lower medicine-administration burden than bisphosphonates do, which patients would prefer, but monoclonals have a significantly higher cost. Osteonecrosis of the jaw (which is higher with monoclonal antibodies) is an outcome sufficiently adverse that the GDG believed it could affect patient preferences, but its expected disutility to patients must be weighed against the expected disutility of SREs which is higher with bisphosphonates.

Although there are relative benefits to the use of denosumab compared with bisphosphonates, the relative cost of denosumab is disproportionate to those benefits. The GDG agreed it they could not recommend one medicine category over the other on these grounds.

6.5.4. SINGLE-FRACTION RADIOTHERAPY COMPARED WITH HIGH-FRACTIONATED RADIOTHERAPY

Radiotherapy is used to reduce analgesic requirements, improve quality of life, and maintain or improve skeletal function by mitigating the risk of pathological fractures and spinal cord compression. Palliative radiotherapy is indicated for bone pain after the appearance of a new painful site and after insufficient beneficial effect from an initial radiotherapy treatment (169).

Recommendation

In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to bone metastases, single-dose fractionated radiotherapy should be used when radiotherapy is indicated and available. (*Strong recommendation; high-quality evidence*)

Remarks

This recommendation applies to people who already have painful metastases; it is not a recommendation concerning preventive radiotherapy.

Considerations

Use of low-fractionated (single-dose) radiotherapy probably has beneficial effects on treatment coverage, waiting times and financial savings.

Summary of the evidence

Twenty-three eligible RCTs compared low-fractionated to high-fractionated radiotherapy (See **Annex 3**, Evidence Profile 6.1) (170–193). Almost all used a single fractionation of 8 Gy in the low fractionation arms (two older studies used single fractionations of either 10 Gy or a range from 8 to 15 Gy; one study arm which used 5 Gy was omitted). High-fractionated radiotherapy ranged from 20 to 30 Gy, mostly given over 5–10 fractions. These trials included patients with a variety of cancer types, with breast, prostate and lung cancers included in most trials. Among trials that reported participant ages, study participants were mostly older adults; the mean age ranged from 48 to 72 years, with the youngest participant being 16 years of age.

There is high-quality evidence that the different fractionation schedules were similarly effective in terms of producing pain relief and improvement. Under both schedules 25% or 26% of participants achieved complete pain relief (RR = 0.97; 95% CI 0.89, 1.06) and 69% or 71% of participants achieved either complete or partial pain relief (RR = 0.97; 95% CI 0.93, 0.998). Pain relief was infrequently reported on a continuous scale. Three trials provided low-quality evidence of no difference between fractionation schedules. The trials could not be quantitatively combined but all reported statistically nonsignificant differences.

Three studies reported on pain relief speed (i.e. time to complete response), providing moderate strength of no difference between radiotherapy schedules; however, all studies reported outcomes vaguely, either as survival curves showing nonsignificant differences or reporting that pain relief was achieved in two weeks in both study arms. Nine studies reported on the duration of pain relief (pain reduction maintenance), providing moderate quality evidence of no difference between radiotherapy schedules. Most studies reported no significant difference between radiotherapy schedules without providing data; one trial reported HR = 0.91 (95% CI 0.46, 1.82).

There is high-quality evidence that pathological fractures at the treatment (index) site are more common with low-fractionated than high-fractionated radiotherapy. Across studies, about 3-4% of patients had a pathological fracture at the index site (RR = 1.48; 95% Cl 1.08, 2.03). There is high-quality evidence that spinal cord compression (among those treated for spinal metastases) are more common with low-fractionated (2.2%) than high-fractionated radiotherapy (1.4%), although the difference was not statistically significant. Across studies, the RR = 1.45 (95% Cl 0.89, 2.37).

Rationale

The GDG agreed that there was no difference in benefit between low-fractionated (single-dose) or high-fractionated (multiple-dose) radiotherapy with respect to the critical outcomes of bone pain relief, speed or duration of pain relief. The GDG recognized that there was high-quality evidence that the important outcome of risk of fracture at the treatment site was greater in those receiving low-fractionated radio-therapy compared to high-fractionated (multiple-dose) radiotherapy.

The GDG observed that there was likely to be minor variability among patient values and preferences with regard to low-fractionated therapy with fewer trips to receive treatment being an advantage. Similarly, there was likely to be minor variability in acceptability among health-care workers for providing single-dose radiotherapy. Low-fractionated radiotherapy – where a patient receives a larger single dose (e.g. an 8 Gy fraction) in a single clinic visit - is less expensive in terms of both time and money than a longer schedule in which a patient receives smaller individual doses but an overall greater amount of radiotherapy over several visits (e.g. 20-30 Gy given over 5–10 fractions) (194). Therefore, the GDG established that the negligible clinical differences between the schedules with respect to pain, coupled with the large cost and equity benefits of single-fraction radiotherapy, favoured single-dose over multiple-dose radiotherapy where indicated despite the increase in fracture risk. If more patients were to be given single-dose therapy in settings where there is a shortage of radiation equipment and staff, the same resources could be used for greater coverage, as well as reducing patients' costs, such as those for travel, making the single-dose option the most feasible. For these reasons and the high quality of evidence, the recommendation was strong.

6.5.5. RADIOISOTOPES FOR BONE PAIN

Radioisotopes are sometimes administered for diffuse bone pain that cannot be treated with radiotherapy.

No recommendation

WHO makes no recommendation for or against the use of radioisotopes for achieving pain control in adults and adolescents with pain related to bone metastases.

Summary of the evidence

Three RCTs compared radioisotopes to a control arm that did not use radioisotopes (119,195,196). All three trials were conducted in men with prostate cancer. The studies evaluated Strontium-89 (two trials) and Samarium-153 (one trial). Trial participants were mostly older adults with a mean age ranging from 69 to 71 years. A single very small trial of 24 participants provided very low quality of evidence of better bone pain relief with radioisotope treatment (RR = 21; 1.37, 322) and a net difference in bone pain on VAS of -38 points (95% CI -47, -29) (low quality of evidence). No trial reported pain relief speed or pain reduction maintenance.

Two trials provided high quality of evidence that SREs were less common after radioisotope treatment than placebo (RR = 0.86; 95% CI 0.77, 0.95) and that SREs were delayed among those who had received radioisotopes compared with placebo (HR = 0.73; 95% CI 0.62, 0.86). The two trials provided low quality of evidence of similar risk of fracture (RR = 1.05; 95% CI 0.53, 2.08) and spinal cord compression (RR = 0.82; 95% CI 0.39, 1.71). One trial provided moderate quality of evidence of fewer episodes of bone pain (reported as an adverse event) with radiotherapy (RR = 0.81; 95% CI 0.71, 0.91). Another study provided very low quality of evidence of no significant differences in improvements in quality of life (RR = 0.97; 95% CI 0.68, 1.24).

Rationale

The GDG noted that, in patients with prostate cancer, use of radioisotopes reduces and delays SREs, probably improves quality of life, and may provide greater bone pain relief. However, the GDG decided not to make a recommendation for or against the use of radioisotopes because of their prohibitive cost and the lack of generalizbility of the current evidence, which was drawn only from men with prostate cancer.

7. RESEARCH AGENDA

In general, despite decades of research into cancer pain management, the evidence was scant or lacking for several critical clinical questions, limiting development of recommendations in these areas.

Differences in trial protocols, differences in the measurement of pain outcomes, and significant heterogeneity among trial participants limited opportunities for pooling results using meta-analysis. It would be helpful for the continuous building of evidence if assessment and measurement of pain are standardized in future cancer pain management trials to allow for statistical data synthesis. For example, a validated scale may be endorsed by country associations and recommended for use in clinical practice and research.

The risk of bias was noted to be high across many trials. Future trials should conform to standard RCT methods and investigators should ensure that methodological quality is not compromised during the conduct of the trial. The CONSORT statement provides a useful template for reporting clinical trials (*197*).

Clinical trial evidence was absent or very limited for the use of several adjuvant therapies, including choice of corticosteroid, and for anticonvulsants and antidepressants, despite these being part of established practice for cancer pain management. Trial research is urgently needed to address the clinical uncertainty apparent in this area. Trial data may provide supportive data to recommend the practice or, importantly, indicate if there is no benefit, or indeed harm, thus allowing for amendment of current clinical protocols to reduce unnecessary cost and avoid potential harms. Outcomes should include efficacy, safety and pharmaco-economic outcomes. Comparisons should not only be against placebo but also against analgesics and other medicines.

As in many fields, most trials were conducted in high-income settings. Research on cancer pain management should be prioritized in low- and middle-income countries where cancer is increasing significantly. As outlined in the Lancet Commission Report on Palliative Care and Pain Relief, trial investigators may wish to measure serious health-related suffering as an outcome and evaluate an essential, affordable package of palliative care and pain relief interventions (5). The latter may be best assessed by using an implementation science approach and a pragmatic trial study design. Studies are also required on the optimal route of administration for opioids and on the cost-effectiveness thereof.

Research on opioids should take account of the ongoing opioid crisis in North America and evaluate the risk for substance misuse in all trials of opioid use across different settings. Evidence-based protocols for opioid cessation should be evaluated in patients with cancer pain who no longer require pain management in order to better guide cancer pain clinicians in this area.

A global landscape analysis of the effects of restrictive legislation and regulations (including the negative effects of barriers to adequate access to opioids) will be helpful. Such an analysis may include an evaluation of the reasons why, in some countries (e.g. in Europe), opioids are available but have not resulted in an opioid crisis of the scale observed in North America.

The use of cannabinoids was not included as a PICO question in this guidelines process but is currently being widely investigated for both chronic non-cancer and cancerrelated pain; trials and syntheses of current data on cannabinoids for cancer pain are warranted.

INTERESTS DECLARED BY PERSONS INVOLVED IN GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT

For full details of these declared interests and GDG and ERG member characteristics, see **Annex 4**: Background to the development of the guidelines and details of personnel. Of the invited experts who became GDG members, none declared potential conflicts of interest that were deemed to require specific management in GDG meetings or during the guideline development process.

FUNDING SOURCES

To comply with WHO policy, no commercial entity funding has been used to produce these guidelines. Only WHO core funds have been used in the production of these guidelines.

REFERENCES

1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jema A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 2018;0:1–31.

2. van den Beuken-van Everdingen MH, Hochstenbach LM, Joosten EA, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Janssen DJ. Update on prevalence of pain in patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2016;51:1070–90.

3. International Association for the Study of Pain. IASP Terminology (http://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698, accessed 9 October 2018).

4. Haun MW, Estel S, Rücker G, Friederich HC, Villalobos M, Thomas M et al. Early palliative care for adults with advanced cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(6):CD011129.

5. Knaul FM, Farmer PE, Krakauer EL, De Lima L, Bhadelia A, Jiang Kwete X et al. Alleviating the access abyss in palliative care and pain relief – an imperative of universal health coverage: the Lancet Commission report. Lancet. 2018;391(10128):1391–454.

6. International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. United Nations General Assembly resolution 2200A (XXI), 16 December 1966 (entry into force 1976). New York (NY): United Nations; 1966.

7. United Nations Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs 1961, as amended by the 1972 protocol. New York (NY): United Nations; 1972 (https://www.unodc.org/pdf/convention_1961_en.pdf, accessed 24 September 2018).

8. Resolution WHA67.19. Strengthening of palliative care as a component of comprehensive care throughout the life course. Sixty-seventh World Health Assembly, 9–14 May 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://apps.who.int/ medicinedocs/en/d/Js21454ar/, accessed 24 September 2018).

9. Seya M-J, Gelders SFAM, Achara OU, Barbara M, Scholten WK. A first comparison between the consumption of and the need for opioid analgesics at country, regional, and global Levels. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2011;25:6–18.

10. WHO Package of Essential Noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care in low-resource settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.

11. Sharkey L, Loring B, Cowan M, Riley L, Krakauer EL. National palliative care capacities around the world: results from the World Health Organization Noncommunicable Disease Country Capacity Survey. Palliat Med. 2018;32:106–13.

12. Manchikanti L, Helm S 2nd, Fellows B, Janata JW, Pampati V, Grider JS et al. Opioid epidemic in the United States. Pain Physician. 2012;15:ES9–38.

13. Opioid overdose: understanding the epidemic. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018 (https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/epidemic/index. html, accessed 24 September 2018).

14. Haffajee RL, Mello MM. Drug companies' liability for the opioid epidemic. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:2301–5.

15. Manchikanti L, Kaye AM, Kaye AD. Current state of opioid therapy and abuse. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2016;20:34.

16. Häuser W, Petzke F, Radbruch L, Tölle TR. The opioid epidemic and the longterm opioid therapy for chronic noncancer pain revisited: a transatlantic perspective. Pain Management. 2016;6:249-63.

17. Cancer pain relief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1986.

18. Cancer pain relief, second edition. With a guide to opioid availability. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1996.

19. Cancer pain relief and palliative care in children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1998.

20. Vargas-Schaffer G. Is the WHO analgesic ladder still valid? Twenty-four years of experience. Canadian family physician/Médecin de famille canadien. 2010;56:514–7.

21. Schmidt-Hansen M, Bromham N, Taubert M, Arnold S, Hilgart JS. Buprenorphine for treating cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(3):CD009596.

22. Skaer TL. Transdermal opioids for cancer pain. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2006;4:24.

23. Gélinas C, Fillion L, Puntillo KA, Viens C, Fortier M. Validation of the criticalcare pain observation tool in adult patients. Am J Crit Care. 2006;15:420-7.

24. Rubin G, Berendsen A, Crawford SM, Dommett R, Earle C, Emery J et al. The expanding role of primary care in cancer control. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:1231–72.

25. Mills S, Torrance N, Smith BH. Identification and management of chronic pain in primary care: a review. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2016;18:22.

26. Krakauer EL, Wenk R, Buitrago R, Jenkins P, Scholten W. Opioid inaccessibility and its human consequences: reports from the field. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2010;24:239–43.

27. Ensuring balance in national policies on controlled substances. Guidance for availability and accessibility of controlled medicines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. 28. Jacox A, Carr DB, Payne R. New clinical-practice guidelines for the management of pain in patients with cancer. N Engl J Med.1994;330:651–5.

29. Graham GG, Davies MJ, Day RO, Mohamudally A, Scott KF. The modern pharmacology of paracetamol: therapeutic actions, mechanism of action, metabolism, toxicity and recent pharmacological findings. Inflammopharmacology. 2013;21:201–32.

30. Cherny NI, Fallon MT, Kaasa S, Portenoy RK, Currow DC, editors. Oxford textbook of palliative medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.

31. Bandieri E, Romero M, Ripamonti CI, Artioli F, Sichetti D, Fanizza C et al. Randomized trial of low-dose morphine versus weak opioids in moderate cancer pain. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:436–42.

32. Strobel E. [Drug therapy in severe tumor pain. Comparative study of a new combination preparation versus diclofenac-Na]. Fortschr Med. 1992;110:411-4.

33. Zecca E, Brunelli C, Bracchi P, Biancofiore G, De Sangro C, Bortolussi R et al. Comparison of the tolerability profile of controlled-release oral morphine and oxycodone for cancer pain treatment. An open-label randomized controlled trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2016;52(6):783–94.

34. Riley J, Branford R, Droney J, Gretton S, Sato H, Kennett A et al. Morphine or oxycodone for cancer-related pain? A randomized, open-label, controlled trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2015;49(2)161–72.

35. Corli O, Floriani I, Roberto A, Montanari M, Galli F, Greco MT et al. Are strong opioids equally effective and safe in the treatment of chronic cancer pain? A multicenter randomized phase IV "real life" trial on the variability of response to opioids. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:1107–15.

36. Ahmedzai S, Brooks D. Transdermal fentanyl versus sustained-release oral morphine in cancer pain: preference, efficacy, and quality of life. The TTS-Fentanyl Comparative Trial Group. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1997;13:254–61.

37. Arkinstall WW, Goughnour BR, White JA, Stewart JH. Control of severe pain with sustained-release morphine tablets v. oral morphine solution. CMAJ. 1989;140:653-7.

38. Beaver WT, Wallenstein SL, Houde RW, Rogers A. A clinical comparison of the analgesic effects of methadone and morphine administered intramuscularly, and of orally and parenterally administered methadone. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1967;8:415–26.

39. Broomhead A, Kerr R, Tester W, O'Meara P, Maccarrone C, Bowles R et al. Comparison of a once-a-day sustained-release morphine formulation with standard oral morphine treatment for cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1997;14:63–73.

40. Bruera E, Belzile M, Pituskin E, Fainsinger R, Darke A, Harsanyi Z et al. Randomized, double-blind, cross-over trial comparing safety and efficacy of oral

controlled-release oxycodone with controlled-release morphine in patients with cancer pain. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16:3222–9.

41. Chen Y, Zhu W, Liang H, Wu G. The analgesic effect of ibuprofen-codeine sustained release tablets on postoperative and cancer pain. Chinese Journal of Clinical Rehabilitation 2003;7:1290–1.

42. Finn JW, Walsh TD, MacDonald N, Bruera E, Krebs LU, Shepard KV. Placeboblinded study of morphine sulfate sustained-release tablets and immediate-release morphine sulfate solution in outpatients with chronic pain due to advanced cancer. Journal of clinical oncology. 1993;11(5):967–72.

43. Gabrail NY, Dvergsten C, Ahdieh H. Establishing the dosage equivalency of oxymorphone extended release and oxycodone controlled release in patients with cancer pain: a randomized controlled study. Curr Med Res Opin. 2004;20:911–8.

44. Hagen NA, Babul N. Comparative clinical efficacy and safety of a novel controlled-release oxycodone formulation and controlled-release hydromorphone in the treatment of cancer pain. Cancer. 1997;79:1428–37.

45. Hanna M, Thipphawong J, The 118 Study Group. A randomized, double-blind comparison of OROS(R) hydromorphone and controlled-release morphine for the control of chronic cancer pain. BMC Palliat Care. 2008;7:17.

46. Heiskanen T, Kalso E. Controlled-release oxycodone and morphine in cancer related pain. Pain. 1997;73:37–45.

47. Homsi J, Walsh D, Lasheen W, Nelson KA, Rybicki LA, Bast J et al. A comparative study of 2 sustained-release morphine preparations for pain in advanced cancer. Am J Hosp Palliat Care. 2010;27:99–105.

48. Kalso E, Vainio A. Morphine and oxycodone hydrochloride in the management of cancer pain. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1990;47:639–46.

49. Klepstad P, Kaasa S, Jystad A, Hval B, Borchgrevink PC. Immediate- or sustained-release morphine for dose finding during start of morphine to cancer patients: a randomized, double-blind trial. Pain. 2003;101:193–8.

50. Koch A, Bergman B, Holmberg E, Sederholm C, Ek L, Kosieradzki J et al. Effect of celecoxib on survival in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a double blind randomised clinical phase III trial (CYCLUS study) by the Swedish Lung Cancer Study Group. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47:1546–55.

51. Kress HG, Koch ED, Kosturski H, Steup A, Karcher K, Dogan C et al. Direct conversion from tramadol to tapentadol prolonged release for moderate to severe, chronic malignant tumour-related pain. Eur J Pain. 2016;20:1513–8.

52. Marinangeli F, Ciccozzi A, Aloisio L, Colangeli A, Paladini A, Bajocco C et al. Improved cancer pain treatment using combined fentanyl-TTS and tramadol. Pain Pract. 2007;7:307–2.

53. Mercadante S, Casuccio A, Agnello A, Serretta R, Calderone L, Barresi L et al. Morphine versus methadone in the pain treatment of advanced-cancer patients followed up at home. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16:3656–61.

54. Minotti V, Betti M, Ciccarese G, Fumi G, Tonato M, Del Favero A. A doubleblind study comparing two single-dose regimens of ketorolac with diclofenac in pain due to cancer. Pharmacotherapy. 1998;18:504–8.

55. Mucci-LoRusso P, Berman BS, Silberstein PT, Citron ML, Bressler L, Weinstein SM et al. Controlled-release oxycodone compared with controlled-release morphine in the treatment of cancer pain: a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group study. Eur J Pain. 1998;2:239–49.

56. Pannuti F, Robustelli della Cuna G, Ventaffrida V, Strocchi E, Camaggi CM, The TD/10 recordati Protocol Study Group. A double-blind evaluation of the analgesic efficacy and toxicity of oral ketorolac and diclofenac in cancer pain. Tumori. 1999;85:96–100.

57. Poulain P. A study to evaluate the effectiveness and safety of CG5503 (tapentadol) in the treatment of chronic tumor-related pain compared with placebo and morphine. ClinicalTrials.gov 2010; NCT00505414.

58. Rodríguez MJ, Contreras D, Gálvez R, Castro A, Camba MA, Busquets C et al. Double-blind evaluation of short-term analgesic efficacy of orally administered dexketoprofen trometamol and ketorolac in bone cancer pain. Pain. 2003;104:103–10.

59. Ventafridda V, Ripamonti C, Bianchi M, Sbanotto A, De Conno F. A randomized study on oral administration of morphine and methadone in the treatment of cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1986;1:203–7.

60. Walsh TD, MacDonald N, Bruera E, Shepard KV, Michaud M, Zanes R. A controlled study of sustained-release morphine sulfate tablets in chronic pain from advanced cancer. Am J Clin Oncol. 1992;15(3):268–72.

61. Wilder-Smith CH, Schimke J, Osterwalder B, Senn HJ. Oral tramadol, a muopioid agonist and monoamine reuptake-blocker, and morphine for strong cancerrelated pain. Ann Oncol. 1994;5:141-6.

62. Wong JO, Chiu GL, Tsao CJ, Chang CL. Comparison of oral controlled-release morphine with transdermal fentanyl in terminal cancer pain. Acta Anaesthesiol Sin. 1997;35:25–32.

63. Dellemijn PL, Verbiest HB, van Vliet JJ, Roos PJ, Vecht CJ. Medical therapy of malignant nerve pain. A randomised double-blind explanatory trial with naproxen versus slow-release morphine. Eur J Cancer. 1994;30a:1244–50.

64. Moertel CG, Ahmann DL, Taylor WF, Schwartau N. Aspirin and pancreatic cancer pain. Gastroenterology. 1971;60:552–3.

65. Staquet M, Gantt C, Machin D. Effect of a nitrogen analog of tetrahydrocannabinol on cancer pain. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1978;23:397–401.

66. Staquet M, Luyckx A, Van Cauwenberge H. A double-blind comparison of alclofenac, pentazocine, and codeine with placebo control in pathologic pain. J Clin Pharmacol New Drugs. 1971;11:450–5.

67. Staquet M, Renaud A. Double-blind, randomized trial of piroxicam and codeine in cancer pain. Curr Ther Res. 1993;53:435–40.

68. Minotti V, Patoia L, Roila F, Basurto C, Tonato M, Pasqualucci V et al. Doubleblind evaluation of short-term analgesic efficacy of orally administered diclofenac, diclofenac plus codeine, and diclofenac plus imipramine in chronic cancer pain. Pain. 1998;74:133–7.

69. Bauer M, Schmid H, Schulz-Wentland R. Gynecologic carcinoma patients with chronic pain. Comparison of sublingual buprenorphine with tilidine plus naloxone. Therapiewoche. 1985;35:3943-7.

70. Poulain P, Denier W, Douma J, Hoerauf K, Samija M, Sopata M et al. Efficacy and safety of transdermal buprenorphine: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial in 289 patients with severe cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2008;36:117–25.

71. Ferrer-Brechner T, Ganz P. Combination therapy with ibuprofen and methadone for chronic cancer pain. Am J Med. 1984:77:78–83.

72. Sittl R, Griessinger N, Likar R. Analgesic efficacy and tolerability of transdermal buprenorphine in patients with inadequately controlled chronic pain related to cancer and other disorders: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Clin Ther. 2003;25:150–68.

73. Rodriguez M, Barutell C, Rull M, Gálvez R, Pallarés J, Vidal F et al. Efficacy and tolerance of oral dipyrone versus oral morphine for cancer pain. Eur J Cancer. 1994;30a:584–7.

74. Xiao Y, Liu J, Huang XE, Ca LH, Ma YM, Wei W et al. Clinical study on fluvoxamine combined with oxycodone prolonged-release tablets in treating patients with moderate to severe cancer pain. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15:10445-9.

75. Rodriguez R, Bravo LE, Castro F, Montoya O, Castillo JM, Castillo MP et al. Incidence of weak opioids adverse events in the management of cancer pain: a doubleblind comparative trial. J Palliat Med. 2007;10:56-60. 76. Kress HG, Koch ED, Kosturski H, Steup A, Karcher K, Lange B et al. Tapentadol prolonged release for managing moderate to severe, chronic malignant tumor-related pain. Pain Physician. 2014;17(4):329–43.

77. Portenoy RKH, Hagen NA. Breakthrough pain: definition, prevalence and characteristics. Pain. 1990;41:273–81.

78. Mercadante S, Bruera E. Opioid switching: a systematic and critical review. Cancer Treat Rev. 2006;32:304–15.

79. Caraceni A, Hanks G, Kaasa S, Bennett MI, Brunelli C, Cherny N et al. Use of opioid analgesics in the treatment of cancer pain: evidence-based recommendations from the EAPC. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:e58–68.

80. Knudsen J, Mortensen SM, Eikard B, Henriksen H. [Morphine depot tablets compared with conventional morphine tablets in the treatment of cancer pain]. Ugeskr Laeger. 1985;147:780-4.

81. Thirlwell MP, Sloan PA, Maroun JA, Boos GJ, Besner JG, Stewart JH et al. Pharmacokinetics and clinical efficacy of oral morphine solution and controlled-release morphine tablets in cancer patients. Cancer. 1989;63:2275–83.

82. Cundiff D, McCarthy K, Savarese JJ, Kaiko R, Thomas G, Grandy R et al. Evaluation of a cancer pain model for the testing of long-acting analgesics. The effect of MS Contin in a double-blind, randomized crossover design. Cancer. 1989;63:2355–9.

83. Ventafridda V, Saita L, Barletta L, Sbanotto A, De Conno F. Clinical observations on controlled-release morphine in cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1989;4:124–9.

84. Hanks GW, Twycross RG, Bliss JM. Controlled release morphine tablets: a double-blind trial in patients with advanced cancer. Anaesthesia. 1987;42:840-4.

85. Gourlay GK, Cherry DA, Onley MM, Tordoff SG, Conn DA, Hood GM et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of twenty-four-hourly Kapanol compared to twelve-hourly MS Contin in the treatment of severe cancer pain. Pain. 1997;69:295–302.

86. Gillette J, Ferme C, Moisy N, Mignot L, Schach R, Vignaux J-R et al. Doubleblind crossover clinical and pharmacokinetic comparison of oral morphine syrup and sustained release morphine sulfate capsules in patients with cancer-related pain. Clin Drug Investig. 1997;14:22–7.

87. Walsh T. Clinical evaluation of slow release morphine tablets. Adv Pain Res Ther. 1985;9:727–31.

88. Moulin DE, Kreeft JH, Murray-Parsons N, Bouquillon AI. Comparison of continuous subcutaneous and intravenous hydromorphone infusions for management of cancer pain. Lancet. 1991;337:465–8. 89. Gowing L, Ali R, White JM, Mbewe D. Buprenorphine for managing opioid withdrawal. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(2):CD002025.

90. Amato L, Davoli M, Minozzi S, Ferroni E, Ali R, Ferri M. Methadone at tapered doses for the management of opioid withdrawal. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(2):CD003409.

91. Bruera E, Watanabe S. Corticosteroids as adjuvant analgesics. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1994;9(7):442–5.

92. Bruera E, Roca E, Cedaro L, Carraro S, Chacon R. Action of oral methylprednisolone in terminal cancer patients: a prospective randomized double-blind study. Cancer Treat Rep. 1985;69:751-4.

93. Popiela T, Lucchi R, Giongo F. Methylprednisolone as palliative therapy for female terminal cancer patients. The Methylprednisolone Female Preterminal Cancer Study Group. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol. 1989;25:1823–9.

94. Twycross RG, Guppy D. Prednisolone in terminal breast and bronchogenic cancer. Practitioner. 1985;229:57–9.

95. Della Cuna GR, Pellegrini A, Piazzi M. Effect of methylprednisolone sodium succinate on quality of life in preterminal cancer patients: a placebo-controlled, multi-center study. The Methylprednisolone Preterminal Cancer Study Group. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol. 1989;25:1817–21.

96. Bruera E, Moyano JR, Sala R, Rico MA, Bosnjak S, Bertolino M et al. Dexamethasone in addition to metoclopramide for chronic nausea in patients with advanced cancer: a randomized controlled trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2004;28:381–8.

97. Yennurajalingam S, Frisbee-Hume S, Palmer JL, Delgado-Guay MO, Bull J, Phan AT et al. Reduction of cancer-related fatigue with dexamethasone: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:3076–82.

98. Paulsen O, Klepstad P, Rosland JH, Aass N, Albert E, Fayers P et al. Efficacy of methylprednisolone on pain, fatigue, and appetite loss in patients with advanced cancer using opioids: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:3221–8.

99. Mishra S, Bhatnagar S, Goyal GN, Rana SP, Upadhya SP. A comparative efficacy of amitriptyline, gabapentin, and pregabalin in neuropathic cancer pain: a prospective randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. Am J Hosp Palliat Care. 2012;29:177–82.

100. Fallon MT. Neuropathic pain in cancer. Br J Anaesth. 2013;111:105-11.

101. Vedula SS, Bero L, Scherer RW, Dickersin K. Outcome reporting in industrysponsored trials of gabapentin for off-label use. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(320):1963-71. 102. Vedula SS, Goldman PS, Rona IJ, Greene TM, Dickersin K. Implementation of a publication strategy in the context of reporting biases. A case study based on new documents from Neurontin litigation. Trials. 2012;13:136.

103. Vedula SS, Li T, Dickersin K. Differences in reporting of analyses in internal company documents versus published trial reports: comparisons in industry-sponsored trials in off-label uses of gabapentin. PLoS Med. 2013;10:e1001378.

104. Dickersin K. Reporting and other biases in studies of Neurontin for migraine, psychiatric/bipolar disorders, nociceptive pain, and neuropathic pain. 2008 Online (https://www.industrydocumentslibrary.ucsf.edu/drug/docs/#id=njhw0217, accessed 26 September 2018).

105. Ripamonti Cl, Santini D, Maranzano E, Berti M, Roila F. Management of cancer pain: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl. 7):vii139–54.

106. Wong R, Wiffen PJ. Bisphosphonates for the relief of pain secondary to bone metastases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002:CD002068.

107. Hoskin P, Sundar S, Reczko K, Forsyth S, Mithal N, Sizer B et al. A multicenter randomized trial of Ibandronate compared with single-dose radiotherapy for localized metastatic bone pain in prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107(110):pii:djv197.

108. Body JJ, Diel IJ, Lichinitser MR, Kreuser ED, Dornoff W, Gorbunova VA et al. Intravenous ibandronate reduces the incidence of skeletal complications in patients with breast cancer and bone metastases. Ann Oncol. 2003;14:1399–405.

109. Body JJ, Diel IJ, Lichinitzer M, Lazarev A, Pecherstorfer M, Bell R et al. Oral ibandronate reduces the risk of skeletal complications in breast cancer patients with metastatic bone disease: results from two randomised, placebo-controlled phase III studies. Br J Cancer. 2004;90:1133–7.

110. Broom RJ, Hinder V, Sharples K, Proctor J, Duffey S, Pollard S et al. Everolimus and zoledronic acid in patients with renal cell carcinoma with bone metastases: a randomized first-line phase II trial. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2015;13:50–8.

111. Dearnaley DP, Sydes MR, Mason MD, Stott M, Powell CS, Robinson AC et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial of oral sodium clodronate for metastatic prostate cancer (MRC PR05 Trial). J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003;95:1300–11.

112. Diel I, Body JJ, Lichinitser MR, Kreuser ED, Dornoff W, Gorbunova VA et al. Improved quality of life after long-term treatment with the bisphosphonate ibandronate in patients with metastatic bone disease due to breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2004;40:1704–12.

113. Elomaa I, Kylmala T, Tammela T, Viitanen J, Ottelin J, Ruutu M et al. Effect of oral clodronate on bone pain. A controlled study in patients with metastatic prostatic cancer. Int Urol Nephrol. 1992;24:159–66.

114. Ernst DS, Brasher P, Hagen N, Paterson AH, MacDonald RN, Bruera E. A randomized, controlled trial of intravenous clodronate in patients with metastatic bone disease and pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1997;13:319–26.

115. Ernst DS, MacDonald N, Paterson AHG, Jensen J, Brasher P, Bruera E. A double-blind, crossover trial of intravenous clodronate in metastatic bone pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1992;7:4–11.

116. Ernst DS, Tannock IF, Winquist EW, Venner PM, Reyno L, Moore MJ et al. Randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of mitoxantrone/prednisone and clodronate versus mitoxantrone/prednisone and placebo in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer and pain. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3335–42.

117. Heras P, Kritikos K, Hatzopoulos A, Georgopoulou AP. Efficacy of ibandronate for the treatment of skeletal events in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Care. 2009;18:653–6.

118. Hortobagyi GN, Theriault RL, Porter L, Blayney D, Lipton A, Sinoff C et al. Efficacy of pamidronate in reducing skeletal complications in patients with breast cancer and lytic bone metastases. Protocol 19 Aredia Breast Cancer Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:1785–91.

119. James N, Pirrie S, Pope A, Barton D, Andronis L, Goranitis I et al. TRAPEZE: a randomised controlled trial of the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of chemotherapy with zoledronic acid, strontium-89, or both, in men with bony meta-static castration-refractory prostate cancer. Health Technol Assess. 2016;20:1–288.

120. Kanis JA, Powles T, Paterson AH, McCloskey EV, Ashley S. Clodronate decreases the frequency of skeletal metastases in women with breast cancer. Bone. 1996;19:663–7.

121. Kohno N, Aogi K, Minami H, Nakamura S, Asaga T, lino Y et al. Zoledronic acid significantly reduces skeletal complications compared with placebo in Japanese women with bone metastases from breast cancer: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:3314–21.

122. Kristensen B, Ejlertsen B, Groenvold M, Hein S, Loft H, Mouridsen HT. Oral clodronate in breast cancer patients with bone metastases: a randomized study. J Intern Med. 1999;246:67–74.

123. Kylmala T, Tammela T, Risteli L, Risteli J, Taube T, Elomaa I. Evaluation of the effect of oral clodronate on skeletal metastases with type 1 collagen metabolites. A controlled trial of the Finnish Prostate Cancer Group. Eur J Cancer. 1993;29A:821–5.

124. Lipton A, Theriault RL, Hortobagyi GN, Simeone J, Knight RD, Mellars K et al. Pamidronate prevents skeletal complications and is effective palliative treatment

in women with breast carcinoma and osteolytic bone metastases: long term follow-up of two randomized, placebo-controlled trials. Cancer. 2000;88:1082-90.

125. Martoni A, Guaraldi M, Camera P, Biagi R, Marri S, Beghe F et al. Controlled clinical study on the use of dichloromethylene diphosphonate in patients with breast carcinoma metastasizing to the skeleton. Oncology. 1991;48:97–101.

126. Meulenbeld H, van Werkhoven ED, Coenen JL, Creemers GJ, Loosveld OJ, de Jong PC et al. Randomised phase II/III study of docetaxel with or without risedronate in patients with metastatic Castration Resistant Prostate Cancer (CRPC), the Netherlands Prostate Study (NePro). Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:2993–3000.

127. Murakami H, Yamanaka T, Seto T, Sugio K, Okamoto I, Sawa T et al. Phase II study of zoledronic acid combined with docetaxel for non-small-cell lung cancer: West Japan Oncology Group. Cancer Sci. 2014;105:989–95.

128. O'Rourke N, McCloskey E, Houghton F, Huss H, Kanis JA. Double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-response trial of oral clodronate in patients with bone metastases. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13:929–34.

129. Pan Y, Jin H, Chen W, Yu Z, Ye T, Zheng Y et al. Docetaxel with or without zoledronic acid for castration-resistant prostate cancer. Int Urol Nephrol. 2014;46:2319–26.

130. Paterson AH, Powles TJ, Kanis JA, McCloskey E, Hanson J, Ashley S. Doubleblind controlled trial of oral clodronate in patients with bone metastases from breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:59–65.

131. Piga A, Bracci R, Ferretti B, Sandri P, Nortilli R, Acito L et al. A double blind randomized study of oral clodronate in the treatment of bone metastases from tumors poorly responsive to chemotherapy. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 1998;17:213–7.

132. Robertson AG, Reed NS, Ralston SH. Effect of oral clodronate on metastatic bone pain: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13:2427–30.

133. Rosen LS, Gordon D, Tchekmedyian S, Yanagihara R, Hirsh V, Krzakowski M et al. Zoledronic acid versus placebo in the treatment of skeletal metastases in patients with lung cancer and other solid tumors: a phase III, double-blind, randomized trial--the Zoledronic Acid Lung Cancer and Other Solid Tumors Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3150–7.

134. Siris ES, Hyman GA, Canfield RE. Effects of dichloromethylene diphosphonate in women with breast carcinoma metastatic to the skeleton. Am J Med. 1983;74:401-6.

135. Small EJ, Smith MR, Seaman JJ, Petrone S, Kowalski MO. Combined analysis of two multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled studies of pamidronate disodium

for the palliation of bone pain in men with metastatic prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4277–84.

136. Smith J, Jr. Palliation of painful bone metastases from prostate cancer using sodium etidronate: results of a randomized, prospective, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Urol. 1989;141:85–7.

137. Smith MR, Halabi S, Ryan CJ, Hussain A, Vogelzang N, Stadler W et al. Randomized controlled trial of early zoledronic acid in men with castration-sensitive prostate cancer and bone metastases: results of CALGB 90202 (alliance). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1143–50.

138. Theriault RL, Lipton A, Hortobagyi GN, Leff R, Glück S, Stewart JF et al. Pamidronate reduces skeletal morbidity in women with advanced breast cancer and lytic bone lesions: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Protocol 18 Aredia Breast Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:846–54.

139. Tripathy D, Lichinitzer M, Lazarev A, MacLachlan SA, Apffelstaedt J, Budde M et al. Oral ibandronate for the treatment of metastatic bone disease in breast cancer: efficacy and safety results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Oncol. 2004;15:743–50.

140. Tubiana-Hulin M, Beuzeboc P, Mauriac L, Barbet N, Frenay M, Monnier A et al. [Double-blinded controlled study comparing clodronate versus placebo in patients with breast cancer bone metastases]. Bull Cancer. 2001;88:701–7.

141. Ueno S, Mizokami A, Fukagai T, Fujimoto N, Oh-Oka H, Kondo Y et al. Efficacy of combined androgen blockade with zoledronic acid treatment in prostate cancer with bone metastasis: the ZABTON-PC (zoledronic acid/androgen blockade trial on prostate cancer) study. Anticancer Res. 2013;33:3837-44.

142. van Holten-Verzantvoort AT, Bijvoet OLM, Hermans J, Harinck HIJ, Elte JWF, Beex LVAM et al. Reduced morbidity from skeletal metastases in breast cancer patients during long-term bisphosphonate (APD) treatment. Lancet 2. 1987;330:983–5.

143. van Holten-Verzantvoort AT, Kroon HM, Bijvoet OL, Cleton FJ, Beex LV, Blijham G et al. Palliative pamidronate treatment in patients with bone metastases from breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:491–8.

144. Vinholes J, Purohit O, Abbey M, Eastell R, Coleman R. Relationships between biochemical and symptomatic response in a double-blind randomised trial of pamidronate for metastatic bone disease. Ann Oncol. 1997;8:1243-50.

145. Wang Y, Tao H, Yu X, Wang Z, Wang M. Clinical significance of zoledronic acid and strontium-89 in patients with asymptomatic bone metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer. 2013;14:254–60.

146. Zaghloul MS, Boutrus R, El-Hossieny H, Kader YA, El-Attar I, Nazmy M. A prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of zoledronic acid in bony metastatic bladder cancer. Int J Clin Oncol. 2010;15:382–9.

147. Zarogoulidis K, Boutsikou E, Zarogoulidis P, Eleftheriadou E, Kontakiotis T, Lithoxopoulou H et al. The impact of zoledronic acid therapy in survival of lung cancer patients with bone metastasis. Int J Cancer. 2009;125:1705–9.

148. Rosen L, Gordon DH, Dugan W Jr, Major P, Eisenberg PD, Provencher L et al. Zoledronic acid is superior to pamidronate for the treatment of bone metastases in breast carcinoma patients with at least one osteolytic lesion. Cancer. 2004;100:36-43.

149. Body J, Lichinitser M, Tjulandin S, Garnero P, Bergstrom B. Oral ibandronate is as active as intravenous zoledronic acid for reducing bone turnover markers in women with breast cancer and bone metastases. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:1165–71.

150. Francini F, Pascucci A, Bargagli G, Francini E, Conca R, Miano ST et al. Effects of intravenous zoledronic acid and oral ibandronate on early changes in markers of bone turnover in patients with bone metastases from non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Clin Oncol. 2011;16:264–9.

151. Choudhury KB, Mallik C, Sharma S, Choudhury DB, Maiti S, Roy C. A randomized controlled trial to compare the efficacy of bisphosphonates in the management of painful bone metastasis. Indian J Palliat Care. 2011;17:210–18.

152. Wang F, Chen W, Chen H, Mo L, Jin H, Yu Z et al. Comparison between zoledronic acid and clodronate in the treatment of prostate cancer patients with bone metastases. Med Oncol. 2013;30:657.

153. Barrett-Lee P, Casbard A, Abraham J, Hood K, Coleman R, Simmonds P et al. Oral ibandronic acid versus intravenous zoledronic acid in treatment of bone metastases from breast cancer: a randomised, open label, non-inferiority phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:114–22.

154. von Au A, Milloth E, Diel I, Stefanovic S, Hennigs A, Wallwiener M et al. Intravenous pamidronate versus oral and intravenous clodronate in bone metastatic breast cancer: a randomized, open-label, non-inferiority Phase III trial. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;9:4173–80.

155. Toussaint ND, Elder GJ, Kerr PG. Bisphosphonates in chronic kidney disease; balancing potential benefits and adverse effects on bone and soft tissue. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;4:221–33.

156. Botteman M, Barghout V, Stephens J, Hay J, Brandman J, Aapro M et al. Cost effectiveness of bisphosphonates in the management of breast cancer patients with bone metastases. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:1072–82.

157. Fleurence RL, Iglesias CP, Johnson JM. The cost effectiveness of bisphosphonates for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis: a structured review of the literature. Pharmacoeconomics. 2007;25:913–33.

158. Lippuner K, Pollock RF, Smith-Palmer J, Meury T, Valentine WJ. A review of the cost effectiveness of bisphosphonates in the treatment of post-menopausal osteoporosis in Switzerland. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2011;9:403–17.

159. Sopata M, Katz N, Carey W, Smith MD, Keller D, Verburg KM et al. Efficacy and safety of tanezumab in the treatment of pain from bone metastases. Pain. 2015;156:1703–13.

160. Body JJ, Facon T, Coleman RE, Lipton A, Geurs F, Fan M et al. A study of the biological receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand inhibitor, denosumab, in patients with multiple myeloma or bone metastases from breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:1221–8.

161. Lipton A, Steger GG, Figueroa J, Alvarado C, Solal-Celigny P, Body JJ et al. Extended efficacy and safety of denosumab in breast cancer patients with bone metastases not receiving prior bisphosphonate therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;4:6690–6.

162. Fizazi K, Lipton A, Mariette X, Body JJ, Rahim Y, Gralow JR et al. Randomized phase II trial of denosumab in patients with bone metastases from prostate cancer, breast cancer, or other neoplasms after intravenous bisphosphonates. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1564–71.

163. Stopeck AT, Lipton A, Body JJ, Steger GG, Tonkin K, de Boer RH et al. Denosumab compared with zoledronic acid for the treatment of bone metastases in patients with advanced breast cancer: a randomized, double-blind study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:5132–9.

164. Henry DH, Costa L, Goldwasser F, Hirsh V, Hungria V, Prausova J et al. Randomized, double-blind study of denosumab versus zoledronic acid in the treatment of bone metastases in patients with advanced cancer (excluding breast and prostate cancer) or multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:1125–32.

165. Fizazi K, Carducci M, Smith M, Damião R, Brown J, Karsh L et al. Denosumab versus zoledronic acid for treatment of bone metastases in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer: a randomised, double-blind study. Lancet. 2011;377:813–22.

166. Martin M, Bell R, Bourgeois H, Brufsky A, Diel I, Eniu A et al. Bone-related complications and quality of life in advanced breast cancer: results from a randomized phase III trial of denosumab versus zoledronic acid. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:4841–9.

167. Cleeland CS, Body JJ, Stopeck A, von Moos R, Fallowfield L, Mathias SD et al. Pain outcomes in patients with advanced breast cancer and bone metastases: results from a randomized, double-blind study of denosumab and zoledronic acid. Cancer. 2013;119:832–8.

168. Lipton A, Fizazi K, Stopeck AT, Henry DH, Brown JE, Yardley DA et al. Superiority of denosumab to zoledronic acid for prevention of skeletal-related events: a combined analysis of 3 pivotal, randomised, phase 3 trials. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:3082–92.

169. De Felice F, Piccioli A, Musio D, Tombolini V. The role of radiation therapy in bone metastases management. Oncotarget. 2017;8:25691–9.

170. Altundag MB, Üçer AR, Çalikoğlu T, Güran Z. Single (500 cGy, 800 cGy) and multifraction (300x10 cGy) radiotherapy schedules in the treatment of painful bone metastases. THOD Turk Hematol.-Onkol. Derg. 2002;12:16–21.

171. Amouzegar-Hashemi F, Behrouzi H, Kazemian A, Zarpak B, Haddad P. Single versus multiple fractions of palliative radiotherapy for bone metastases: a randomized clinical trial in Iranian patients. Curr Oncol. 2008;15:151.

172. Anter AH. Single fraction versus multiple fraction radiotherapy for treatment of painful bone metastases: a prospective study; Mansoura experience. Forum of Clinical Oncology. 2015;6:8–13.

173. Badzio A, Senkus-Konefka E, Jereczek-Fossa BA, Adamska K, Fajndt S, Tesmer-Laskowska I et al. 20 Gy in five fractions versus 8 Gy in one fraction in palliative radiotherapy of bone metastases. A multicenter randomized study. Nowotwory Journal of Oncology. 2003;3:261-4.

174. Bone Pain Trial Working. 8 Gy single fraction radiotherapy for the treatment of metastatic skeletal pain: randomised comparison with a multifraction schedule over 12 months of patient follow-up. Radiother Oncol. 1999;52:111–21.

175. Chow E, van der Linden YM, Roos D, Hartsell WF, Hoskin P, Wu JS et al. Single versus multiple fractions of repeat radiation for painful bone metastases: a randomised, controlled, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;15:164–71.

176. Foro Arnalot P, Fontanals AV, Galcerán JC, Lynd F, Latiesas XS, de Dios NR et al. Randomized clinical trial with two palliative radiotherapy regimens in painful bone metastases: 30 Gy in 10 fractions compared with 8 Gy in single fraction. Radiother Oncol. 2008;89:150–5.

177. Gaze MN, Kelly CG, Kerr GR, Cull A, Cowie VJ, Gregor A et al. Pain relief and quality of life following radiotherapy for bone metastases: a randomised trial of two fractionation schedules. Radiother Oncol. 1997;45:109–16.

178. Gutierrez Bayard L, Salas Buzon M del C, Angulo Pain E, de Ingunza Baron L. Radiation therapy for the management of painful bone metastases: results from a randomized trial. Reports of practical oncology and radiotherapy. 2014;19:405–11.

179. Hamouda WE, Roshdy W, Teema M. Single versus conventional fractionated radiotherapy in the palliation of painful bone metastases. Gulf J Oncolog. 2007;1:35-41.

180. Hartsell WF, Scott CB, Bruner DW, Scarantino CW, Ivker RA, Roach M 3rd et al. Randomized trial of short- versus long-course radiotherapy for palliation of painful bone metastases. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97:798-804.

181. Kagei K, Suzuki K, Shirato H, Nambu T, Yoshikawa H, Irie G. [A randomized trial of single and multifraction radiation therapy for bone metastasis: a preliminary report]. Gan No Rinsho Japan Journal of Cancer Clinics. 1990;36:2553–8.

182. Koswig S, Budach V. Remineralisation und Schmerzlinderung von Knochenmetastasen nach unterschiedlich fraktionierter Strahlentherapie (10mal 3 Gy vs. 1mal 8 Gy). Eine prospektive Studie. Strahlentherapie und Onkologie. 1999:175:500-8.

183. Nielsen OS, Bentzen SM, Sandberg E, Gadeberg CC, Timothy AR. Randomized trial of single dose versus fractionated palliative radiotherapy of bone metastases. Radiother Oncol. 1998;47:233-40.

184. Price P, Hoskin PJ, Easton D, Austin D, Palmer SG, Yarnold JR. Prospective randomised trial of single and multifraction radiotherapy schedules in the treatment of painful bony metastases. Radiother Oncol. 1986;6:247–55.

185. Roos DE, Turner SL, O'Brien PC, Smith JG, Spry NA, Burmeister BH et al. Randomized trial of 8 Gy in 1 versus 20 Gy in 5 fractions of radiotherapy for neuropathic pain due to bone metastases (Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group, TROG 96.05). Radiother Oncol. 2005;75:54–63.

186. Sarkar SK, Sarkar S, Pahari B, Majumdar D. Multiple and single fraction palliative radiotherapy in bone secondaries – a prospective study. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2002;12:281–4.

187. van der Linden YM, Lok JJ, Steenland E, Martijn H, van Houwelingen H, Marijnen CA et al. Single fraction radiotherapy is efficacious: a further analysis of the Dutch Bone Metastasis Study controlling for the influence of retreatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;59:528–37.

188. Cole DJ. A randomized trial of a single treatment versus conventional fractionation in the palliative radiotherapy of painful bone metastases. Clin Oncol. (R Coll Radiol). 1989;1:59–62.

189. Foro P, Algara M, Reig A, Lacruz M, Valls A. Randomized prospective trial comparing three schedules of palliative radiotherapy. Preliminary results. Oncologia (Spain). 1998;21:55–60.

190. Meeuse JJ, van der Linden YM, van Tienhoven G, Gans RO, Leer JW, Reyners AK et al. Efficacy of radiotherapy for painful bone metastases during the last 12 weeks of life: results from the Dutch Bone Metastasis Study. Cancer. 2010;116:2716–25.

191. Özsaran Z, Yalman D, Anacak Y, Esassolak M, Haydaroglu A. Palliative radiotherapy in bone metastases: results of a randomized trial comparing three fractionation schedules. Strahlentherapie und Onkologie (German). 2001;6:43–8.

192. Safwat E, El-Nahas T, Metwally H, Abdelmotgally R, Kassem N. Palliative fractionated radiotherapy for bone metastases clinical and biological assessment of single versus multiple fractions. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst. 2007;19:21–7.

193. Steenland E, Leer JW, van Houwelingen H, Post WJ, van den Hout WB, Kievit J et al. The effect of a single fraction compared to multiple fractions on painful bone metastases: a global analysis of the Dutch Bone Metastasis Study. Radiother Oncol. 1999;52:101–9.

194. Yoon F, Morton GC. Single fraction radiotherapy versus multiple fraction radiotherapy for bone metastases in prostate cancer patients: comparative effectiveness. Cancer Manag Res. 2014;6:451–7.

195. Storto G, Gallicchio R, Pellegrino T, Nardelli A, De Luca S, Capacchione D et al. Impact of (1)(8)F-fluoride PET-CT on implementing early treatment of painful bone metastases with Sm-153 EDTMP. Nucl Med Biol. 2013;40:518–23.

196. Parker C, Nilsson S, Heinrich D, Helle SI, O'Sullivan JM, Fosså SD et al. Alpha emitter radium-223 and survival in metastatic prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:213-23.

197. Moher D, Hopewell S, Schulz KF, Montori V, Gøtzsche PC, Devereaux PJ et al. CONSORT 2010 Explanation and Elaboration: Updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63:e1–37.

ANNEXES

ANNEX 1: EVALUATION OF PAIN

Designing optimum analgesia is one of the most fundamental tasks in health care and depends on the evaluation of a patient's pain – including its causes, severity and effects on the patient. However, as a "sensory and emotional experience" that may or may not be associated with tissue damage, evaluation of pain is not always easy (1). No single assessment technique is universally applicable. The evaluation must be based in part on clinical judgement regarding factors such as the underlying conditions, haemodynamic stability, acuity of the conditions and the pain, and previous and current treatments. It must also take into consideration psychosocial factors such as

Figure A1.1. The three-step analgesic ladder


the patient's age, culture, religion, mental health, and familial and social situations. Given this complexity, it is not surprising that there is no globally endorsed tool for measuring pain. Nevertheless, pain assessment tools can be an important part of evaluating a patient in pain. Some examples of evidence-based tools for evaluating patients in pain are presented here.

NB: The choice of these examples should not be construed as a clinical recommendation.

A cancer pain management ladder is useful as a teaching tool and as a general guide to pain management based on pain severity (**Figure A1.1**). However, it cannot replace individualized therapeutic planning based on careful assessment of each individual patient's pain. The concept of a ladder easily explains the need for pain assessment and for appropriate management of pain based on a pain severity assessment (2).

1. BRIEF PAIN INVENTORY

One of the most commonly used tools for assessing pain in adults and adolescents pain scales is the brief pain inventory or BPI (3). The BPI (**Figure A1.2**) concisely registers pain location and treatments and also measures pain intensity and the effect of pain on activities of daily life. The inventory has been validated in many languages and with both malignant and non-malignant pain.

Figure A1.2. Brief pain inventory (see next pages)

Source: Cleeland and Ryan 1994 (3).



)at			_/								Time:	
ar	me:		Last				 F	irst			Middle Initial	
	What tr	eatm	ents o	r medi	cations	are you	u receiv	ing for	your pa	iin?		
	In the la	ast 24	1 hours	s, how	much r	elief ha	ve pain	treatm	ents or	mec	lications	
	provide vou ha				the one	percer	tage th	at most	shows	hov	/ much <mark>relief</mark>	
		0%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	909	% 100% Complete Relief	
	Circle t				at desc	ribes ho	ow, duri	ng the	past 24	hou	rs, pain has	
_	interfer		,									
		1 ot	al Acti 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 Completely Interferes	
		lood		•		_	<u>^</u>	_	_	_	10	
	0 Does ne Interfere		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 Completely Interferes	
		Valkir 1	ng Abil		4	~	0	7	0	0	10	
	0 Does ne Interfer	ot	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 Completely Interferes	
											usework)	
	0 Does ne Interfer		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 Completely Interferes	
					er peopl		0	7	0	0	10	
	0 Does n Interfer		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 Completely Interferes	
		Sleep 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
	Does no Interfer	ot	۷	5	4	0	U	I	U	9	Completely Interferes	
		njoyr 1	ment o 2	of life 3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
	Does no Interfer	ot	۷	3	4	5	U	1	0	9	Completely Interferes	
					Copyright	1991 Char	les S. Clee arch Group	land, PhD				

2. CRITICAL CARE PAIN OBSERVATION TOOL

The Critical Care Pain Observation Tool (CPOT, **Figure A1.3**) was developed to enable evidence-based assessment of pain in patients who are critically ill or unable to communicate verbally (4).

Figure A1.3. The Critical Care Pain Observation Tool

INDICATOR	DESCRIPTION	SCORE	
Facial expression	No muscular tension observed	Relaxed, neutral	0
	Presence of frowning, brow lowering, orbit tightening, and levator contraction	Tense	1
	All of the above facial movements plus eyelid tightly closed	Grimacing	2
Body movements	Does not move at all (does not necessarily mean absence of pain)	Absence of movement	0
	Slow, cautious movements, touching or rubbing the pain site, seeking attention through movements	Protection	1
	Pulling tube, attempting to sit up, moving limbs/thrashing, not following commands, striking at staff, trying to climb ou of bed	Restlessness	2
Muscle tension	No resistance to passive movements	Relaxed	0
Evaluation by passive	Resistance to passive movements	Tense, rigid	1
flexion and extension of upper extremities	Strong resistance to passive movements, inability to complete them	Very tense or rigid	2
Compliance with the	Alarms not activated, easy ventilation	Tolerating ventilator or movement	0
ventilator	Alarms stop spontaneously	Coughing but tolerating	1
OR	Asynchrony: blocking ventilation, alarms frequently activated	Fighting ventilator	2
Vocalization	Talking in normal tone or no sound	Talking in normal tone or no sound	0
(extubated patients)	Sighting, moaning	Sighting, moaning	1
	Crying out, sobbing	Crying out, sobbing	2
Total, range			0-8

Source: Gélinas et al. 2006 (4).

3. PAIN ASSESSMENT IN ADVANCED DEMENTIA

The Pain Assessment in Advanced Dementia tool (PAINAID, **Figure A1.4**) is one of several tools developed to assess pain in patients with advanced dementia (5,6). Others include Doloplus-2 (7) and the Pain Assessment Checklist for Seniors with Limited Ability to Communicate-II or PACSLAC-II (8).

PA	IN ASSESSMENT IN A	ADVANCED DEMEN	TIA (PAINAID)	
	0	1	2	SCORE
Breathing independant of vocalization	Normal	Occasioinal labored breathing. Short period of hyperventilation	Noisy labored breathing. Long period of hyperventilation. Cheyne-Stokes respirations.	
Negative vocalization	None	Occasional moan or groan. Low-level speech with a negative or disapproving quality.	Repeated troubled calling out. Loud moaning or groaning. Crying	
Facial expression	Smiling, or inexpressive	Sad. Frightened. Frown	Facia grimacing	
Body language	Relaxed	Tense. Distressed pacing. Fidgeting.	Rigid. Fists clenched. Knees pulled up. Pulling or pushing away. Striking out.	
Consolability	No need to console	Distracted or reassured by voice or touch.	Unable to console, distracg or reassure.	
			TOTAL	

Figure A1.4. The Pain Assessment in Advanced Dementia tool

Source: Warden et al. 2003 (5). Used with permission.

4. INTEGRATED PALLIATIVE OUTCOMES SCALE

General palliative care assessment tools such as the Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale (IPOS, **Figure A1.5**) (9) include pain evaluation scales. Others include the Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale (10,11), the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (12), and the MD Anderson Symptom Inventory (13).

	IPOS Pa			C	POS
Name:				www	v.pos-pal.or
Date (dd/mm/yyyy):		1			
Please write clearly, one letter or your care and the care of others. Thank you.		ox. Your ans	wers will help	o us to keep	o improving
Q1. What have been your main p	oroblems or	concerns <u>o</u> v	ver the past 3	days?	
1.			•		
2.					
3.					
Q2. Below is a list of symptoms, symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> .	<u>x</u> that best	describes h	ow it has <u>affec</u>	<u>cted</u> you <u>ov</u>	ver the past 3
symptom, please tick one bo				<u>cted</u> you <u>ov</u>	ver the past 3
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath	ox that best Not at all	describes h Slightly	ow it has <u>affeo</u> Moderately	<u>cted</u> you <u>ov</u> Severely	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy	Not at all	describes h	ow it has <u>affeo</u> <i>Moderately</i> 2	Severely	ver the past 3
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0	describes h Slightly 1 1 1	ow it has <u>affec</u> Moderately 2 2 2	Severely	Ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going	x that best Not at all 0	Slightly 1 1 1	Moderately 2 2 2	Severely 3 3 3	Ver the past 3
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick)	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Slightly 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	Severely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick)	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Slightly 1 1 1 1 1	ow it has affect	cted you or Severely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4 4 4 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick) Poor appetite	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Slightly 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	Severely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick) Poor appetite Constipation	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Slightly 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	Severely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick) Poor appetite Constipation Sore or dry mouth	x that best Not at all 0 0	Slightly 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2	Severely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick) Poor appetite Constipation Sore or dry mouth Drowsiness	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Slightly 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2	Severely 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick) Poor appetite Constipation Sore or dry mouth Drowsiness Poor mobility Please list any <u>other</u> symptoms not <u>affected</u> you <u>over the past 3 days</u> .	x that best Not at all 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Slightly 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2	Severely 3	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
symptom, please tick <u>one bo</u> <u>days</u> . Pain Shortness of breath Weakness or lack of energy Nausea (feeling like you are going to be sick) Vomiting (being sick) Poor appetite Constipation Sore or dry mouth Drowsiness Poor mobility Please list any <u>other</u> symptoms not <u>affected</u> you <u>over the past 3 days</u> .	x that best Not at all 0	Slightly 1	ow it has affect Moderately 2	Severely 3 4 5	ver the past 3 Overwhelmin 4 <tr< td=""></tr<>

			Not at al	l Occasionally	o Sometimes	Most of the time	Always
Q3.	Have you been feeling anxiou worried about your illness or treatment?	s or	0	1	2	3	4
Q4.	Have any of your family or frie been anxious or worried abou you?		0	1	2	3	4
Q5.	Have you been feeling depressed?		0	1	2	3	4
			Always	Most of the time	Sometimes	Occasionally	Not at all
Q6.	Have you felt at peace?		0	1	2	3	4
Q7.	Have you been able to share h you are feeling with your fami friends as much as you wanted	ily or	0	1	2	3	4
^ °	Lieus way had as wouch						
Q 0.	Have you had as much information as you wanted?	Bro	0	1	2	3	
	Information as you wanted? Have any practical problems resulting from your illness	addre No pr	blems essed/	Problems mostly	2 Problems partly addressed 2 2	3 Problems hardly addressed 3 3	4 Problems not addressed 4 4
	information as you wanted? Have any practical problems	addre No pr	blems essed/ oblems	Problems mostly addressed 1	Problems partly addressed	Problems hardly addressed 3	Problems not addressed
Q9.	Information as you wanted? Have any practical problems resulting from your illness been addressed? (such as financial or personal)	addre No pr	blems essed/ oblems	Problems mostly addressed 1	Problems partly addressed 2	Problems hardly addressed 3 🗌	Problems not addressed
Q9.	Information as you wanted? Have any practical problems resulting from your illness been addressed? (such as	addre No pr	blems essed/ oblems	Problems mostly addressed 1	Problems partly addressed 2 2	Problems hardly addressed 3 🗌	Problems not addressed 4
Q9.	Information as you wanted? Have any practical problems resulting from your illness been addressed? (such as financial or personal)	addre No pri- 0 [blems essed/ oblems	Problems mostly addressed	Problems partly addressed 2 2	Problems hardly addressed 3 3 ve mem	Problems not addressed 4
Q9.	Information as you wanted? Have any practical problems resulting from your illness been addressed? (such as financial or personal) D How did you complete this questionnaire?	a ddre No pri 0 [blems essed/ oblems On r	Problems mostly addressed	Problems partly addressed 2 2 With help from friend or relati	Problems hardly addressed 3 3 ve mem	Problems not addressed 4

Source: Cicely Saunders Institute. The Palliative Care Outcome Scale (POS) (https://pos-pal.org/maix/). Used with permission.

REFERENCES

1. IASP terminology (website). Washington (DC): International Association for the Study of Pain (https://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/Content. aspx?ltemNumber=1698#Pain, accessed 29 May 2018).

2. Cancer pain relief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1986 (http://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43944/9241561009_eng.pdf, accessed 3 October 2018).

3. Cleeland CS, Ryan KM. Pain assessment: global use of the Brief Pain Inventory. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 1994;23:129–38.

4. Gélinas C, Fillion L, Puntillo KA, Viens C, Fortier M. Validation of the critical-care pain observation tool in adult patients. Am J Crit Care. 2006;15:420–7.

5. Warden V, Hurley AC, Volicer L. Development and psychometric evaluation of the Pain Assessment in Advanced Dementia (PAINAD) scale. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2003;4:9–15.

6. Mosele M, Inelmen EM, Toffanello ED, Girardi A, Coin A, Sergi G et al. Psychometric properties of the pain assessment in advanced dementia scale compared to self assessment of pain in elderly patients. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2012;34:38-43.

7. Torvik K, Kaasa S, Kirkevold Ø, Saltvedt I, Hølen JC, Fayers P et al. Validation of Doloplus-2 among nonverbal nursing home patients--an evaluation of Doloplus-2 in a clinical setting. BMC Geriatr. 2010;10:9. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-10-9.

8. Chan S, Hadjistavropoulos T, Williams J, Lints-Martindale A. Evidence-based development and initial validation of the pain assessment checklist for seniors with limited ability to communicate-II (PACSLAC-II). Clin J Pain. 2014;30:816–24.

9. Schildmann EK, Groeneveld EI, Denzel J, Brown A, Bernhardt F, Bailey K et al. Discovering the hidden benefits of cognitive interviewing in two languages: The first phase of a validation study of the Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale. Palliat Med. 2016;30:599–610.

10. Portenoy RK, Thaler HT, Kornblith AB, Lepore JM, Friedlander-Klar H, Kiyasu E et al. The Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale: an instrument for the evaluation of symptom prevalence, characteristics and distress. Eur J Cancer 1994;30:1326–36.

11. Chang VT, Hwang SS, Kasimis B, Thaler HT. Shorter symptom assessment instruments: The condensed Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale (CMSAS). Cancer Investigations. 2004;22:526-36.

12. Bruera E, Kuehn N, Miller MJ, Selmser P, Macmillan KI. The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS): A simple method for the assessment of palliative care patients. J Palliat Care. 1991;7:6–9.

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

13. Cleeland CS, Mendoza TR, Wang XS, Chou C, Harle MT, Morrissey M et al. Assessing symptom distress in cancer: The M.D. Anderson Symptom Inventory. Cancer. 2000;89:1634–46.

ANNEX 2: SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND GUIDELINE METHODS

1. EVIDENCE RETRIEVAL AND APPRAISAL: METHODS

SEARCH STRATEGY

Literature searches were conducted in PubMed, Embase, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews on 16 February 2017. An additional search was conducted in the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature on 4 April 2017. The searches yielded 11 196 citations. Additional manual searches for existing systematic reviews were conducted on the Cochrane website and at https://guidelines.gov/.

Independent duplicate screening of citations resulted in preliminary acceptance of 454 primary articles and 41 existing systematic reviews. After full text assessment, 195 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were considered eligible for one or more of the PICO questions; of these 129 had been included in 19 existing systematic reviews (1-19). The original plan was to rely fully on the existing systematic reviews for study descriptions, results data and assessment of study methodological quality (risk of bias). However, accessible data from the existing systematic reviews were generally too incomplete or poorly reported to allow this approach; in addition, the systematic review team found many instances of incorrect data or data that they could not find in the original study articles. Therefore, for the vast majority of primary studies from existing systematic reviews, the review team obtained data from the original publications.

ASSESSMENT OF STUDY QUALITY AND METHODS OF REVIEW SYNTHESIS

The methodological quality of study was assessed with the Cochrane risk of bias tool. However, when existing systematic reviews provided study-level quality ratings, the systematic review team used those, regardless of the quality assessment method used. For the evidence profiles, the team conducted two additional steps to allow determination of overall risk of bias, consistent with GRADE methodology, as follows (20):

- First, the overall quality of each RCT was determined.
 - If a study had a high risk of bias due to inadequate randomization or allocation concealment methodology, the study was deemed to have very serious limitations.

- If randomization and allocation concealment methodologies were low risk of bias (or unclear due to inadequate reporting) but the studies did not mask outcome assessors or they had high attrition rates (or a high percentage of study participants not analysed) or there was evidence of selective outcome reporting or there was an important other potential bias, the study was rated overall as having serious limitations.
- However, if the study had two or more of these limitations, it was deemed to have very serious limitations.
- Otherwise, studies were rated as having no serious limitations.
- Studies could have different overall study quality assessments for different outcomes (e.g. if there was high attrition for only one outcome of interest).
- Second, for each outcome within an evidence profile, the risks of bias of all studies were assessed together.
 - If more than half the studies (or the larger, dominant studies) were deemed to have very serious limitations, then the overall evidence base was also deemed to have very serious limitations.
 - If this was not the case, but more than half the studies (or the larger, dominant studies) were deemed to have serious (or very serious) limitations, then the overall evidence base was deemed to have *serious limitations*.
 - Otherwise the evidence base was deemed to have no serious limitations.

Study findings were assessed for consistency primarily of direction of effect, with lesser emphasis on magnitude of effect and minimal emphasis on differences in statistical significance. When meta-analysis was conducted, the statistical heterogeneity of treatment effect was assessed with the statistical significance of the heterogeneity and the l-squared statistic. However, if the direction of effect was consistent across studies, the heterogeneity of the actual effect size alone did not yield a determination of *inconsistent*.

Given the strict eligibility criteria, the generalizability of all eligible trials was deemed to be directly applicable to adults (or adolescents) with cancer pain. Studies of nonapplicable populations were not included. Consequently, assessment of *indirectness* was based primarily on whether the outcomes being assessed were directly relevant to the outcome of interest. The primary reasons for downgrading based on indirectness related to studies that assessed pain outcomes that were not full (or near-full) pain relief but were only a decrease in pain scores (e.g. by 2 points out of 10). Some that included quality-of-life and functional outcome measures were also downgraded if they were deemed to be inadequate measurement tools. Ideally, these indirect outcomes or measures were not included but, where there was limited direct evidence, the systematic review team included them. The evidence was downgraded for *imprecision* based mostly on small sample size (for continuous outcomes) with an arbitrary total sample size (across arms and studies) of 300 as a threshold and, separately, wide confidence intervals in relation to the measure (or scale). However, if a small study provided a precise estimate, the evidence was not downgraded.

Other considerations were noted. The main ones were used where there was only a single study evaluating a given outcome for a given question. The accuracy of a single study's estimate of an effect size requires corroboration before it can be considered to be adequate evidence to make a clinical decision with any confidence. If a study is large (i.e. well-powered), rigorously conducted, and the outcome evaluated as a primary outcome, then the study may provide higher strengths of evidence.

Where feasible, the systematic review team conducted meta-analyses of categorical and continuous data when there were at least two trials with the same comparisons. The systematic review team was liberal in what it allowed for meta-analysis, taking account of the nature of the review questions. The review team ignored cancer types or other differences in study populations and differences in follow-up durations. The team combined sets of interventions, such as all bisphosphonates or all opioids; it also ignored differences in doses, routes, strengths and other related factors. For categorical outcomes the review team mostly ignored differences in outcome definitions (such as pain relief being complete ["no pain"] or great [e.g. <3/10 on a visual analogue scale]). For categorical outcomes, the team calculated or meta-analysed the risk ratio (RR). The direction of the RR was determined by the outcome being assessed (i.e. for "good" outcomes – e.g. pain relief – higher RR favours the intervention over control; for "bad" outcomes – e.g. skeletal-related events (SREs) – lower RR favours the intervention). Absolute differences were based on meta-analysed risk ratios and meta-analysed control rates.

For continuous measures of pain, quality of life and functional outcomes, the systematic review team first converted the reported measures to uniform scales of 0 to 100. Following standard convention, for pain control 100 = worst pain, and for quality of life and functional outcomes 100 = best status. When necessary, reported scales were reversed to ensure uniform directionality. Other continuous outcomes (e.g. time) were meta-analysed only if comparable units could be used across studies (e.g. studies reporting pain relief in hours were not meta-analysed with studies reporting pain relief in days).

Methods for the network meta-analyses for certain systematic review questions are discussed in **Annex 7**.

2. EVIDENCE TO RECOMMENDATIONS: METHODS

GROUP PROCESSES USED FOR CONSENSUS AND DISAGREEMENT RESOLUTION

At the scoping meeting, the Guideline Development Group (GDG) agreed that Nandi Siegfried would be co-chair for the development of this guideline, and that Eduardo Bruera would be the other co-chair. The GDG convened to determine the direction, strength and wording of the final recommendations. These were established by consensus. Consensus was defined as a position indicated in the group discussion that was summarized for clarification by a chair; if the co-chairs' clarification was not reopened for discussion by a member of the GDG, this was considered unanimous consensus. In cases where unanimity could not be reached, a majority (>50%) vote by raising of hands (of GDG members only and excluding observers, World Health Organization (WHO) staff and other non-GDG parties) determined the final GDG decision. The GDG were offered the possibility for minority notes to be taken and reflected in the discussion of the recommendation in the final guideline, but all decisions found adequate consensus to render this offer unnecessary.

ASSESSMENT OF THE DIRECTION AND QUALITY OF EVIDENCE

The GDG was provided with the full results of the systematic reviews in reports prior to the meeting and the results and the accompanying GRADE assessment of the quality of the evidence was presented at the meeting. The GDG discussed the results and agreed on an overall quality of evidence for each intervention using the following definitions of level of evidence quality in accordance with the GRADE methodology:

High	We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.
Moderate	We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.
Low	Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.
Very low	We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

METHODS FOR ASSESSMENT OF VALUES AND PREFERENCES, ACCEPTABILITY, FEASIBILITY AND EQUITY

Values and preferences were considered from the perspectives of patients, clinicians and policy-makers. These perspectives were outlined and discussed by the GDG members who represented all relevant stakeholder groups in addition to having broad professional experience of the field.

The GDG members offered observations from their own experience regarding the acceptability of interventions to health-care workers and the feasibility of implementing recommended interventions, especially in regions where resources are scarce or absent. Similarly, the effect of provision of an intervention on equity was carefully considered in the GDG discussions.

No formal patient or health-care provider surveys were conducted.

HOW RESOURCES WERE CONSIDERED

Considerations of resource use relied on the International drug price indicator guide (21), a recent peer-reviewed medication pricing publication (22). If prices could not be found in this source, other medication pricing data websites (goodrx.com (23), drugs. com (24) or pharmacychecker.com (25)) were used. GDG members also brought their knowledge of medication prices around the world to these discussions. No formal cost-effectiveness studies were conducted.

DISCUSSION OF RECOMMENDATION STRENGTH AND EVIDENCE QUALITY

Based on the agreed quality of the evidence and with consideration given to the values and preferences of patients, the acceptability and feasibility of the intervention within the health-care system, the potential impact on equity and the resource implications, the GDG decided on the direction of the recommendation (either in favour of or against an intervention) and whether to make strong or conditional recommendations using a benefit-risk assessment analysis of each intervention. In the absence of any evidence for a certain review question, the GDG chose to make no recommendation.

Table A2.1 indicates the implications of strong and conditional recommendations.

IMPLICATIONS	STRONG RECOMMENDATION "WE RECOMMEND "	CONDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION "WE SUGGEST "
For patients	Most individuals in this situation would want the recommended course of action and only a small proportion would not. Formal decision aids are not likely to be needed to help individuals make decisions consistent with their values and preferences.	The majority of individuals in this situation would want the suggested course of action but many would not.
For clinicians	Most individuals should receive the intervention. Adherence to this recommendation according to the guideline could be used as a quality criterion or performance indicator.	Clinicians should recognize that different choices will be appropriate for each individual and that clinicians must help each individual arrive at a management decision consistent with the individual's values and preferences. Decision aids may be useful to help individuals make decisions consistent with their values and preferences.
For policy-makers	The recommendation can be adopted as policy in most situations.	Policy-making will require substantial debate and involvement of various stakeholders.

Table A2.1. Implications of strong and conditional recommendations

REFERENCES

1. Lutz S, Berk L, Chang E, Chow E, Hahn C, Hoskin P et al. Palliative radiotherapy for bone metastases: an ASTRO evidence-based guideline. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;79:965–76.

2. Peddi P, Lopez-Olivo MA, Pratt GF, Suarez-Almazor ME. Denosumab in patients with cancer and skeletal metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Treat Rev. 2013;9:97–104.

3. Opioids in palliative care: safe and effective prescribing of strong opioids for pain in palliative care of adults. Cardiff: National Collaborating Centre for Cancer; 2012.

4. Geng C, Liang Q, Zhong JH, Zhu M, Meng FY, Wu N et al. Ibandronate to treat skeletal-related events and bone pain in metastatic bone disease or multiple myeloma: a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. BMJ Open. 2015;5:e007258.

5. Guan J, Tanaka S, Kawakami K. Anticonvulsants or antidepressants in combination pharmacotherapy for treatment of neuropathic pain in cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin J Pain. 2016:32:719–25.

6. Chen DL, Li YH, Wang ZJ, Zhu YK. The research on long-term clinical effects and patients' satisfaction of gabapentin combined with oxycontin in treatment of severe cancer pain. Medicine. 2016;95:e5144.

7. LeVasseur N, Clemons M, Hutton B, Shorr R, Jacobs C. Bone-targeted therapy use in patients with bone metastases from lung cancer: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Cancer Treat Rev. 2016;50:183–93.

8. Wong R, Wiffen PJ. Bisphosphonates for the relief of pain secondary to bone metastases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002;(2):CD002068.

9. Wong M, Stockler M, Pavlakis N. Bisphosphonates and other bone agents for breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(2):CD003474.

10. Wiffen PJ, Wee B, Moore RA. Oral morphine for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(4):CD003868.

11. Schmidt-Hansen M, Bennett M, Arnold S, Bromham N, Hilgart J. Oxycodone for cancer-related pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(2):CD003870.

12. Nicholson AB. Methadone for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;(4):CD003971.

13. Yuen K, Shelley M, Sze WM, Wilt TJ, Mason M. Bisphosphonates for advanced prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(4):CD006250.

14. Straube C, Derry S, Jackson KC, Wiffen PJ, Bell RF, Strassels S et al. Codeine, alone and with paracetamol (acetaminophen), for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(9):CD006601.

15. Hadley G, Derry S, Moore RA, Wiffen PJ. Transdermal fentanyl for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(10):CD010270.

16. Haywood A, Good P, Khan S, Leupp A, Jenkins-Marsh S, Rickett K et al. Corticosteroids for the management of cancer-related pain in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(4):CD010756.

17. Bao YJ, Hou W, Kong XY, Yang L, Xia J, Hua BJ et al. Hydromorphone for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(10):CD011108.

18. Wiffen PJ, Derry S, Naessens K, Bell RF. Oral tapentadol for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(9):CD011460.

19. Schmidt-Hansen M, Bromham N, Taubert M, Arnold S, Hilgart J. Buprenorphine for treating cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(3):CD009596.

20. Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64:383–94.

21. International Drug Price Indicator Guide, 2014 edition. Medford (MA): Management Sciences for Health; 2014.

22. Pastrana T, Wenk R, Radbruch L, Ahmed E, De Lima L. Pain treatment continues to be inaccessible for many patients around the globe: second phase of opioid price watch, a cross-sectional study to monitor the prices of opioids. J Palliat Med. 2017;20(24):378–87.

- 23. Goodrx.com (website).
- 24. Drugs.com (website).
- 25. pharmacychecker.com (website).

ANNEX 3: SYSTEMATIC REVIEW EVIDENCE PROFILES AND EVIDENCE-TO-DECISION TABLES

Available online at: https://www.who.int/ncds/management/palliative-care/Cancer-pain-guidelines-Annex-3.pdf

ANNEX 4: BACKGROUND TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE GUIDELINES AND DETAILS OF PERSONNEL

PICO QUESTIONS ANSWERED BY SYSTEMATIC REVIEW

Key Question 1: Choice of pharmacotherapy for analgesia

1.1. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to active cancer, are there any differences between NSAIDs, paracetamol (acetaminophen) and opioids at the stage of initiation of pain management in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control?

1.2. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to active cancer, are there any differences between opioids for maintenance of therapy in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control?

1.3. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to active cancer receiving first-line treatment with opioids for background pain, what is the most effective opioid treatment for breakthrough pain?

Key Question 2: Opioid rotation/switching

2.1. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to active cancer and who are taking a single opioid, what is the evidence for the practice of opioid rotation or opioid switching as compared with continuing use of one opioid in order to maintain effective and safe pain control and minimize adverse effects?

Key Question 3: Opioid formulation and route of administration

3.1. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to active cancer, what is the evidence for the benefit of administering modified-release morphine regularly as compared with immediate-release morphine on a 4-hourly or as-required basis, in order to maintain effective and safe pain control?

3.2. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to active cancer, what is the evidence for the benefit of using the subcutaneous, transdermal or transmucosal route as compared with the intramuscular and intravenous routes when the oral route for opioids is inappropriate (e.g. adults, including older persons, and adolescents with diminished consciousness, ineffective swallowing or vomiting) in order to maintain effective and safe pain control?

Key Question 4: Opioid cessation

4.1. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with cancer-related pain, what is the evidence for certain dosing regimens or interventions in order to cease opioids effectively and safely?

Key Question 5: Adjuvant treatments

5.1. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with cancer-related pain, are adjuvant steroids more effective than placebo, no steroids or other steroids to achieve pain control?

5.2. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with bone metastases, what is the evidence for the use of bisphosphonates or monoclonals compared with each other or no treatment or other bisphosphonates in order to prevent and treat pain

5.3. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with cancer-related neuropathic pain, what is the evidence for the use of antidepressants compared with placebo, no antidepressant or other antidepressants in order to relieve pain?

5.4. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with cancer-related neuropathic pain, what is the evidence for the use of second-generation anti-epileptics such as gabapentin or first-generation anti-epileptics such as carbamezapine or sodium valproate compared with placebo, no anti-epileptic or other anti-epileptics in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control?

Key Question 6: Radiotherapy

6.1. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to bone metastases, what is the evidence for the use of low-fractionated radiotherapy as compared with high-fractionated radiotherapy or radioisotopes in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control?

6.2. In adults (including older persons) and adolescents with pain related to bone metastases, what is the evidence for radiotherapy or radioisotopes as compared with no radiotherapy or radioisotopes in order to achieve rapid, effective and safe pain control?

PEER REVIEW

The document underwent peer review and comments were incorporated.

REVIEW AND PLAN FOR UPDATING THESE GUIDELINES

Guidelines will be assessed biennially by reconvening available members of the original steering group in order to decide whether there have been developments that warrant an update of the guidelines. The first of these biennial reviews will be held in 2019.

PLANS FOR DISSEMINATION AND IMPACT EVALUATION

The guidelines are available online in the World Health Organization (WHO) Library database and on the WHO webpages for palliative care, cancer and noncommunicable diseases (NCDs).

The guidelines package will be distributed to the following:

- subscribers to WHO publications, to the WHO mailing list for mandatory free distribution (national chief health executives, ministers of health or directorsgeneral of health, depository libraries for WHO publications, WHO representatives/liaison officers, WHO headquarters library, and libraries of WHO regional and other offices), additional non-mandatory free recipients (competent national authorities for drug control treaties, national centres for the WHO International Drug Monitoring Programme, medicines regulatory authorities), scientific journals, international organizations;
- WHO staff in headquarters and elsewhere, relevant nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) in official relations with WHO (including Médecins sans Frontières, International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufactures & Associations, International Pharmaceutical Association FIP, World Organization of Family Doctors, Union for International Cancer Control, International Association for Hospice and Palliative Care);
- relevant NGOs not in official relations with WHO as well as donors, potential donors, potential publishers of translated versions, and all those who contributed to the documents.

Conference invitations to discuss and present the guidelines will be accepted when possible.

A publication in a peer-reviewed journal articulating novel developments that emerge from the systematic reviews will be considered.

It is intended that the guidelines should be available in all the official languages of WHO, and NGOs in official relations with WHO will be encouraged to support translation of the guidelines through their activity workplans with WHO. Translation into non-United Nations languages and publication in these languages by third parties will be encouraged.

DERIVATIVE PRODUCTS

It is hoped that these guidelines will be the first step in a series of clinical guidelines on symptom management in palliative care. The guidelines will also add to the growing compendium on pain management guidance.

IMPLEMENTATION, ADAPTATION AND EVALUATION

Implementation will be facilitated through WHO regional and country offices. Ongoing cancer control programmes and palliative care programmes will be supported with the new guidelines. The new guidelines will be provided to various palliative care training programmes which will be encouraged to include them in their curricula. The guidelines will be assessed for their implementation following their dissemination. It is believed, however, that the degree to which they are implemented depends more heavily on the regulatory frameworks of each country than it does on the willingness to use the guidelines. One of the primary goals of the guidelines is to create a policy environment that is favourable to the development of balanced national policies for uses of controlled essential medications. Therefore, useful proxies for the impact of the guidelines will be the extent of their dissemination and the degree of interest in them. The number of downloads from the WHO website and the sales of printed copies can be measured and used as a metric of dissemination. The number of translations by third parties is also an indication of the impact that others expect that the guidelines will have.

For local adaptations of the guidelines, WHO encourages potential adapters to contact the relevant WHO focal point for the guidelines to help identify resources that will aid adaptation to their particular locality.

The guide will be evaluated through a user-feedback questionnaire disseminated by the steering group one year after the initial publication of the guidelines.

CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS PUBLICATION

SYSTEMATIC REVIEW TEAM

Ethan M Balk, MD, MPH (Lead) Gaelen P Adam, MLIS Mengyang Di, MD, PhD Hannah J Kimmel, MPH Matthew Olean, BS Jessica K Roydhouse, PhD Bryant Smith, MPH Andrew R Zullo, PharmD, PhD

The systematic review team was the Brown Center for Evidence Synthesis in Health, Brown University School of Public Health, Providence, Rhode Island, United States. The team was led by Ethan Balk. The systematic review team carried out all literature searches, determined the eligibility of existing systematic reviews and primary studies, completed data extraction and risk of bias (quality) assessment, and completed the summary tables and preliminary evidence profiles. The systematic review team conducted all pairwise meta-analyses.

NETWORK META-ANALYSIS TEAM

Georgia Salanti (Lead) Orestis Efthimiou Adriani Nikolakopoulou

The network meta-analysis team came from the Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, University of Bern, Switzerland. The team is led by Dr Georgia Salanti, a leading expert in the use of GRADE in network meta-analyses. The network meta-analysis team worked with the systematic review team on review questions 1.1–1.3 to ensure that the data collected were suitable for use in a network meta-analysis. The network meta-analysis team developed the network meta-analysis (NMA) outputs that helped inform Guideline Development Group (GDG) recommendations in accordance with GRADE methodology.

GRADE METHODOLOGIST

The guideline methodologist for these guidelines is Dr Nandi Siegfried MBChB, MPH (Hons), FCPHM (SA), DPhil (Oxon).

EXTERNAL OBSERVERS

Representatives from the following organizations observed, and were invited to comment on, the scoping of the guidelines in July 2016: International Association for Hospice and Palliative Care, Worldwide Hospice and Palliative Care Alliance, International Association for the Study of Pain, Union for International Cancer Control, Physicians for Responsible Opioid Prescribing, Médecins Sans Frontières, IMAI-IMCI Alliance.

WHO GUIDELINE STEERING GROUP

Dr Cherian Varghese (Responsible Technical Officer) HQ/NMH/NVI/MND – Management of Noncommunicable Diseases

Dr Andre Ilbawi HQ/NMH/NVI/MND – Management of Noncommunicable Diseases

Dr Nicola Magrini HQ/HIS/EMP/PAU – Essential Medicines and Health Products; Policy, Access and Use

Dr Marie-Charlotte Bouesseau HQ/HIS/SDS – Service Delivery and Safety Dr Nicolas Clark HQ/NMH/MSD/MSB – Mental Health and Substance Abuse

Dr Slim Slama EM/RGO/NMH/NCD/NCM – Noncommunicable Disease Management

Mr Lee Sharkey HQ/NMH/NVI/MND – Consultant, Management of Noncommunicable Diseases CHARACTERISTICS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS OF THE GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT GROUP

	Organizational affiliation	WHO region	Gender	Expertise	Disclosure of interest	Conflict of interest and management plan
Dr Gauhar Afshan	The Aga Khan University , Karachi, Pakistan	EMR	Female	MBBS, FCPS (Anaesthesiology). Anaesthesiologist; pain management; guideline development	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Dr Zipporah Ali	Executive Director Kenya Hospices and Palliative 9696Care Association (KEHPCA), Nairobi, Kenya	AFR	Female	MD, MPH, Masters in Palliative Care, HonDUniv (Palliative Care) Palliative care specialist; guideline development; pain policy	Board member (trustee) of the International Children's Palliative Care Network (unpaid)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Dr Chioma Asuzu	College of Medicine, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria	AFR	Female	BSc Nursing, M Ed Counselling Psychology, PhD (Clinical Psychology), Diploma in Cancer Prevention and Control, Diploma in Molecular Prevention Psycho-oncology; nursing; psychology	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Dr Eduardo Bruera	The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas, United States	AMR	Male	MD, FAAHPM Medical oncology; palliative care; pain management	Participated in Institute of Medicine funded project on Care at the End of Life (committee member and author), completed in 2015	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Dr Jim Cleary	University of Wisconsin Carbone Cancer Center; Pain and Policy Studies Group, Wisconsin, United States	AMR	Male	MBBS, FAChPM Palliative care; pain management; pain policy	No conflicts declared	

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF **CANCER PAIN** IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

	Organizational affiliation	WHO region	Gender	Expertise	Disclosure of interest	Conflict of interest and management plan
Dr Malcolm Dobbin	Senior Medical Advisor, Victorian Department of Health, Melbourne, Australia	WРК	Male	PhD, MBBS, Dip Obstetrics RANZCOG, MPH, FAFPHM Public health; toxicology; misuse of pharmaceuticals, health policy	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Dr Kathleen Foley	Attending neurologist emeritus at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, Pain and Palliative Care Service, New York, United States	AMR	Female	BS (Biology), MD Palliative care; cancer pain; pain management; neurology	Former director and medical director of Open Society Foundations' (1995-2015) efforts to advance access to palliative care	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Ms Harmala Gupta	CanSupport, New Delhi, India	SEAR	Female	BA (Hons) Economics, MA International Politics, MPhil Chinese Studies. Palliative care policy; Patient experience; cancer survivorship	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Dr Eric Krakauer	Harvard Medical School Center for Palliative Care, Boston, Massachusetts, United States	AMR	Male	MD, PhD Palliative care; pain policy	No conflicts declared	
Dr Philip Larkin	School of Nursing Midwifery and Health Systems, Haalth Sciences Centre, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland	EUR	Male	PhD (Palliative care), MSc (Palliative Care Education), BSc (Hons) (Community Health), Registered Nurse, RSCN, RHY, District Nurse, Registered Nurse Tutor Palliative care nursing	Elected president of the European Association of Palliative Care (2015-2019) (unpaid)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Mr Diederik Lohman	Human Rights Watch, United States	AMR	Male	BA (propedeuse) Russian Language and Culture, MA Russian Studies and Law Human rights, pain policy	Received US\$ 266 000 of institutional research funding from Atlantic Philanthropies to conduct qualitative and policy research and advocacy related to palliative care (2015–2016)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.

	Organizational affiliation	WHO region	Gender	Expertise	Disclosure of interest	Conflict of interest and management plan
Dr Sebastian Moine	General practitioner, Amiens University Hospital, Paris, France	EUR	Male	BSc, MA Biological and medical sciences, MD, Diploma in Palliative Care, MSc in Ethics of health practices, health care, and hospital institutions, MS in Ethics, chronic disease, end-of-life and palliative care, Diploma in Active learning and simulation in health care Primary palliative care; General practice	Received €385.750 institutional research funding from French Ministry of Health to develop and assess a complex intervention in primary palliative care (2015-2019)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Dr Hibah Osman	Balsam-Lebanese Center for Palliative Care, Beirut,Lebanon	EMR	Female	MD, Family Medicine & Hospice and Palliative Medicine Executive and Medical Director and Founder, Balsam Clinical Associate at the American University of Beirut Medical Center	No conflicts declared	
Dr Lukas Radbruch	Director of the Department of Palliative Medicine, University Hospital Bonn, Bonn, Germany	EUR	Male	MD, speciality certificate (anaesthesiology) Palliative care; pain management; pain policy	President of the German Association for Palliative Medicine since 2014 and Chairman of the Baard of Directors of the International Association for Hospice and Palliative Care (IAHPC)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Dr MR Rajagopal	Trivandrum Institute of Palliative Sciences, Trivandrum, Kerala, India	SEAR	Male	BSc (Zoology), MBBS, MD (Anaesthesiology), MNAMS (Anaesthesiology) Anaesthesiology) Anaesthesiology; palliative care; pain policy	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

	Organizational affiliation	WHO region	Gender	Expertise	Disclosure of interest	Conflict of interest and management plan
Dr Paul Sebastian	Director of the Regional Cancer Centre, Trivandrum, Kerala, India	SEAR	Male	MBBS, MS (General surgery) Surgical oncology	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Dr Nandi Siegfried	Co-Director of the South African Cochrane Centre at the Medical Research Council (MRC), Cape Town, South Africa	AFR	Female	MBChB, MPH (Hons), FCPHM (SA), DPhil (Oxon) Guideline methodology	Has received approximately US\$ 50 000 from consultancy work with WHO over last four years (ongoing)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Dr Catherine Stannard	Pain Clinic, Gloucester House, Southmead Hospital, Bristol, United Kingdom	EUR	Female	MB ChB, FRCA, FFPMRCA Pain management; guideline development	From 2014–2016, chaired clinical and policy group (unpaid) on behalf of public bodies in the UK, to develop resource to support prescribers of opioids in the UK, and risks of misuse of gabapentin and pregabalin	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Dr Jane Turner	University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia	ХРХ	Female	MBBS, PhD, FRANZCP Psychiatry; psycho- oncology; guideline development	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Dr Verna Vanderpuye	Department of Radiotherapy, Korle – Bu Teaching Hospital, Korle – Bu, Ghana	AFR	Female	MB ChB FWACS, FGCP Radiation oncology; medical oncology	No conflicts declared	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required
Ms Verna Walker-Edwards	Ministry of Health, Jamaica	AMR	Female	BSc and Diploma in pharmacy, Diploma in Management Studies, MSc in Health Administration Pharmacist; pain policy	Recipient of International Pain Policy Fellowship from Pain Policy Studies Group, University of Wisconsin (2008-2012)	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required

Regional representation: AFR (4); AMR (6); EMR (2); EUR (4); SEAR (3); WPR (2). Gender balance: Female (11); Male (10). Note: AFR = African Region; AMR = Region of the Americas; EMR = Eastern Mediterranean Region; EUR = European Region; SEAR = South-East Asia Region; WPR = Western Pacific Region.

CHARACTERISTICS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS OF THE EXTERNAL REVIEW GROUP

Conflict of interest and management plan	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Disclosure of interest	No conflicts declared	Research support for employer (CDC) (Amount assumed significant in size) - Received research funding to conduct systematic reviews on opioids for chronic (non- cancer) pain	No conflicts declared	No conflicts declared	No conflicts declared
Expertise	MBBCh, MSc in radiotherapy, MD in radiotherapy, Diploma of the American Board of Hospice and Palliative Medicine (DABHPM), Diploma in Palliative Medicine	MD, Fellow of the American College of Physicians	MD, Fellow of the American College of Surgeons (FACS), Fellow of the European Board of Surgery (FEBS)	MBBS, MD in Radiotherapy, Diploma of Medicine (Palliative care), M Med (Palliative care)	BN, Diploma (Cancer Nursing) MS (Clinical oncology), PhD (Palliative Care Education)
Gender	Male	Male	Male	Female	Female
WHO region	EMR	AMR	EMR	WPR	AFR
Organizational affiliation	Palliative Medicine Unit, Kasr Al-Ainy Centre of Clinical Oncology & Nuclear Medicine (NEMROCK), Kasr Al-Ainy School of Medicine, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt	Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, Oregon, United States		Saint Georges Hospital University Medical Center, Beirut, Lebanon	
	Samy Alsirafy	Roger Chou	Michel Daher	Beena Devi	Julia Downing

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF **CANCER PAIN** IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

Conflict of interest and management plan	Considered to have no significant conflict interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Disclosure of interest	Member of the South African Medicines Control Council (since 2015), and two of its expert committees: Legal Committee (since 2000) and Names and Scheduling Expert Committee (since 2000) Member of the South Medicines List Committee (since 2014) Member of the WHO Expert Panel on Drug Policies and Management (since 2017), and a member of the WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines at various times (most recently, 2011, 2013) Past member of the WHO Guidelines Review Committee (completed term in 2013)	Committee (since 2016) and Names and Scheduling Expert Committee (since 2000)	Member of the South African National Essential Medicines List Committee (since 2014)	Employee of African Palliative Care Association
Expertise	B Pharm, MSc (Pharm), FPS, FFIP	BS (Biology), MD Palliative care; cancer pain; pain management; neurology	BA (Hons) Economics, MA International Politics, MPhil Chinese Studies Palliative care policy; Patient experience; cancer survivorship	MB, ChB, Master of Family Medicine (M FAM MED), Post graduate Honours Degree in Public Administration ((BPA) Hons), MPA
Gender	Male	Female	Female	Male
WHO region	A F R	AMR	SEAR	AFR
Organizational affiliation	Sarawack General Hospital, Jalan Hospital, Sarawak, Malaysia	Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda	University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa	African Palliative Care Association, PO BOX 72518 850 Dr Gibbons Road, Kampala, Uganda
	Andy Gray	Parmanand Jain	Brian Kelly	Emmanuel Luyirika

Conflict of interest and management plan	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Disclosure of interest	Site investigator for novel analgesic. Current. Funds delivered on recruitment - Southern Star Research, Australia	No conflicts declared	President of the Latin American Association for Palliative Care (ALCP) Works to increase access to palliative care globally Has received money from IAHPC (in official relations with WHO) to volunteer at WHO to volunteer at WHO
Expertise	PhD, MBBS, FRACGP, FAChPM	MBBS, Postgraduate Diploma (Anaesthesiology), Postgraduate Diploma of Medicine (Palliative Care), Diploma in Palliative Medicine	MD, Doctorate in Medical Anthropology
Gender	Male	Male	Female
WHO region	WPR	SEAR	AMR
Organizational affiliation	School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia	Institute of Palliative Medicine, Medical College PO, Kozhikode, Kerala, India	Latin American Association for Palliative Care and Department of Palliative Medicine, University Hospital TWTH, Germany
	Geoff Mitchell	Anil Paleri	Tania Pastrana

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF **CANCER PAIN** IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS

Conflict of interest and management plan	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.	Considered to have no significant conflicts of interest. No conflict management required.
Disclosure of interest	Consulting, including, service a technical or other advisor: I. For Palliative Care – Training on Pain Policy for physicans and heat of hospital and heath service in Vietnam (Pain and Policy Studies Group – "Assumed to be significant." – April 2012); 2. For Rational Use of Drugs - Training courses on activities of Drug Therapy Committee and pharmacology (Ministry of Health – Volunteer – April 2012 to 2017) – Assessment on quality of diagnosis and prescription and DTC in the project supported hospitals (GGZ – "assumed to be significant" – August 2016)	President of the German Association for Palliative Medicine since 2014 and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the International Association for Hospice and Palliative Care (IAHPC)
Expertise	Senior Pharmaceutical Expert (retired), Consultant Vietnam Administration Medical Administry of Health)	BSc (Hons) Sociology, Ph.D. Psychology, Diploma in Clinical Psychology, AFBPS
Gender	Female	Female
WHO region	× A	EUR
Organizational affiliation	Centre for Community Health Development, Viet Nam	Pastoral and Psychological Care, Royal Marsden NHS Trust, Downs Road, Sutton, Surrey SM2 5PT, United Kingdom
	Nguyen Thi Phuong Cham	Maggie Watson

Note: AFR = African Region; AMR = Region of the Americas; EMR = Eastern Mediterranean Region; EUR = European Region; SEAR = South-East Asia Region; WPR = Western Pacific Regional representation: AFR (3); AMR (3); EMR (2); EUR (1); SEAR (2); WPR (3). Gender balance: Female (5); Male (7). Region

HOW COMPETING INTERESTS WERE MANAGED

Each member of the GDG was asked to complete a WHO Declaration of Interests (DOI) form before the initial GDG scoping meeting and guideline formulation meetings. All conflicts of interest reported were reviewed by the guidelines coordinator and the responsible technical officer. In five cases of potentially significant conflicts of interest (financial or nonfinancial), advice was sought from the Secretariat of the Guidelines Review Committee and WHO's Department of Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics (CRE) as to whether the conflicts warranted one of several actions: exclusion from the GDG; exclusion from one or more topic areas; inclusion in all of evidence review sessions, but exclusion from final voting on recommendations; no action required. The Director of the Department for Management of Noncommunicable Diseases, Disability, Violence and Injury Prevention (NVI) made the final decision to exclude the five candidates with potentially significant conflicts of interests from the GDG, based on advice from the Steering Group and CRE colleagues. GDG members were instructed to update their DOIs throughout the process with any potentially relevant change by notifying the responsible technical officer and the guidelines coordinator.

Owners, co-owners and members of advisory boards of pharmaceutical companies were excluded from the External Review Group (ERG) and GDG membership and from participation in other parts of the development process. Board memberships and directorships of professional bodies were evaluated for their potential to be conflicts of interest, as were the funding sources of the bodies. All GDG members were asked to share their *curricula vitae*, and a brief biography of all potential members was published publicly on the WHO website from June to September 2016. There was a standing agenda item on "Conflicts of Interests" at the beginning of all Guideline Development Group meetings where declared conflicts of interest were presented before the entire GDG. Relevant declared conflicts of interest of GDG members were reported in the guidelines publication, as was the strategy employed to manage conflicts of interest during the meeting. WHO policies on conflicts of interest were fully applied throughout.

ANNEX 5: OPIOID ANALGESICS AND INTERNATIONAL CONVENTIONS

Source: Adapted from Guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of persisting pain in children with medical illness. WHO 2012 (1).

This annex provides an overview of the rules for procurement, distribution and dispensing of opioid medicines and of their status as controlled medicines under the United Nations Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961. The annex is intended to guide policy-makers, managers, health-care officials and health-care providers to improve the safe accessibility of opioid analgesics for medical needs through policy development and health system planning.

The World Health Organization (WHO) published the policy guidelines *Ensuring bal*ance in national policies on controlled substances: guidance for availability and accessibility of controlled medicines to assist countries to optimize access to all controlled medicines and to prevent harm from substance misuse (2). WHO encourages governments, health-care providers and civil society to strive towards a balance in national opioid policies so that access to opioids for rational medical uses is maximized and hazardous or harmful uses are minimized.

UNITED NATIONS DRUG CONVENTIONS AND THEIR GOVERNANCE SYSTEM

There are three international drug control treaties: the United Nations Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol (3); the United Nations Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971 (4); and the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances 1988 (5). These conventions represent a global effort to prevent drug abuse, while enabling access to these substances as medicines for the relief of pain and suffering. By signing these treaties, countries have made a commitment to implement a number of drug control measures in their territories without unduly restricting access to medicines.

The Commission on Narcotic Drugs (CND), which represents the States Parties to these international drug conventions, has the authority to decide, upon a recommendation from WHO, whether a substance should be scheduled as a narcotic drug or a psychotropic substance. The process for developing the recommendations for scheduling drugs under these two conventions is described in the *Guidance for the WHO review of psychoactive substances for international control* (6). The International Narcotics Control Board (INCB) is charged with monitoring governments' compliance with the above international treaties and ensuring, on the one hand, that controlled

substances are available for medical and scientific use and, on the other hand, that the drugs are not diverted from licit sources to illicit markets.

THE SINGLE CONVENTION ON NARCOTIC DRUGS AND OPIOID ANALGESICS

The Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol (3) is the principal international treaty regulating the control of opioids. It seeks to limit the production, manufacture, exportation, importation, distribution, trade, use and possession of narcotic drugs exclusively to medical and scientific purposes. The Single Convention distinguishes four types of classification: Schedule I, Schedule II, Schedule III and Schedule IV. Each schedule refers to a number of control measures to be applied according to the gravity of drug abuse and dependence produced by the listed substances. Morphine and the other strong opioids such as fentanyl, hydromorphone, oxycodone, methadone and others, are listed under Schedule I. In order to comply with the Single Convention, countries should take the following measures for narcotic substances listed under Schedule I:

- estimate the annual medical and scientific requirements and submit their estimates to the INCB for confirmation;
- limit the total quantities manufactured and imported to the estimates, taking into account the quantity exported;
- ensure they remain in the hands of licensed parties for trade and distribution within the country;
- require a medical prescription to be dispensed for their use;
- report to the INCB on the amount imported, exported, manufactured, consumed and on the stocks held;
- maintain a system of inspection of manufacturers, exporters, importers and wholesale and retail distributors of narcotic drugs, and of medical and scientific institutions that use such substances, and ensure that premises, stocks and records are inspected; and
- take steps to prevent the diversion and abuse of these substances.

The Single Convention states in its preamble: "recognizing that the medical use of narcotic drugs continues to be indispensable for the relief of pain and suffering and that adequate provision must be made to ensure the availability of narcotic drugs for such purposes". This puts an obligation on the countries that are Parties to the international conventions to ensure the medical availability of the controlled substances.
DRUG MISUSE VERSUS PATIENT NEED

The Single Convention recognizes that governments have the right to impose further restrictions, if they consider it necessary, to prevent diversion and misuse of opioids. However, this right must be continually balanced against the responsibility to ensure opioid availability for medical purposes.

In deciding the appropriate level of regulation, governments should bear in mind the dual aims of the Single Convention. The INCB has observed that, in some countries, fear of drug misuse has resulted in laws and regulations, or interpretations of laws and regulations, which make it unnecessarily difficult to obtain opioids for medical use:

... prevention of availability of many opiates for licit use does not necessarily guarantee the prevention of the abuse of illicitly procured opiates. Thus, an overly restrictive approach to the licit availability of opiates may, in the end, merely result in depriving a majority of the population of access to opiate medications for licit purposes (7).

In its annual report of 2004, the INCB furthermore acknowledged that there was a huge disparity in countries' access to opioid analgesics for pain relief. It reported that six developed countries accounted for 79% of the global consumption of morphine. Conversely, developing countries, which represent 80% of the world's population, accounted for approximately 6% of the global consumption of morphine (8). A study on the adequacy of opioid consumption around the world concluded that 5683 million people live in countries where the consumption level of strong opioid analgesics is below adequate, against 464 million in countries with adequate consumption of strong opioids. An additional 433 million people live in countries for which no data are available (9).

Drug control conventions were established to enhance public health, which is affected positively by the availability of controlled medicines for medical treatment and affected negatively by misuse and dependence. Countries should seek the optimum balance in order to attain the best outcomes for public health.

Governments should examine their drug control legislation and policies for the presence of overly restrictive provisions that affect delivery of appropriate medical care involving controlled medicines. They should also ensure that provisions aim at optimizing health outcomes and take corrective action as needed. Decisions which are ordinarily medical in nature should be taken by health professionals. For doing so, they can use the WHO policy guidelines, specifically *Ensuring balance in national policies on controlled substances (2)*, especially the country checklist contained in that publication.

COMPETENT NATIONAL AUTHORITIES UNDER THE INTERNATIONAL DRUG CONTROL TREATIES

The national legislation in countries that have ratified the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol, designates a competent national authority to liaise with the INCB and the competent authorities of other countries. These competent national authorities also administer national regulations relating to controlled substances for medical use. The office of the competent national authority is usually located in the national medicines regulatory authority and/or in the Ministry of Health. In certain countries, the competent national authority is a separate government agency; in others, it is an office located in another ministry, such as the ministries of justice, police or finance.

The identification of the competent national authority is a necessary step for any manager and officer involved in the planning of the procurement and supply of opioid analgesics. A list of country competent authorities and their contact details is available.¹

THE CONVENTION'S REQUIREMENTS FOR NATIONAL ESTIMATES OF MEDICAL NEED FOR OPIOIDS

Every year, competent national authorities must prepare estimates for the following calendar year of their requirements for Schedule I narcotic drugs (morphine and other strong opioid analgesics) and Schedule II (10). These estimates are submitted to the INCB and set the yearly limits for the amount of strong opioids to be procured for medical use. The estimates must be submitted to the INCB by 30 June, six months in advance of the period to which they apply. The INCB notifies confirmed estimates to the competent national authorities by December of the same year.

Under the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol, the quantity of controlled substances manufactured or imported into a country must not exceed the official government estimates. Therefore, the submission of adequate estimates to the INCB is crucial when importing controlled substances, as exporting countries will refuse to export additional narcotic substances to a country that has used up the quantity it is allowed to import for the calendar year.

The responsibility for determining the amount of opioids needed to meet medical and scientific requirements in a country rests entirely with the government, although the INCB may examine the estimates and request additional information and clarification. If countries fail to establish estimates of annual narcotics requirements, the INCB determines them on their behalf. In such cases, the INCB informs the competent national authority of the country concerned of its estimates and requests the authority to review them.

¹ See: http://www.painpolicy.wisc.edu/countryprofiles, accessed 4 October 2018).

THE IMPORTANCE OF RELIABLE ESTIMATES

WHO and the INCB are working on a joint guide for estimating requirements for substances under international control. This is a particularly important step in the supply cycle of opioid analgesics as it ensures the uninterrupted supply of these essential medicines. Countries introducing or enlarging the coverage of pain relief services will need to forecast adequately the quantities of opioid analgesics that will be increasingly supplied in the health system.

If an annual estimate proves to be inadequate, the competent national authority can submit supplementary estimates to the INCB at any time during the course of the year. However, the competent national authority will be requested to provide an explanation of the circumstances necessitating additional drug quantities. As far as possible, such supplementary estimates should be used only in the case of unforeseen circumstances and for the introduction of new treatments (11).

The market availability of controlled substances is confined to the estimates submitted to the INCB. Hence, it is crucial for managers and other parties concerned with the procurement of strong opioids to be aware of national estimates for the relevant drugs. The Board publishes changes in the estimates received from governments on a monthly basis on the Internet (www.incb.org), or on a quarterly basis in the form of a hard copy technical report sent to governments, as a guide to exporting countries.

DOMESTIC MANUFACTURE OF STRONG OPIOID ANALGESICS

After a country has received confirmation of its estimates from the INCB, it may start procedures for manufacturing or importing of opioid analgesics under Schedule I. The Single Convention requires governments to license individuals and enterprises involved in the manufacture of opioid medicines. In order to prevent the diversion of these strong opioids to illicit markets, manufacturers must make resources available for recordkeeping and security procedures, as well as for the provision of secure facilities from the moment the raw materials are acquired until the finished products are distributed.

In addition, governments should assure the quality of the manufactured medicines, such as by enforcing Good Manufacturing Practices and the requirement of a market authorization by the national medicines regulatory authority.

Special reporting to INCB is additionally requested regarding:

 the quantities of opioid medicines to be used in the manufacturing of other medicines;

- the number of industrial establishments that will manufacture opioid medicines; and
- the quantities of opioid medicines to be manufactured by each establishment.

THE IMPORT/EXPORT SYSTEM FOR STRONG OPIOIDS

The principles governing the procurement and supply of strong opioid medicines are similar to those for other pharmaceutical products but require additional steps, as mandated by the Single Convention and national legislation.

Generally, each country has its own importation procedures, which may require approval from different authorities in the country, such as the Ministry of Health, the national medicines regulatory authority and other entities (e.g. for import duties).

Specifically, the Single Convention requires additional steps and approvals for the importation and exportation of narcotic drugs. These steps, outlined below and in **Figure A5.1**, are broadly applicable across countries, although specific requirements may vary from country to country.

- The licensed importing entity (e.g. private or public company) applies for an import authorization from the importing country's competent authority. It should be noted that, while the competent authorities in some countries are different from the national medicines regulatory authority, in others they may be one and the same authority.
- 2. The competent authority considers whether the entity is properly licensed and whether the amount of drug required is within the national estimate. If so, the competent authority issues an original import certificate in the appropriate number of copies. The original and one copy are for the importer, one copy is for the competent authority of the exporting country, and an additional copy is to be kept in the records of the issuing competent authority.
- 3. The importer sends the original of the import authorization to the company responsible for the export of the substance.
- 4. The exporter applies to its competent authority for an export authorization and encloses the import authorization with the application.
- 5. The competent authority in the exporting country checks that an import authorization has been issued and that the exporter is properly licensed. If the application is approved, an export authorization is issued and the original import authorization is returned.
- 6. The competent authority in the exporting country sends a copy of the export authorization to its counterpart competent authority in the importing country.



Figure A5.1. Steps and approvals for the importation and exportation of narcotic drugs

Source: Reproduced from UNODOC et al. 2018 (12).

- 7. The exporter ships the drugs to the importer, along with the copy of the export authorization and the original import authorization.
- 8. The shipment must pass two customs inspections: one in the exporting country and one in the importing country.
- 9. The importer sends the export authorization to its competent authority in the importing country.

REQUIREMENTS FOR IMPORT/EXPORT AUTHORIZATIONS OR CERTIFICATES

Both import and export authorizations should include:

- the international nonproprietary name (INN) of the medicine;
- the quantity of the medicine to be imported or exported;
- the name and address of the importer and exporter; and
- the period of validity of the authorization.

The export authorization should also state the reference number and date of the import authorization, and the name of the issuing authority. The forms for import and export applications may vary from country to country. INCB model forms for these authorizations are available in the Guidelines for the import and export of drugs and precursor references standards for use by national drug testing laboratories and competent national authorities (13).

Import and export authorizations are normally required for each shipment. One import authorization can allow for more shipments (for which exportation authorization needs to be granted on a single basis).

- The authorization process for the importation and exportation of opioid medicines can be very lengthy and subject to errors. Therefore, the procurement of controlled medicines requires careful planning.
- Managers and officers involved in the procurement of opioid analgesics should use the steps outlined here as a starting point to develop comprehensive plans specific to their countries' situations. Since the importation of controlled medicines involves decision-making and authorizations from several departments/agencies, it is crucial that strong coordination and partnerships are established among all parties.

THE REPORTING SYSTEM FOLLOWING EXPORTATION, IMPORTATION AND CONSUMPTION OF OPIOIDS

The competent national authority in the country must send quarterly reports to the INCB of all imports and exports of opioid analgesics classified under Schedule I. It is also mandatory to make an annual inventory and to report the total amount of opioids manufactured, consumed and held in stock at the central level (e.g. licensed central warehouses, manufacturers' warehouses). The annual inventory does not include medicines stored in retail pharmacies, retail distributors or other health services which, for official purposes, are considered to have been consumed. "Stock" is defined in Article 1 of the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol.

DISTRIBUTION OF STRONG OPIOIDS

The Single Convention requires countries to ensure that trade and distribution can be performed only by licensed parties. The competent national authority normally provides trade and distribution licences to private companies, either manufacturers or wholesalers. A manufacturer or wholesaler may distribute the finished products directly to licensed pharmacies or hospitals. Wholesalers must also be licensed by the competent national authority and must comply with rules concerning security and recordkeeping. The Single Convention *neither* requests countries to provide exclusive rights for the storage, distribution and trade of controlled medicines to one single state agency or private company, *nor* suggests that opioids be managed within a special or separate medicine distribution system.

However, some countries have separated the storage and distribution of controlled medicines from the distribution system for other medicines. They have also established additional requirements to those mandated by the Single Convention. These may sometimes have a negative impact on the accessibility to strong opioids and may increase distribution costs.

USUAL REQUIREMENTS FOR PRESCRIBING AND DISPENSING OPIOIDS

The Single Convention requires medical prescriptions to prescribe and dispense controlled medicines to individuals. Legal requirements for prescriptions vary from country to country. However, in accordance with most prescription medicines, a prescription for an opioid analgesic should specify the following:

- the name and business address of the prescribing health professional;
- the name of the patient;
- the date of the prescription;

- the preparation to be dispensed (e.g. morphine tablet);
- the dose to be dispensed in milligrams (words and numbers);
- the frequency of dispensing (e.g. daily, twice daily); and
- the signature of the prescribing doctor or health professional.

Requirements for duplicate prescriptions and special prescription forms increase the administrative burden both for health-care workers and drug control authorities. The problem is compounded if forms are not readily available, or if health professionals need to pay for them. The conventions allow for duplicate prescriptions and special prescription forms if countries consider them necessary or desirable. Governments should ensure that this system does not impede the availability and accessibility of controlled medicines. No limit is set on the quantity of medicines or the length of the treatment inscribed in a prescription.

WORLD HEALTH ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION 67.19 (2014) ON STRENGTHENING OF PALLIATIVE CARE AS A COMPONENT OF COMPREHENSIVE CARE THROUGHOUT THE LIFE COURSE

In 2014, the World Health Assembly (14):

- Affirmed that access to palliative care and to essential medicines for medical and scientific purposes, manufactured from controlled substances, including opioid analgesics such as morphine, in line with the three United Nations international drug control conventions, contributes to the realization of the right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health and well-being;
- Noted that the availability and appropriate use of internationally controlled medicines for medical and scientific purposes, particularly for the relief of pain and suffering, remains insufficient in many countries, and highlighted the need for Member States, with the support of the WHO Secretariat, the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime and the International Narcotics Control Board (INCB), to ensure that efforts to prevent the diversion of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances under international control pursuant to the United Nations international drug control conventions do not result in inappropriate regulatory barriers to medical access to such medicines;
- Noted the inclusion of controlled medicines needed for pain control in palliative care settings in the WHO Model list of essential medicines and the WHO Model list of essential medicines for children; and
- Urged Members States:

- to assess domestic palliative care needs, including pain management medication requirements, and promote collaborative action to ensure adequate supply of essential medicines in palliative care, avoiding shortages;
- to review and, where appropriate, revise national and local legislation and policies for controlled medicines, with reference to WHO policy guidance, on improving access to and rational use of pain management medicines, in line with the United Nations international drug control conventions; and
- to update, as appropriate, national essential medicines lists in the light of the recent addition of sections on pain and palliative care medicines to the WHO Model list of essential medicines and the WHO Model list of essential medicines for children.

REFERENCES

1. WHO Guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of persisting pain in children with medical illness. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.

2. Ensuring balance in national policies on controlled substances: guidance for availability and accessibility of controlled medicines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.

3. Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol. New York (NY): United Nations; 1961 (https://www.unodc.org/pdf/convention_1961_en.pdf, accessed 3 October 2018).

4. Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971. New York (NY): United Nations; 1971 (https://www.unodc.org/pdf/convention_1971_en.pdf, accessed 3 October 2018).

5. United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988 adopted by the Conference at its 6th plenary meeting on 19 December 1988. New York (NY): United Nations; 1991 (https://www.unodc.org/ pdf/convention_1988_en.pdf, accessed 3 October 2018).

6. Guidelines for the WHO review of psychoactive substances for international control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.

7. Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1989 : demand for and supply of opiates for medical and scientific needs. Vienna: International Narcotics Control Board; 1989.

8. International Narcotics Control Board. Precursors and chemicals frequently used in the illicit manufacture of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances: report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 2004 on the Implementation of Article 12

of the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988. Vienna: International Narcotics Control Board; 2005.

9. Seya M-J, Gelders SFAM, Achara OU, Barbara M, Scholten WK. A first comparison between the consumption of and the need for opioid analgesics at country, regional, and global levels. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2011;25:6–18.

 List of narcotic drugs under international control. Prepared by the International Narcotics Control Board in accordance with the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961. Protocol of 25 March 1972 amending the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961. Vienna: International Narcotics Control Board; 2004.

11. Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 2008. Vienna: International Narcotics Control Board; 2009.

12. UNODC, World Health Organization, and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. United Nations Regional Task Force on Injection Drug Use and HIV/ AIDS for Asia and the Pacific. A step-by-step algorithm for the procurement of controlled substances for drug substitution therapy. Internal document. Bangkok: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime Regional Centre for East Asia and the Pacific; 2007 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-aids/Step-by-Step%20procurement%20subs%20treat.pdf, accessed 3 October 2018).

13. Guidelines for the import and export of drugs and precursor reference standards for use by national drug testing laboratories and competent national authorities. Vienna: International Narcotics Control Board; 2007.

14. Resolution WHA 67.19. Strengthening of palliative care as a component of comprehensive care throughout the life course. Sixty-seventh World Health Assembly, Geneva, 9–14 May 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (http://apps. who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA67/A67_R19-en.pdf, accessed 29 May 2018).

ANNEX 6: PHARMACOLOGICAL PROFILES AND OPIOID CONVERSION TABLES

I. PHARMACOLOGICAL PROFILES

1. ACETYLSALICYLIC ACID

Suppository: 50-150 mg

Tablet: 100-500 mg

Uses: mild-to-moderate pain including dysmenorrhoea, and headache; pain and inflammation in rheumatic disease and other musculoskeletal disorders, including juvenile arthritis; pyrexia; acute migraine attack; antiplatelet.

Contraindications: hypersensitivity (including asthma, angioedema, urticaria, or rhinitis) to acetylsalicylic acid or any other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medicine (NSAIM); children and adolescents under 16 years (to reduce risk of Reye's syndrome); previous or active peptic ulceration; haemophilia and other bleeding disorders; not for treatment of gout.

Precautions:

- asthma
- allergic disease
- renal impairment
- hepatic impairment
- pregnancy
- breastfeeding
- older persons
- G6PD-deficiency
- dehydration interactions.

Dose:

Mild-to-moderate pain, pyrexia, by mouth with or after food, ADULT, 300–900 mg every 4–6 hours if necessary; maximum, 4 g daily; CHILD under 16 years, not recommended.

Mild-to-moderate pain, pyrexia, by rectum, ADULT, 600–900 mg inserted every 4 hours if necessary; maximum, 3.6 g daily; CHILD under 16 years, not recommended.

Inflammatory arthritis, by mouth with or after food, ADULT, 4–8 g daily in divided doses in acute conditions; up to 5.4 g daily may be sufficient in chronic conditions.

Adverse effects: generally mild and infrequent for lower doses, but common with anti-inflammatory doses; gastrointestinal discomfort or nausea, ulceration with occult bleeding (occasionally major haemorrhage); also other haemorrhage including subconjunctival; hearing disturbances such as tinnitus (rarely deafness), vertigo, confusion, hypersensitivity reactions including angioedema, bronchospasm, and rash; increased bleeding time; rarely oedema, myocarditis and blood disorders (particularly thrombocytopenia).

2. CODEINE PHOSPHATE

Tablet: 15 mg, 30 mg, 60 mg

Oral solution: 25 mg/5 mL

Injection: 60 mg/mL

Medication subject to international control under the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961.

NOTE: Codeine is a prodrug of morphine, requiring metabolism by CYP2D6 to morphine to provide an analgesic effect. Most of its analgesic effect results from the ≤10% of codeine which is converted to morphine by O-demethylation via CYP2D6 (1,2,3). There is a high degree of variability in CYP2D6 metabolism of codeine to morphine because of genetic differences between individuals and ethnic groups, making the benefits and risks of use unpredictable. On average, 77–92% of people extensively metabolize codeine to morphine while 5-10% are poor metabolizers and experience no analgesic benefit. The 1–2% of people who are ultra-rapid metabolizers are at the highest risk for morphine exposure and toxicity, including respiratory depression. Prevalence of ultra-rapid metabolizers varies considerably depending on ethnicity: Caucasian 1-10%; Arabs, Ethiopians and North Africans 16-28% (4). In 2015 the Ethiopian government temporarily banned codeine (5). In addition, some authorities assert that there is no pharmacological need for weak opioids such as codeine in cancer pain because low doses of morphine (or an alternative strong opioid) generally provide quicker and better relief from cancer pain (6,7). These authorities discourage any use of codeine (3).

Uses: mild-to-moderate pain; diarrhoea.

Contraindications: respiratory depression, obstructive airways disease, acute asthma attack; where there is risk of paralytic ileus.

Precautions:

- renal impairment
- hepatic impairment
- dependence
- pregnancy
- breastfeeding
- overdosage.

Interactions:

- alcohol: enhanced sedative and hypotensive effect
- amitriptyline: possibly increased sedation
- chlorpromazine: enhanced sedative and hypotensive effect
- clomipramine: possibly increased sedation
- diazepam: enhanced sedative effect
- fluphenazine: enhanced sedative and hypotensive effect
- haloperidol: enhanced sedative and hypotensive effect
- metoclopramide: antagonism of effect of metoclopramide on gastrointestinal activity
- ritonavir: possibly increases plasma concentration of codeine

Dose: mild-to-moderate pain, by mouth, ADULT, 30–60 mg every 4 hours when necessary; maximum, 240 mg daily.

Adverse effects: constipation particularly troublesome in long-term use; dizziness, nausea, vomiting; difficulty with micturition; ureteric or biliary spasm; dry mouth, headaches, sweating, facial flushing; in therapeutic doses, codeine is much less liable than morphine to produce tolerance, dependence, euphoria, sedation or other adverse effects.

3. FENTANYL

Transmucosal lozenge: 200 mcg, 400 mcg, 600 mcg, 800 mcg, 1200 mcg, 1600 mcg (as citrate).

Transdermal patch (extended-release): 12 mcg/hr, 25 mcg/hr, 50 mcg/hr, 75 mcg/hr, 100 mcg/hr, (as base).

Injection: 50 mcg/mL in various vial sizes (as citrate)

Indications: moderate-to-severe persisting pain.

Contraindications: hypersensitivity to opioid agonists or to any component of the formulation; acute respiratory depression; acute asthma; paralytic ileus; concomitant use with, or use within 14 days after ending, monoamine oxidase inhibitor therapy; raised intracranial pressure and/or head injury, if ventilation not controlled; coma.

Precautions: impaired respiratory function; avoid rapid injection which may precipitate chest wall rigidity and difficulty with ventilation; bradycardia; asthma; hypotension; shock; obstructive or inflammatory bowel disorders; biliary tract disease; convulsive disorders; hypothyroidism; adrenocortical insufficiency; avoid abrupt withdrawal after prolonged treatment; diabetes mellitus; impaired consciousness; acute pancreatitis; myasthenia gravis; hepatic impairment; renal impairment; toxic psychosis; (patches:) increased serum levels in patients with fever >40 °C (104 °F).

Skilled tasks: warn the patient or caregiver about the risk of undertaking tasks requiring attention or coordination, e.g. operating heavy machinery.

Dosage:

Starting dose for opioid-naive patients:

- SC/IV injection:
 - start with a stat dose of 25–100 mcg and then 25–50 mcg p.r.n.
 - reduce the dose in the elderly and debilitated, e.g. 12.5–25 mcg p.r.n.
 - traditionally p.r.n. dosing intervals are q1h, but more frequent dosing with close monitoring may be required in severe acute pain
 - give IV by slow injection over 3-5 minutes; this reduces the risk of muscular rigidity.
- Continuous SC/IV infusion:
 - initial dose 240-480 mcg/24h
 - for breakthrough pain, allow 10% of the 24h infusion dose p.r.n. q1h
 - titrate the infusion dose as needed
- Transdermal patch:
 - 12-25 mcg/h (See Tables A6.3 and 6.4 below for conversion of morphine to fentanyl transdermal patch).

Dose for transmucosal lozenge (oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate): Start with lowest dose and use only for breakthrough pain in opioid-tolerant patients: patients on a regular strong opioid for chronic cancer pain for ≥1 week. The minimum dose of the regular strong opioid should be morphine 60 mg/24h PO, or fentanyl 25 mcg/h transdermal, or hydromorphone 8 mg/24h PO, or oxycodone 30 mg/24h PO, or an equivalent dose of another opioid. Prescribers of transmucosal fentanyl products should:

- be experienced in the management of opioid therapy in cancer patients;
- limit use to patients who can adhere to the instructions regarding indication, administration, storage and returns;
- provide ongoing supervision;
- keep in mind the potential for fentanyl to be misused; and
- understand that the various transmucosal formulations are not bio-equivalent and not directly interchangeable, and thus:
 - prescribe by brand;
 - when starting or switching transmucosal products, de novo titration from the lowest available dose is required.

Adverse effects:

- common nausea, vomiting, constipation, dry mouth, biliary spasm, respiratory depression, muscle rigidity, apnoea, myoclonic movements, bradycardia, hypotension, abdominal pain, anorexia, dyspepsia, mouth ulcer, taste disturbance, vasodilation, anxiety, drowsiness, diaphoresis;
- uncommon flatulence, diarrhoea, laryngospasm, dyspnoea, hypoventilation, depersonalization, dysarthria, amnesia, incoordination, paraesthesia, malaise, agitation, tremor, muscle weakness, hypertension, dizziness, itching, bronchospasm;
- rare circulatory depression, cardiac arrest, hiccups, arrhythmia, paralytic ileus, haemoptysis, psychosis, seizures, shock, asystole, pyrexia, ataxia, muscle fasciculation, local irritation (with patches).

Interactions with other medicines*:

- amiodarone profound bradycardia, sinus arrest and hypotension have been reported;
- beta-adrenergic blockers severe hypotension reported;
- calcium channel blockers severe hypotension reported;
- central nervous system depressants additive or potentiating effects with fentanyl;
- imidazole antifungals possible enhanced or prolonged effects of fentanyl;
- macrolide antibiotics possible enhanced or prolonged effects of fentanyl;
- monoamine oxidase inhibitors* severe and unpredictable potentiation of opioids;
- naloxone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms;

- naltrexone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- neuroleptics possible reduced pulmonary arterial pressure, hypotension and hypovolaemia;
- nitrous oxide possible cardiovascular depression;
- opioid antagonists/partial agonists may precipitate opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- phenytoin may reduce plasma concentration of fentanyl; and
- protease inhibitors possible enhanced or prolonged effects of fentanyl.

* Indicates severe.

4. HYDROMORPHONE

Injection: 1 mg/mL ampoule, 2 mg/mL ampoule, 4 mg/mL ampoule, 10 mg/mL ampoule (as hydrochloride)

Tablet: 2 mg, 4 mg, 8 mg (as hydrochloride)

Oral liquid: 1 mg (as hydrochloride)/mL

Sustained-release capsules: 2 mg, 4 mg, 8 mg, 16 mg, 24 mg

Indications: moderate-to-severe persisting pain.

Contraindications: hypersensitivity to opioid agonists or to any component of the formulation; acute respiratory depression; acute asthma; paralytic ileus; concomitant use with, or use within 14 days after ending, monoamine oxidase inhibitors; raised intracranial pressure and/or head injury, if ventilation not controlled; coma.

Precautions: impaired respiratory function; avoid rapid injection which may precipitate chest wall rigidity and difficulty with ventilation; bradycardia; asthma; hypotension; shock; obstructive or inflammatory bowel disorders; biliary tract disease; convulsive disorders; hypothyroidism; adrenocortical insufficiency; avoid abrupt withdrawal after prolonged treatment; diabetes mellitus; impaired consciousness; acute pancreatitis; myasthenia gravis; hepatic impairment; renal impairment; toxic psychosis.

Skilled tasks: warn the patient or caregiver about the risk of undertaking tasks requiring attention or coordination, e.g. operating heavy machinery.

Dosage:

Starting dose for opioid-naive patients:

- Oral: 1–4 mg every 4 hours as needed
- SC/IV injection: 0.3–0.7 mg every 3–4 hours as needed
- SC/IV continuous infusion: 0.1–0.2 mg/h.

Renal impairment: moderate (GFR 10-20 mL/min or serum creatinine 300-700 micromol/L) and severe (GFR <10 mL/min or serum creatinine >700 micromol/L) - reduce dose, start with lowest dose and titrate according to response.

Hepatic impairment: use with caution and reduce initial dose in all degrees of impairment.

Adverse effects:

- common nausea, vomiting, constipation, dry mouth, sedation, biliary spasm, respiratory depression, muscle rigidity, apnoea, myoclonic movements, asthenia, dizziness, confusion, dysphoria, euphoria, light-headedness, pruritus, rash, somnolence, sweating;
- uncommon hypotension, hypertension, bradycardia, tachycardia, palpitation, oedema, postural hypotension, miosis, visual disturbances, abdominal cramps, anorexia, paraesthesia, malaise, agitation, tremor, muscle weakness, hallucinations, vertigo, mood changes, dependence, drowsiness, anxiety, sleep disturbances, headache, taste disturbance, agitation, urinary retention, laryngospasm, bronchospasm;
- rare circulatory depression, cardiac arrest, respiratory arrest, shock, paralytic ileus, seizures.

Interactions with other medicines:

- central nervous system depressants additive or potentiating effects with hydromorphone;
- ethanol* additive or potentiating effects with hydromorphone, potential fatal interaction (dose dumping) if used with extended-release hydromorphone preparations;
- monoamine oxidase inhibitors* severe and unpredictable potentiation of opioids;
- naloxone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- naltrexone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms; and
- opioid antagonists/partial agonists* may precipitate opioid withdrawal symptoms.

* Indicates severe.

5. IBUPROFEN

Tablet: 200 mg; 400 mg

Uses: pain and inflammation in rheumatic disease and other musculoskeletal disorders; mild-to-moderate pain including dysmenorrhoea and headache; acute migraine attack.

Contraindications: hypersensitivity (including asthma, angioedema, urticaria, or rhinitis) to acetylsalicylic acid or any other NSAIM; active peptic ulceration.

Precautions: renal impairment; hepatic impairment; preferably avoid if history of peptic ulceration; cardiac disease; older persons; pregnancy and breastfeeding; coagulation defects; allergic disorders; interactions.

Dose:

Mild-to-moderate pain, pyrexia, inflammatory musculoskeletal disorders, by mouth with or after food, ADULT, 1.2–1.8 g daily in 3–4 divided doses, increased if necessary to maximum 2.4 g daily (3.2 g daily in inflammatory disease); maintenance dose of 0.6–1.2 g daily may be sufficient.

Adverse effects: gastrointestinal disturbances, including nausea, diarrhoea, dyspepsia, ulceration, and haemorrhage; hypersensitivity reactions including rash, angioedema and bronchospasm; headache, dizziness, nervousness, depression, drowsiness, insomnia, vertigo, tinnitus, photosensitivity, haematuria; fluid retention (rarely precipitating congestive heart failure in older persons), raised blood pressure, renal failure; rarely hepatic damage, alveolitis, pulmonary eosinophilia, pancreatitis, visual disturbances, erythema multiforme (Stevens-Johnson syndrome), toxic dermal necrolysis (Lyell syndrome), colitis and aseptic meningitis.

6. METHADONE

Injection: 10 mg/mL in various vial sizes (as hydrochloride) Tablet: 5 mg, 10 mg, 40 mg (as hydrochloride) Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL, 2 mg/mL, 5 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) Oral concentrate: 10 mg/mL (as hydrochloride)

CAUTION: Due to the complex nature and wide inter-individual variation in the pharmacokinetics of methadone, methadone should be commenced only by practitioners experienced with its use.

Titration should be carried out with close clinical observation of the patient over several days.

Indications: moderate-to-severe persisting pain.

Contraindications: hypersensitivity to opioid agonists or to any component of the formulation; acute respiratory depression; acute asthma; paralytic ileus; concomitant use with, or use within 14 days after ending, monoamine oxidase inhibitors; raised intracranial pressure and/or head injury, if ventilation not controlled; coma.

Precautions: impaired respiratory function; avoid rapid injection which may precipitate chest wall rigidity and difficulty with ventilation; history of cardiac conduction abnormalities; family history of sudden death (electrocardiograph [ECG] monitoring recommended); QT interval prolongation; asthma; hypotension; shock; obstructive or inflammatory bowel disorders; biliary tract disease; convulsive disorders; hypothyroidism; adrenocortical insufficiency; avoid abrupt withdrawal after prolonged treatment; diabetes mellitus; impaired consciousness; acute pancreatitis; myasthenia gravis; hepatic impairment; renal impairment; toxic psychosis.

Skilled tasks: warn the patient about the risk of undertaking tasks requiring attention or coordination, e.g. operating heavy machinery.

Dosage: In general, methadone should be reserved for patients who fail to respond well to morphine or another strong opioid. See **Table 1** and referenced documents for details on switching from other opioids to methadone (3). However, the following doses can be used for initiating methadone therapy in an opioid-naïve patient when necessary:

- 2.5 mg (1–2 mg in older persons) PO q8h regularly and q6h p.r.n.
- if necessary, titrate the regular dose upwards once a week, guided by p.r.n. use.

Renal impairment: severe (GFR <10 mL/min or serum creatinine >700 micromol/L) - reduce dose by 50% and titrate according to response; significant accumulation is not likely in renal failure, as elimination is primarily via the liver.

Hepatic impairment: avoid or reduce dose; may precipitate coma.

Adverse effects:

- common nausea, vomiting, constipation, dry mouth, biliary spasm, respiratory depression, drowsiness, muscle rigidity, hypotension, bradycardia, tachycardia, palpitation, oedema, postural hypotension, hallucinations, vertigo, euphoria, dysphoria, dependence, confusion, urinary retention, ureteric spasm;
- uncommon restlessness, dyspnoea, hypoventilation, depersonalization, dysarthria, amnesia, incoordination, paraesthesia, malaise, agitation, tremor, muscle weakness, hypertension, dizziness, itching, bronchospasm, dysmenorrhoea, dry eyes, hyperprolactinaemia; and
- rare QT interval prolongation, torsades de pointes, hypothermia, circulatory depression, cardiac arrest, hiccups, arrhythmia, paralytic ileus, haemoptysis, psychosis, seizures, shock, asystole, pyrexia, ataxia, muscle fasciculation, raised intracranial pressure.

Interactions with other medicines:

- abacavir plasma concentration of methadone possibly reduced;
- amiodarone may result in an increased risk of QT interval prolongation;
- atomoxetine increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias;
- carbamazepine plasma concentration of methadone reduced;

- central nervous system depressants additive or potentiating effects with methadone;
- efavirenz plasma concentration of methadone reduced;
- fluvoxamine plasma concentration of methadone possibly increased;
- fosamprenavir plasma concentration of methadone reduced;
- medicines that prolong the QT interval may result in an increased risk of QT interval prolongation;
- monoamine oxidase inhibitors* severe and unpredictable potentiation of opioids;
- naloxone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- naltrexone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- nelfinavir plasma concentration of methadone reduced;
- nevirapine plasma concentration of methadone possibly reduced;
- opioid antagonists/partial agonists may precipitate opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- phenobarbital plasma concentration of methadone reduced;
- phenytoin metabolism of methadone accelerated by phenytoin resulting in reduced effect and risk of withdrawal symptoms;
- quinine may result in an increased risk of QT interval prolongation;
- rifampicin metabolism of methadone accelerated;
- ritonavir plasma concentration of methadone reduced;
- voriconazole plasma concentration of methadone increased; and
- zidovudine methadone possibly increases zidovudine concentration.
- * Indicates severe.

7. MORPHINE

Injection: 10 mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule Oral liquid: 10 mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate)/5 mL Tablet: 10 mg (morphine sulfate)

Tablet (prolonged-release): 10 mg; 30 mg; 60 mg (morphine sulfate)

Medication subject to international control under the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961.

Uses: moderate and severe pain (acute and chronic); myocardial infarction, acute pulmonary oedema; adjunct during major surgery and postoperative analgesia.

Contraindications: avoid in acute respiratory depression, acute alcoholism and where risk of paralytic ileus; also avoid in raised intracranial pressure or head injury (affects pupillary responses vital for neurological assessment); avoid injection in phaeochromocytoma.

Precautions: renal impairment and hepatic impairment; reduce dose or avoid in older and debilitated patients; hypothyroidism; convulsive disorders; decreased respiratory reserve and acute asthma; hypotension; prostatic hypertrophy, pregnancy and breastfeeding. Severe withdrawal symptoms can develop if withdrawn abruptly.

Dose:

Acute pain, by subcutaneous injection (not suitable for oedematous patients), by intramuscular injection, or by intravenous injection: ADULT, 2–10 mg every 4 hours if necessary.

Chronic pain, by mouth (immediate-release tablets) or by subcutaneous injection (not suitable for oedematous patients) or by intravenous injection, ADULT, 2–20 mg regularly every 4 hours; dose may be increased according to need; oral dose should be approximately double the corresponding injected dose; by mouth (sustained-release tablets), titrate dose first using immediate-release preparation, then every 12 hours according to daily morphine requirement.

Myocardial infarction, by slow intravenous injection (2 mg/minute), ADULT, 5–10 mg followed by a further 5–10 mg if necessary; older or debilitated patients, reduce dose by half.

Acute pulmonary oedema, by slow intravenous injection (2 mg/minute), ADULT, 5-10 mg.

NOTE: The doses stated above refer equally to morphine sulfate and morphine hydrochloride. Sustained-release capsules designed for once-daily administration are also available [not included on the 15th World Health Organization (WHO) *Model list of essential medicines*; consult manufacturer's literature. Dosage requirements should be reviewed if the brand of controlled-release preparation is altered.

PATIENT ADVICE. Sustained-release tablets should be taken at regular intervals and not on an as-needed basis for episodic or breakthrough pain. Sustained-release tablets should not be crushed.

Adverse effects: nausea, vomiting (particularly in initial stages), constipation; drowsiness; also dry mouth, anorexia, spasm of urinary and biliary tract; bradycardia, tachycardia, palpitation, euphoria, decreased libido, rash, urticaria, pruritus, sweating, headache, facial flushing, vertigo, postural hypotension, hypothermia, hallucinations, confusion, dependence, miosis; larger doses produce respiratory depression, hypotension, and muscle rigidity.

8. NALOXONE

Injection: 0.4 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule

Indications: opioid overdose.

Contraindications: no contraindications to the use of naloxone for treatment of severe or life-threatening opioid toxicity such as respiratory depression.

Precautions: Cautious dosing is needed to avoid severe withdrawal syndrome after prolonged administration of opioids and in opioid-tolerant patients; cardiovascular disease; post-operative patients (may reverse analgesia and increase blood pressure).

Dosage:

- 0.08-0.12 mg IV every 2-3 minutes until the patient is breathing adequately
- After initial response, the intravenous dose may need to be repeated every 20-60 minutes because of the short duration of action
- For continuous intravenous infusion, dilute to a concentration of 4 mcg/mL with glucose 5% or sodium chloride 0.9%

Renal impairment: excretion of some opioids and/or their active metabolites (codeine, dextropropoxyphene, dihydrocodeine, morphine, pethidine, oxycodone) is delayed in impairment so these opioids will accumulate; extended treatment with naloxone infusion may be required to reverse opioid effect.

Hepatic impairment: no dose adjustment necessary.

Adverse effects:

- common nausea, vomiting, sweating
- uncommon tachycardia, ventricular arrhythmias
- rare cardiac arrest.

Interactions with other medicines: there are no known interactions where it is advised to avoid concomitant use.

9. OXYCODONE

Tablet: 5 mg, 10 mg, 15 mg, 20 mg, 30 mg (as hydrochloride)

Tablet (modified-release): 5 mg, 10 mg, 15 mg, 20 mg, 30 mg, 40 mg, 60 mg, 80 mg, 160 mg (as hydrochloride)

Capsule: 5 mg, 10 mg, 20 mg (as hydrochloride)

Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride)

Concentrated oral liquid: 10 mg/mL, 20 mg/mL (as hydrochloride)

Indications: moderate-to-severe persisting pain.

Contraindications: hypersensitivity to opioid agonists or to any component of the formulation; acute respiratory depression; acute asthma; paralytic ileus; concomitant use with, or use within 14 days after ending, monoamine oxidase inhibitors; raised intracranial pressure and/or head injury, if ventilation not controlled; coma.

Precautions: impaired respiratory function; avoid rapid injection which may precipitate chest wall rigidity and difficulty with ventilation; bradycardia; asthma; hypotension; shock; obstructive or inflammatory bowel disorders; biliary tract disease; convulsive disorders; hypothyroidism; adrenocortical insufficiency; avoid abrupt withdrawal after prolonged treatment; diabetes mellitus; impaired consciousness; acute pancreatitis; myasthenia gravis; hepatic impairment; renal impairment; toxic psychosis.

Skilled tasks: warn the patient or caregiver about the risk of undertaking tasks requiring attention or coordination, e.g. operating heavy machinery.

Dosage for opioid-naïve patients:

- Immediate-release formulation: 2.5–5 mg PO q4h as needed; and
- For constant or frequently recurring pain, can use modified-release (sustained-release): 10 mg PO q12h, and add immediate release 2.5–5 mg PO q4h as needed for breakthrough pain.

Renal impairment: mild (GRF 20-50 mL/min or approximate serum creatinine 150-300 micromol/L) to severe (GFR <10mL/min or serum creatinine >700 micromol/L) - dose reduction may be required; start with lowest dose and titrate according to response.

Hepatic impairment: moderate and severe; reduce dose by 50% or avoid use.

Adverse effects:

- common nausea, vomiting, constipation, diarrhoea, dry mouth, sedation, biliary spasm, abdominal pain, anorexia, dyspepsia, pruritus, somnolence, dizziness;
- less common muscle rigidity, hypotension, respiratory depression, bronchospasm, dyspnoea, impaired cough reflex, asthenia, anxiety, chills, muscle fasciculation, postural hypotension, hallucinations, vertigo, euphoria, dysphoria, dizziness, confusion;
- uncommon bradycardia, tachycardia, palpitation, oedema, mood changes, dependence, drowsiness, sleep disturbances, headache, miosis, visual disturbances, sweating, flushing, rash, urticaria, restlessness, difficulty with micturition, urinary retention, ureteric spasm, gastritis, flatulence, dysphagia, taste disturbance, belching, hiccups, vasodilation, supraventricular tachycardia, syncope, amnesia, hypoesthesia, pyrexia, amenorrhoea, hypotonia, paraesthesia, disorientation, malaise, agitation, speech disorder, tremor, dry skin;

 rare - raised intracranial pressure, circulatory depression, cardiac arrest, respiratory arrest, shock, paralytic ileus, seizures.

Interactions with other medicines:

- central nervous system depressants additive or potentiating effects with oxycodone;
- monoamine oxidase inhibitors* severe and unpredictable potentiation of opioids;
- naloxone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms;
- naltrexone* precipitates opioid withdrawal symptoms; and
- opioid antagonists/partial agonists* may precipitate opioid withdrawal symptoms.
- * Indicates severe.

10. PARACETAMOL

Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL

Suppository: 100 mg

Tablet: 100-500 mg

Injection (for IV infusion): 10 mg/mL

Uses: mild-to-moderate pain, including dysmenorrhoea and headache; pain relief in osteoarthritis and soft tissue lesions; pyrexia including postimmunization pyrexia; acute migraine attack.

Precautions: hepatic impairment; renal impairment; alcohol dependence; breastfeeding. Unintentional overdose of paracetamol resulting in hepatotoxicity and death can occur. To reduce this risk, the dose of paracetamol should not exceed the maximum recommended dose, should be appropriate for the weight of the patient, and should be reduced when risk factors for hepatotoxicity exist.

Dose:

Mild-to-moderate pain, pyrexia, by mouth or by rectum, ADULT, 0.5–1 g every 4–6 hours, maximum 4 g daily.

IV paracetamol can be used when administration Per Oral or Per Rectal is not possible. The dose depends on body weight and the presence/absence of risk factors for paracetamol hepatotoxicity:

- >50 kg, 1 g up to q4h, maximum recommended dose 4 g/24h
- >50 kg plus any risk factors, restrict maximum dose to 3 g/24h
- 10–50 kg, 15 mg/kg up to q4h, maximum recommended dose 60 mg/kg/24h.

For patients with severe renal impairment, (creatinine clearance <30 mL/min) the minimum interval must be \geq q6h.

Adverse effects: rare but rash and blood disorders reported; important: liver damage (and less frequently renal damage) following overdosage.

II. TYPICAL STARTING DOSES

Typical starting doses of pain medicines are provided in **Table A6.1**. Like the pain assessment tables and the analgesic ladder provided in **Annex 1**, these are tools that may be useful in clinical care. However, safe and effective cancer pain treatment requires careful assessment of each individual patient's pain and individualized therapeutic planning.

Table A6.1. Typical starting doses of selected medicines for chronic cancer pain in adults with no kidney or liver disease

MEDICINE	TYPICAL STARTING DOSE	NOTES
Paracematol	500–1000 mg orally every 6 hours	Maximum dose 1000 mg orally every 6 hours.
Ibuprofen	400–800 mg orally every 8 hours	Take with food and consider adding proton pump inhibitor to reduce gastrointestinal toxicity. Avoid in patients with bleeding risk or thrombocytopenia. Maximum dose 800 mg orally every 8 hours.
Morphine	5 mg orally every 4 hours 2 mg IV/SC every 4 hours	No maximum dose.
Fentanyl	12–25 mcg/hr transdermal patch every 72 hours	Do not use in patients with severe cachexia, fevers or frequent sweating. No maximum dose.
Amitriptyline	10–25 mg orally at bedtime	Anticholinergic side-effects including orthostatic hypotension, sedation, confusion, tachycardia, constipation, dry mouth.
		Maximum dose 100 mg orally at bedtime where blood levels cannot be checked.

Source: Adapted from Cherny et al. 2015 (30).

III. OPIOID CONVERSION TABLES

NOTE: Adapted with permission from Twycross et al. 2017 (3).

The ability judiciously, safely and effectively to change a patient's pain treatment from one opioid to another can be of great clinical importance. For instance, this skill can help to prevent or minimize opioid toxicity, other adverse effects or drug interactions, while maintaining or improving analgesia. However, no randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of opioid switching have been conducted, and existing conversion tables are based on generally weak evidence from retrospective or observational studies (8). Conversion ratios can never be more than an approximate guide for several reasons (9,10):

- wide inter-individual variation in opioid pharmacokinetics;
- clinical factors such as age, haemodynamic stability, renal and hepatic function, nutritional status and concurrent medications;
- other variables, including dose and duration of opioid treatment and direction of switch in opioid; and
- their method of derivation (e.g. single dose rather than chronic dose studies using a range of clinical doses).

Thus, careful clinical monitoring during conversion is necessary to avoid under-dosing, excessive dosing and adverse effects, especially when switching at high doses, when rapidly increasing the dose of the first opioid, and when switching to methadone. However, conversion tables can and should inform clinical judgement about switching opioids and can help clinicians to avoid gross miscalculations. We provide here two examples of opioid equi-analgesic conversion tables (**A6.2** and **A6.3**) that are adapted from a leading publication on this topic (3). They are presented merely as examples and should not be construed as recommended by WHO. A dose reduction of around 50% of the calculated equivalent dose of the new opioid is prudent when switching at high doses (e.g. morphine or equivalent doses of $\geq 1 g/24h$), in elderly or frail patients, because of intolerable undesirable effects (e.g. delirium), or when there has been a recent rapid escalation of the first opioid (possibly due to opioid-induced hyperalgesia). In such circumstances, "as needed" doses can be relied on to make up any deficit while re-titrating to a satisfactory dose of the new opioid.

ANALGESIC	POTENCY RELATIVE TO MORPHINE	DURATION OF ACTION (HOURS) ⁶	
Codeine	1/10	3-6	
Dihydrocodeine			
Pethidine	1/8	2-4	
Tapentadol	1/3	4-6	
Hydrocodone (not United Kingdom)	2/3	4-8	
Oxycodone	1.5 (2)°	3-4	
Methadone	5-10 ^d	8–12	
Hydromorphone	4–5 (5–7.5) ^d	4-5	
Buprenorphine (SL)	80	6-8	
Buprenorphine (TD)	100 (75–115) [.]	Formulation dependent (72–168)	
Fentanyl (TD)	100 (150)°	72	

Table A6.2. Approximate potency of opioids relative to morphine; PO and immediate-release formulations unless stated otherwise^a

Source: Adapted with permission from Twycross et al. 2017:371 (Table 4) (3).

- Multiply dose of opioid in the first column by relative potency in the second column to determine the equivalent dose of morphine sulfate/hydrochloride; conversely, divide morphine dose by the relative potency to determine the equivalent dose of another opioid.
- ^b Dependent in part on severity of pain and on dose; often longer-lasting in very elderly and those with renal impairment.
- ° The numbers in parenthesis are the manufacturers' preferred relative potencies.
- ^d A single 5 mg dose of methadone is equivalent to morphine 7.5 mg, but a variable long plasma halflife and broad-spectrum receptor affinity result in a much higher-than-expected relative potency when administered regularly – sometimes much higher than the range given above. Therefore, guidance from a specialist is recommended for conversions to regularly administered methadone.

CONVERSION	RATIO	CALCULATION	EXAMPLE
Hydromorphone to hydromorphone	3:1ª	Divide 24h hydromorphone dose by 3	Hydromorphone 32 mg/24h PO → hydromorphone 10 mg/24h SC/IV
Methadone to methadone	2:1⁵	Divide 24h methadone dose by 2	Methadone 30 mg/24h PO → methadone 15 mg/24h SC/IV
Morphine to fentanyl	Variable ^{c,d}	Divide 24h morphine dose in mg by 100–150	Morphine 60 mg/24h PO → fentanyl 400 mcg/24h SC/IV
Morphine to hydromorphone	10:1	Divide 24h morphine dose by 10	Morphine 60 mg/24h PO → hydromorphone 6 mg/24h SC/IV
Morphine to morphine	2:1	Divide 24h morphine dose by 2	Morphine 60 mg/24h PO → morphine 30 mg/24h SC/IV

Table A6.3. Recommended dose conversion ratios; PO to SC/IV

Source: Adapted with permission from Twycross et al. 2017:861 (Table 3) (3).

- * Manufacturer's recommendation. Because mean oral bio-availability is 50% (range 35-60%), some centres use a conversion ratio of 2:1 rather than 3:1.
- ^b Because mean oral bio-availability is 80% (range 40–100%), some centres use 1:1, e.g. methadone 30 mg/24h PO → methadone 30 mg/24h SC/IV.
- $^\circ~$ The same conversion ratios as for morphine PO to fentanyl TD can be used for morphine PO to fentanyl SC/IV.
- ^d Volume constraints for a syringe driver may prevent doses >500 mcg/24h being used.

Table A6.4. Comparative doses of PO morphine and TD fentanyl (based on dose
conversion ratio 100:1)

PO MORPHINE	SC/IV MORPHINE	TD FENTANYL	
mg/24h	mg/24h ^ª	mcg/h	mg/24h
30	15	12	0.3
60	30	25	0.6
90	45	37.5	0.9
120	60	50	1.2
180	90	75	1.8
240	120	100	2.4

Source: Adapted with permission from Twycross et al. 2017:417 (3).

^a The assumption is that morphine SC/IV is twice as potent as PO.

IV. OPIOID CESSATION

High-quality evidence for opioid tapering protocols is lacking. Opioid tapering should be individualized depending on the clinical situation. For patients who do not have a substance use disorder, **Table A6.5** provides a general strategy for opioid tapering when opioid therapy is no longer indicated (*10*).

CLINICAL SITUATION	TAPERING AND CESSATION STRATEGY	NOTES
Short-term use (less than 2 weeks)	 Taper needed only if residual pain persists. If the cause of pain has been fully treated, can discontinue opioid therapy immediately without tapering. 	Physical dependence highly unlikely.
Long-term use (more than 1 month)	 Taper by 10% per week. If symptoms or signs of opioid withdrawal occur (e.g. drug craving, anxiety, insomnia, abdominal pain, vomiting, diarrhoea, diaphoresis, mydriasis, tremor, tachycardia, or piloerection), increase to the previous highest dose and change taper to 10% every two weeks. Once the smallest available dose is reached, extend the interval between doses. Discontinue opioid when dosing interval reaches 24 hours without signs or symptoms of withdrawal. 	Some degree of physical dependence likely.
Use between 2 and 4 weeks	 Taper by 10-50% per week. If symptoms or signs of opioid withdrawal occur (e.g. drug craving, anxiety, insomnia, abdominal pain, vomiting, diarrhoea, diaphoresis, mydriasis, tremor, tachycardia, or piloerection), increase to the previous highest dose and reduce the percentage of each taper. Once the smallest available dose is reached, extend the interval between doses. Discontinue opioid when dosing interval reaches 24 hours without signs or symptoms of withdrawal. 	Physical dependence uncertain.
Long-term use and substance use disorder	 Consult specialist in opioid use disorders if possible. Consider treatment of opioid use disorder as part of tapering strategy. 	

Table A6.5. Strategies for cessation of opioid therapy in various clinical situations

Source: Adapted from Dowell 2016 (10).

REFERENCES

1. Findlay JWA, Jones EC, Butz RF, Welch RM. Plasma codeine and morphine concentrations after therapeutic oral doses of codeine-containing analgesics. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1978;24:60-8.

2. Persson K, Hammarlund-Udenaes M, Mortimer Ö, Rane A. The postoperative pharmacokinetics of codeine. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1992;42:663–6.

3. Twycross R, Wilcock A, Howard P. Palliative care formulary (PCF6), sixth edition. Nottingham: Palliativedrugs.com, 2017 (https://www.palliativedrugs.com/assets/pcf6/ Prelims_PCF6.pdf, accessed 3 October 2018).

4. USFDA briefing document: Joint Pulmonary-Allergy Drugs Advisory Committee and Drug Safety and Risk Management Advisory Committee Meeting. 10 December 2015. The safety of codeine in children 18 years of age and younger. Silver Spring (MD): United States Food and Drug Administration; 2015.

5. Anberbir Y. Ethiopia: Authority issues red alert on codeine drug. The Reporter (Addis Ababa), 21 November 2015 (http://allafrica.com/stories/201511241318.html, accessed 29 May 2018).

6. Bandieri E, Romero M, Ripamonti Cl, Artioli F, Sichetti D, Fanizza C et al. Randomized trial of low-dose morphine versus weak opioids in moderate cancer pain. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:436-42.

7. Caraceni A, Hanks G, Kaasa S, Bennett MI, Brunelli C, Cherny N et al. Use of opioid analgesics in the treatment of cancer pain: evidence-based recommendations from the EAPC. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:e58–68.

8. Mercadante S, Bruera E. Opioid switching in cancer pain: from the beginning to nowadays. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;99:241–8.

9. Dale O, Moksnes K, Kaasa S. European Palliative Care Research Collaborative pain guidelines: opioid switching to improve analgesia or reduce side effects. A systematic review. Palliat Med. 2010;25:494–503.

10. Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Roger Chou R. CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain — United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65:1–49.

ANNEX 7: NETWORK META-ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE COMPARING ANALGESICS FOR CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT INITIATION & MAINTENANCE AND FOR BREAKTHROUGH CANCER PAIN

Available online at: https://www.who.int/ncds/management/palliative-care/Cancer-pain-guidelines-Annex-7.pdf

ANNEX 8: GLOSSARY

Adjuvant: Medicines other than opioids, paracetamol or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) that may help to relieve pain alone or in combination with opioids, paracetamol or NSAIDs. Typically used for neuropathic pain refractory to opioids, paracetamol or NSAIDs or when opioid therapy is contraindicated.

Breakthrough pain: Transitory flare of pain despite pain treatment around-the-clock.

Clinical trial: An experiment performed on human beings in order to evaluate the comparative efficacy of two or more therapies.

Co-formulation (of analgesia): This is a packaged medicine which contains two or more analgesic drugs packaged together as a single medicine.

Immediate-release medicine: Medicine that has rapid onset of action and short duration of action.

Non-opioid: Substances that relieve pain without acting on opioid receptors (see Opioid).

Older persons: Persons older than 60 years.

Opioid: Substances derived from the opium poppy or synthesized that act on opioid receptors in the central or peripheral nervous system to produce pain relief.

- Weak opioid: opioid with weak pain relief effect.
- Strong opioid: opioid with strong pain relief effect.
- Opioid rotation: switching from one opioid medicine to another for a therapeutic purpose.

Rescue dose: An extra dose of pain medicine to treat breakthrough pain (see Breakthrough pain).

Slow-release medicine: Medicine that has a slow onset of action and long duration of action.

Trial of therapy: A clinical decision to provide a medicine or treatment of potential (but unproven) benefit to an individual patient to assess if there is a beneficial response.

WHO GUIDELINES FOR THE PHARMACOLOGICAL AND RADIOTHERAPEUTIC MANAGEMENT OF CANCER PAIN IN ADULTS AND ADOLESCENTS



20 Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland www.who.int/

